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Thirty-seventh Annual Report of the Retirement Benefits 
Fund Board for the year ended 30 June 2008

November 2008

Hon Michael Aird MLC  

Treasurer  

Parliament House  

HOBART 7000

Dear Treasurer

Pursuant to Regulation 19 of the regulations made under the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 (the Act), the Retirement Benefits Fund 

Board (the Board) is pleased to submit its report on the exercise of the RBF Board’s powers and functions under the Act for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2008.

The Annual Report incorporates a copy of the financial statements prepared by the RBF Board for the relevant period.

Yours sincerely

D F Egan 

PRESIDENT
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Report Purpose
The purpose of this report is to inform Members of 

Parliament about the administration and operations of the 

Retirement Benefits Fund for the period 1 July 2007 to  

30 June 2008. The report explains how the Retirement 

Benefits Fund Board (the Board) delivered superannuation 

benefits and services to members.

Compliance with Heads of  
Government Agreement

The Tasmanian Government is a signatory to a Heads of 

Government Agreement between the Commonwealth and 

all State Governments. This Agreement provides exemption 

for certain public sector schemes from the provisions of 

the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). 

However, the Agreement provides that Exempt Public 

Sector Superannuation Schemes must comply with the 

principles of SIS and are to be regarded as ‘complying funds’ 

for Commonwealth taxation purposes. The requirement (to 

comply with SIS) is also incorporated into the governing 

rules of the Retirement Benefits Fund. One of the RBF 

Board’s principal strategic objectives is to achieve exemplary 

corporate governance. Ongoing performance by RBF against 

all Board strategies is monitored via regular performance 

reporting to the Board and to the Minister.

The Board has implemented a comprehensive compliance 

program, part of which identifies the legislative requirements 

that must be adhered to by RBF, including SIS, and provides 

for a positive attestation to adherence and monitoring of 

actual adherence. In addition, the Board has implemented 

an ongoing internal audit program that is controlled by the 

Business Risk and Legal business unit under the direction 

of the Governance Committee of the Board. The reviews 

undertaken by Business Risk and Legal include review of RBF 

practices against both legislative requirements and industry 

best practice.

Each year, the Tasmanian Auditor-General undertakes a 

compliance audit of the Board’s activities consistent with the 

requirements of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 

1993. The RBF Board has provided the Tasmanian Auditor-

General with financial statements relating to its operations 

for the 2007–08 financial year in compliance with the 

requirements of the Heads of Government Agreement. 

The RBF Board is complying with its legal obligations in 

submitting this report.
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The Retirement Benefits 
Fund Board
The Board administers the Retirement Benefits Fund (the 

Fund) on behalf of members. The Board must comply with 

the relevant legislation and act in the best interests of 

the Fund, its members and the State. It fulfils its duties by 

developing valued relationships with members and other 

key stakeholders such as the State Government. The focus of 

the Board is high-level policy and strategy. For a matter to be 

approved by the Board it must be supported by two-thirds 

of the voting members at a meeting. The President may only 

exercise a casting vote in certain circumstances.

Duty of the RBF Board

The duty of the Board is to provide benefits on retirement for 

present and future members, their partners and dependants. 

This is achieved through receiving employer and member 

contributions and the prudent oversight of investments.  

The Board strives to ensure that its obligations to both the 

State Government and members are met efficiently and cost-

effectively, while complying with its fiduciary and statutory 

duties.

Statement of Corporate Intent

This Statement of Corporate Intent has been prepared pursuant 

to Regulation 18 of the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

The Statement represents a summary of the Board’s Corporate 

Plan for 2007–2011 prepared in accordance with Regulation 

16 of the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

Business Definition

The Board administers and manages superannuation 

schemes in accordance with the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, 

the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005, the Retirement 

Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 

2002, the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999, 

the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and any 

other applicable law of the State or the Commonwealth. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF) is an Exempt Public 

Sector Superannuation Scheme for the purposes of the 

Commonwealth’s Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 

1993, but complies with the spirit and intent of this Act.

The core business of the RBF Board is the provision of 

retirement and ancillary benefits for members and  

their partners. 

Some key facts about RBF as at 30 June 2008:

•	 	It	administers	a	superannuation	fund	for	some	36,806	

employees, 8,553 pensioners and 36,260 former 

employees.

•	 		It	has	a	full	range	of	superannuation	and	retirement	

products i.e. defined benefits scheme, accumulation 

scheme, life pensions, allocated pensions, member 

investment choice, death and disability cover, 

investment, spouse and preservation accounts.

•	 	It	invests	approximately	$3.41	billion	of	members’	

funds and, through its investment manager role, has 

a major influence over the State’s accrued unfunded 

superannuation liabilities.

•	 	It	employs	the	equivalent	of	158	full-time	staff,	located	in	

Hobart and Launceston.

RBF operates in a competitive ‘choice of fund’ environment 

but is limited in its activities to current and former public 

sector employees and their partners.    

Strategic Objectives

The strategic objectives of the Board within the 2007–11 

Corporate Plan are to:

•	 	achieve	consistent	investment	returns	to	optimise	

member benefits and reduce the State’s unfunded 

liability;

•	 	achieve	a	critical	mass	of	members	and	funds	under	

management;

•	 	achieve	exemplary	corporate	governance;

•	 	achieve	mature,	empowered,	beneficial	and	effective	

relationships with employers and unions;

•	 	implement	a	service-oriented	approach	in	meeting	the	

needs of our stakeholders;

•	 	receive	quality	services	from	our	suppliers	to	meet	the	

Board’s current and future business needs;

•	 	have	engaged	and	competent	staff	who	meet	 

business needs;

•	 	provide	informed	advice	to	stakeholders	on	

superannuation-related issues.
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Business Performance Targets

Key Performance Indicators

Key performance indicators are developed by the Board and linked to the five key result areas.  The actual performance of the 

Board against performance targets is reported to the Minister, and included in the Board’s Annual Report to Parliament.  

During the year, the RBF Corporate Plan 2007–11 provided guidance and structure for refining performance management for 

2007–08. The following table contains the key performance indicators developed for 2008–09 linked to the five key result Areas.  

Key Result Area Performance Indicator Performance Targets

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11

Our members •	 Growth	in	total	Funds	Under	Management:

	 •	 In	dollar	terms

	 •	 In	percentage	terms

$312	m
8.95%

$336	m
8.85%

$372	m
9.00%

•	 	Growth		in	Funds	Under	Management	of	discretionary	

products:

	 •	 In	dollar	terms

	 •	 In	percentage	terms

 

$231	m
17.27%

$257	m
16.40%

 

$286	m
15.66%

•	 Rate	of	members	actively	participating 32.0% 32.5% 33.0%

•	 Satisfaction	of	members TBA

•	 	Member	returns	(real	rate	of	return	for	Actively		

Managed option net of investment expenses and 

taxation over rolling three year periods)

4.0% pa 4.0% pa 4.0% pa

•	 Percentage	of	new	employees	who	join	RBF TBA

•	 Dispute	and	Statutory	Review	Resolution

	 •	 %	complaints	resolved	within	30	days

	 •	 	%	statutory	reviews	completed	within	90	days	of	

preliminary review

90% 

90%

90% 

90%

90% 

90%

•	 Percentage	of	retirees	who	remain	with	RBF TBA

Our people •	 Percentage	of	engagement TBA

Government •	 	Contributory	Scheme	returns	(real	rate	of	return	net	

of investment expenses and taxation over rolling five-

year periods)

4.5% pa 4.5% pa 4.5% pa

•	 	Percentage	of	Contributory	Scheme	administration	

expense to salary/pension payroll benchmarks

1.4% 1.4% 1.5%

•	 Management	Expense	Ratio 0.69% 0.65% 0.61%

Employers and 

Unions

•	 Survey	of	stakeholders TBA

Our suppliers •	 Percentage	contract	compliance 100% 100% 100%

•	 Number	of	contract	disputes	 Nil nil nil
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The following table reports on the performance of RBF during 2007–08 against the key performance indicators contained in 

the RBF Corporate Plan 2007–11.

Business Strategy  & performance indicator Performance

Funds Under Management

 Growth in total Funds Under Management ✘(1) achieved	$3.41	billion	against	a	target	of	
$3.78	billion

 Growth in Funds Under Management of discretionary products ✘(1) achieved	$1.27	billion	against	a	target	of	
$1.45	billion

 Rate of members actively participating ✓ achieved 31.4% in line with forecast

 Satisfaction of members ✓ target achieved: 82% satisfaction rating

 Member returns (rolling 3-year period) ✓ achieved 6.75% in line with forecast

 Percentage of new employees who join RBF ✓ 71.1% new employees join RBF

 Dispute and Statutory Review resolution – RBF internal targets not achieved

Industry compliance requirements 
exceeded

Our People

 Percentage of engagement – baseline survey completed

Government

 Contributory Scheme returns (rolling 5-year period) ✓ achieved 9.8% against a target of 7.6%

 Level of administration expense of the Contributory Scheme ✘(2) achieved 1.48% against a target of 1.3%

 Management Expense Ratio ✘(3) achieved 0.94% against a target of 0.83%

Employers and Unions

 Satisfaction of stakeholders ✓ target achieved

Our suppliers 

 Percentage contract compliance – objective is not yet monitored

	 Number	of	contract	disputes – objective is not yet monitored

Note 1:  Significant negative performance in investment markets around the world resulted in a slower than projected growth in 
Funds Under Management.

Note 2:  The higher than benchmark cost has resulted from three main areas:

  a.  the increased industry compliance and business application modifications required to implement the Commonwealth 
Government’s Better Super legislation;

  b.  a revision of accounting and depreciation standards for capital expenditure to reflect the changing nature of industry 
regulation; and

  c.  a significant re-investment programme required in systems and infrastructure to deliver contemporary business 
practices, prudent risk management and business integrity solutions.

    The capitalisation impacts of this re-investment programme will impact over a three year period, with the planned 
benefits of that programme achieving longer term industry cost trend objectives.

Note 3:  From January to April 2008, the Management Expense Ratio exceeded budget due to the effect of negative investment 
returns on Funds Under Management (FUM) for the period.  Average FUM January to April was budgeted at $3.634 billion 
but actual FUM averaged $3.443 billion and administration expenses remained close to budget.
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Committees

To assist in the efficient operation of the Fund, the Board 

has established two committees, which operate within the 

powers that have been formally delegated by the Board. 

These committees have the power to make decisions and 

recommendations to the Board on policy.

The Investment and Asset Allocation Committee’s 

objective is to make a positive contribution to the 

investment returns of the Fund through timely and 

appropriate investment strategy development and asset 

class diversification.

The objective of the Governance Committee (formerly 

known as the Communication, Infrastructure and 

Governance Committee) is to ensure that corporate 

objectives, strategy, business operations and activities 

are monitored, reviewed, controlled and assessed. The 

committee thereby ensures that the activities of the Board 

are carried out in accordance with corporate objectives, 

strategies and practices and pertinent laws and regulations.

The constitution of the committees as at June 2008 was  

as follows.

Investment 

& Asset 

Allocation 

Committee

Governance 

Committee

Chairperson D Egan D Egan

Voting Members N	Ellis

K Besharati

L Jones

A Schiwy

J Wilcox

Non-Voting Executive 

Member

Chief  

Executive  

Officer

Chief 

Executive 

Officer

Board conflict of interest policy

The Board has implemented guidelines to allow Board 

Members to deal with a conflict of interest.

The guidelines require a Board Member to classify a conflict 

of interest as minor or major. Classification is based on 

whether the member’s decision will actually be affected by 

the conflict and on how the situation would appear to a 

reasonable independent person.

If the conflict is minor, the Board Member will decide 

whether to participate in any discussion and/or participate in 

any vote. If the conflict is major, the Board Member will not 

participate in any discussion or participate in any vote, and 

may leave the Board meeting for the duration of the matter.

Board Members are required to disclose any conflict of 

interest. This disclosure, and any subsequent action taken, is 

recorded in the meeting minutes.
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Board Members
The Governor appoints the members of the Board. The 

Board is the Trustee of the Fund. The names of the board 

members who held office during the year are as follows. Kim 

Backhouse resigned from the Board effective 12 May 2008. 

Damian Egan 

President of the Board (non-voting)

Nominee	of	the	Minister,	with	the	

agreement of the Tasmanian Trades 

and Labor Council (now operating as 

Unions Tasmania)

Current Term: 4/9/2006 – 3/9/2009

Board Member since 1995 and President since 1996

Chairman of the Governance Committee and the Investment 

and Asset Allocation Committee

Mr Egan is a partner in the legal firm of Murdoch Clarke, 

a member of the Federal Government Corporations and 

Markets Advisory Legal Committee, Board member of the 

Hobart City Mission Inc and several private companies.

Andrea Schiwy

Deputy President of the Board

Nominee	of	the	Minister

Current Term: 1/7/2007 – 30/6/2010

Member of the Investment and  

Asset Allocation Committee to  

30 January 2008

Current Member of the Governance Committee

Ms Schiwy is a member of the Social Security Appeals 

Tribunal,	Nursing	Board	Tribunal	and	Legal	Profession	

Disciplinary Tribunal.

John Wilcox

Nominee	of	the	Minister

Current Term: 1/10/2006 – 30/9/2009

Member of the Governance 

Committee

Mr Wilcox is a semi-retired  

Chartered Accountant.

Kim Besharati

Nominee	of	the	Minister

Current Term: 4/9/2006 – 3/9/2009

Member of the Investment and Asset 

Allocation Committee

Ms Besharati is a Principal Policy 

Analyst in the Intergovernment and 

Financial Policy Branch within the Department of Treasury 

and Finance.

Lindsay Jones

Nominee	of	the	Tasmanian	Trades	and	

Labor Council (now operating  

as Unions Tasmania)

Current Term: 1/7/2007 – 30/6/2010

Member of the Governance 

Committee to 30 January 2008

Current Member of the Investment and Asset Allocation 

Committee

Mr Jones is the Tasmanian Branch President of the  

CPSU (SPSFT) and is semi-retired. 

Neroli Ellis 

Elected by members of the RBF 

Contributory Scheme

Current Term: 1/7/2007 – 30/6/2010

Member of the Investment and Asset 

Allocation Committee

Ms Ellis is the Branch Secretary of the 

Tasmanian	branch	of	the	Australian	Nursing	Federation.

Simon Gillies

Chief Executive Officer

As Chief Executive Officer, Mr Gillies 

has statutory responsibility for the 

general management of the RBF 

Board’s investment and administration 

operations. He attends all Board 

meetings and is an executive member 

of the Board’s Committees. Simon has been Chief Executive 

Officer since 28 July 2005.
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Liability risk management

The Board purchased insurance to indemnify Board Members for the 2007–08 financial year. 

Board Protocol

The Board has reviewed and updated their protocol to ensure contemporary practices are embedded into the corporate 

governance practices of the Board.

Board members’ attendance at Board meetings

1 July 2007 – 30 June 2008

Board/Committee

Ordinary 

Board 

Meetings

Special Board 

Meetings

Governance 

Committee 

Meetings

Investment 

& Asset 

Allocation 

Committee 

Meetings

Special 

Investment 

& Asset 

Allocation 

Committee 

Meetings

Total meetings held during 2007–08 12 5 7 12 2

Member attendance at meetings

Mr D Egan 10 5 7 10 1

Ms A Schiwy1 11 5 3 82 2

Ms K Backhouse3 5 3 3 ^ ^

Ms K Besharati 11 4 ^ 10 2

Ms	N	Ellis 10 3 14 10 2

Mr L Jones5 12 5 56 107 ^

Mr J Wilcox 12 4 7 ^ ^

Mr S Gillies 12 5 6 11 2

Notes:

1.  Ms A Schiwy was a member of the Investment & Asset Allocation Committee until 30 January 2008 and is now a member of the 
Governance Committee

2.  Ms A Schiwy attended one of these meetings as a non-member

3.  Ms K Backhouse resigned as a Board Member on 26 March 2008 and her resignation was effective on 12 May 2008 following 
acceptance by the Governor

4. Ms N Ellis attended this meeting as a non-member

5.  Mr L Jones was a member of the Governance Committee until 30 January 2008 and is now a member of the Investment & Asset 
Allocation Committee

6.  Mr L Jones attended one of these meetings as a non-member

7.  Mr L Jones attended five of these meetings as a non-member

^     Not a member
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Highlights
Increased services

During 2007–08, the Board agreed to increased resources 

and boost direct services for members. This included 

increases in the number of staff for both RBF services as well 

as RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, RBF’s financial planning service. 

We are now able to provide mobile services for members, 

with staff regularly travelling to remote areas. Members who 

could not access RBF’s Launceston or Hobart offices can now 

attend workplace seminars and meet with RBF staff to plan 

their retirement or simply take better control of their super.

The Launceston office now has 11 staff including 3 financial 

planning staff sharing the office. Hobart office answers the 

most member enquiries and has 22 staff, 8 of which provide 

financial planning services.

Planning to succeed

The Board and management team have developed a 

new five-year Strategic Plan to ensure that RBF meets the 

needs of its members and stakeholders. The Plan has an 

emphasis on improving service value, encouraging business 

growth and improving cost outcomes so that we remain 

competitive.

RBF will further bolster services to members and relationship 

management with employers.

Fully implemented, the Strategic Plan will ensure all 

stakeholders are provided with competitive superannuation 

services.

The Plan supports RBF’s vision to be the leading provider of 

superannuation services to the Tasmanian Public Sector.

Good report for the environment

Many members will be pleased that RBF’s Member Report 

will be provided online for the first time instead of mailing 

a report to each member. Members can request a printed 

copy if they are not web users or would prefer to receive a 

printed copy.

The Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) 

announced in June 2008 that super funds could provide 

their Member Report online provided certain conditions 

were met. These conditions centred on the need to provide 

medium to long-term investment performance information 

to members with their annual membership statements. 

Changes will also be required to RBF’s governing legislation 

and Trust Deeds.

Gateway to Tasmania

The Tasmanian Gateway Consortium purchased the Hobart 

International	Airport	for	$350.5	million	in	January	2008.	RBF	

is a significant investor in the Consortium led by Macquarie 

Group and is proud to be associated with the leading global 

airport infrastructure investor and asset manager. 

This strategic investment aligns with RBF’s investment 

philosophy of securing exposure to quality assets in the best 

interest of our members. As a co-investor in the Consortium, 

RBF has taken a non-controlling indirect interest in the asset.

The Hobart International Airport is Tasmania’s principal 

airport and serves as a major gateway for tourist and 

business visitors to our State. The airport is located on a  

570 hectare site and carries 1.7 million passengers a year.

RBF is proud to support such a significant investment in 

Tasmania and has great confidence in Tasmania’s economy 

and in future tourism growth. What better way to support 

investment in Tasmania than to invest in the gateway 

to Hobart!
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RBF invests in Tasmania’s future...

The Board has a continuing commitment to investing in 

Tasmania and Tasmanian business, wherever possible, and 

looks for new opportunities that would provide good returns 

for members.

As at 30 June 2008, the Board’s investments in Tasmania 

represented nearly 10% of total investments and included:

•	 	the	Myer	Centre	in	Hobart;	

•	 	multi-level	office	building	at	21	Kirksway	Place	Hobart;	

•	 	the	Stoney	Rise	government	office	building	in	

Devonport; 

•	 	over	$160	million	in	first	mortgages;	

•	 	shares	in	First	Tasmania	Investments	Ltd,	a	company	

designed to assist and invest in small business in 

Tasmania; and 

•	 	shares	in	Tasmanian	Gateway	Holding	Limited,	the	

company which owns Hobart Airport. 

Following the fire in September 2007 which destroyed 

approximately 50% of the Myer store, the Board is continuing 

to explore options with Myer regarding a replacement store.

Super is now simpler

When the Australian government outlined its Plan to Simplify 

and Streamline Superannuation in the May 2006 Federal 

Budget superannuation became much simpler for many 

members. However, behind the scenes we were required to 

undertake a major project to ensure our systems were able 

to administer benefits under the new rules.

For most members, we were able to process benefits 

under the new regime with minimal delays. Unfortunately, 

payments to some members were delayed while we waited 

for clarification from the Australian Government on how 

parts of the new legislation were to be interpreted. 

A high level of commitment by RBF staff ensured that the 

backlog caused by these delays was dealt with quickly and 

normal processing times restored within a short period of time. 

The enormous task commenced in 2006–07 with significant 

work undertaken during that year. Final changes to systems 

and procedures were implemented during 2007–08.

Right information at the right time

SuperNews is an e-bulletin available to members who register 

on the RBF website. Published every two months, members 

who receive the newsletter were able to stay up-to-date  

with their super as the world’s economy changed throughout 

the year.

During the early part of 2008 when we started to experience 

high share market volatility, we were able to provide timely 

messages to help members understand the situation. “Best 

edition yet!” said one member in response to articles about 

being an informed investor.

Members can view past editions of the newsletter on the RBF 

website or register and subscribe to receive each issue by 

email every two months. 

RBF On-line

If members need a form or want more information about 

their RBF super, the RBF website can help. Members can print 

the form they need, catch up on the latest news in super or 

find detailed information about each of RBF’s schemes and 

how to improve their super. 

Members can register on the RBF website and view their 

account details, manage their investment choice and keep 

RBF informed of any changes to their personal details.

We also provide copies of Membership Statements online. 

When statements are mailed to members, they are also 

loaded onto the member login area of the website.

14,188 members are already registered on the RBF website. 

To register, members need to quote their email address, 

member number and date of birth.
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RBF Organisational Structure
The chart below illustrates the organisational structure at 30 June 2008.

Stakeholder 
Services

Leigh Roberts

Strategy & Member 
Services 

Ross MacKenzie

Technology & 
Business Services

Ken Webster

Chief Executive Officer
Simon Gillies

Business Process & 
Analysis

Allan Davey

Member 
Administration

Dean Ambroz

Investments

Business Risk & Legal

Board

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) has statutory responsibility 

for managing the RBF administration and implementing 

the strategic framework as determined by the Board. The 

CEO has responsibility for working closely with the Board to 

develop and implement strategies, policies and decisions 

in order to meet key challenges. The CEO is Secretary to 

the Board, attends all Board meetings, but is not a voting 

member. The CEO reports to the Board through the President 

and heads an Executive Management Team (EMT).

The CEO is responsible for the management of the Board’s 

operations at a strategic level. The role comprises a number 

of key activities which are broadly categorised as follows:

•	 Executive	and	corporate	management

•	 Fund	administration

•	 Funds	management	and	investment.	

The CEO is also an executive member of:

•	 the	Investment	and	Asset	Allocation	Committee

•	 the	Governance	Committee.

The primary functions of the CEO are outlined in the 

Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005. These include:

•	 Fund	administration: 

 –    acting as the Board’s delegate in administering the 

Retirement Benefits Act 1993

 –  management of the organisation

 –  directing research and development activities

•	 Leadership:

 –   developing corporate strategies and  

business plans

 –    liaising with key stakeholders and the 

superannuation industry

 –  developing products and services

•	 Funds	management	and	investments:

 –   contract supervision with respect to investment 

managers and asset consultants

 –   acting as the Board’s delegate in cash-flow 

management and investments

 –   supervising the integration of RBF’s financial, 

taxation, investment and liability management 

activities.

Executive management of business units

The CEO provides management of Investments and Business 

Risk and Legal business units.

An Executive Manager heads up each of the five remaining 

business units. The five business units are:

•	 Strategy	and	Member	Services

•	 Member	Administration

•	 Stakeholder	Services

•	 Business	Process	and	Analysis

•	 Technology	and	Business	Services.
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RBF Administration

Strategy and Member Services

The role of the Strategy section is to support the corporate 

strategic planning process within RBF.  The Strategic Planning 

Process was established in order to deliver a 5 year strategic 

plan and was led by the Business Strategy Analyst, with 

significant involvement of the Executive Management Team 

(EMT) and the RBF Board.  

Member Services aims to provide customised, professional 

services that help members plan and manage their wealth 

creation and retirement.  The continuing focus is to educate 

and support members with their retirement savings 

planning as well as other related services such as Member 

Investment Choice and risk protection. 

Services are primarily delivered through personal contact 

with members by personal appointment, over the telephone 

or by visiting workplaces to conduct seminars. Significant 

effort is also put into providing written benefit estimates and 

answering member queries by correspondence. Those staff 

of Member Services who are Authorised Representatives 

of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, a financial planning company 

owned by RBF, are able to provide financial advice to RBF 

members.

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Strategy Support the corporate strategic planning process within RBF.

Member Options 

and Entitlements

Educate and support members by providing benefit estimates and product information through 

correspondence, telephone contact, personal appointments and seminars.

Financial Services As Authorised Representatives of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, provide advice to members and ongoing 

support through personal appointments and educational seminars.

Reception Provide office reception and telephone answering services.

Support Provide support services to Member Services staff such as process improvement, knowledge 

management and training, performance measurement and general administrative support.

During the year Member Services provided the following 

services for members:

Personal interviews:     4,840

Telephone queries:     40,200

Counter enquiries:    2,016

Seminars:                          66

Member Inductions:     36

Correspondence:    5,380

Statements of Advice:    320 

The main focus for Member Services during 2007–08  

has been:

•	 	Further	strengthening	of	our	service	capability	in	the	

north and north-west.

•	 	Introduction	of	a	superannuation	consultant	dedicated	

to seminar and personal appointment services across 

the State, especially in remote regional areas.

•	 	Re-design	of	the	staff	induction	training	course	to	

better prepare new staff to their role of supporting 

members.

•	 	Introduction	of	a	continuing	education	program	for	

our superannuation consultants designed to ensure 

that their knowledge is kept up-to-date and relevant to 

member needs.

•	 	Further	refinement	to	our	internal	processes	to	improve	

service delivery outcomes for members.
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Member Administration

The Member Administration business unit manages all member transactions from admission, through account maintenance to 

the payment of benefits and pensions.  

The business functions and their descriptions are as follows:

Business function Description

Mail processing Collate, scan and index incoming mail into our automated workflow system including initial 
data entry.  Preparation of all outgoing mail, updating member’s electronic files with copies 
of all correspondence

Account detail 

administration 

Admit members, accept and allocate non-payroll member contributions, update member 
personal details, death and invalidity cover and employment status (leave without pay, 
transfers etc).  Administer Member Investment Choice, Family Law matters, Government 
superannuation co-contributions and respond to general account queries.

Account maintenance Perform data integrity investigations including account reconstructions, claims of lost rights, 
secondments and workers compensation.

General support services Conduct employer education and provide employer support, administer Australian Taxation 
Office reporting and processing functions as well as prepare and distribute Membership 
Statements.

Early release processing Administer applications for the release of funds (before retirement age) due to ill health 
(permanent or temporary invalidity), death, financial hardship or compassionate grounds.

Benefit payments Calculate and pay benefits for members who have retired, resigned or otherwise ceased 
their employment.  Administer funds rolled into other institutions and withdrawals from RBF 
accounts.

Pension administration Administer payments for members who have elected to take a pension as part of their 
retirement strategy or as a result of permanent or temporary invalidity.  Including Life 
Pensions, Allocated Pensions, Term Allocated Pensions and Invalidity pensions.

During the 2007–08 year, Member Administration completed the implementation of the Commonwealth Government’s 

Better Super legislation and the Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorism Financing (AML/CTF) legislation.  The Better Super 

legislation impacted on services to members. With additional resources supported by the Board, service levels have been 

returned to normal.  In addition, a case-management approach has been implemented with respect to early release processing 

improving service levels to members.
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Stakeholder Services

Stakeholder Services’ role is to ensure that RBF’s products and services meet the needs of our members and reflect a 

contemporary financial services organisation, as well as to ensure that:

•	 	our	members	are	empowered	by	their	superannuation	knowledge;	

•	 	employers	and	unions	are	engaged	and	informed	through	their	relationship	with	RBF;	and

•	 	the	Board	and	other	business	units	receive	appropriate	support	services.

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Board governance support Ensure the Board, Board committees and the Executive Management 
Team receive accurate, complete and timely information. Ensure claims 
against the Board are resolved following procedures and processes that 
comply with the principles of natural justice and relevant legislative 
provisions. Provide relevant management information and coordinate 
development of enhancements to the management reporting systems.

Maintenance of Governing Rules Identify and interpret superannuation legislation that affects the Fund. 
Work with stakeholders in the development of legislation affecting  
the Fund.

Member and stakeholder communications Produce brochures, reports, website enhancements, newsletters and 
other communication material for members, employers, the Board and 
other stakeholders. 

Product and services development Provide market research and identify business options to develop 
contemporary and quality superannuation products and services. 
Research and evaluate financial services policy and practices and 
provide strategic options on their continued efficiency. 

Stakeholder relationships Develop communication, education strategies and marketing programs 
to employers and unions representing various sectors of RBF’s 
membership. Build business relationships with stakeholders and provide 
support for training and marketing programs including facilitating 
sponsorship programs. 

Stakeholder Services continued to ensure that the Board received all relevant information in a timely manner, enabling the 

Board to make informed decisions and maintain its focus on policy and strategy. During the year Stakeholder Services provided 

support for 37 meetings of the Board and its committees and 14 meetings of the Executive Management Team.

The business unit achieved significant progress in developing a range of business options to enhance RBF’s insurance 

offering. The business unit also drove the implementation of a number of programs designed to ensure specific groups of 

members were taking advantage of their superannuation options. This work was complimented by targeted direct mail 

campaigns tailored to specific member groups, to raise awareness of their eligibility for the Co-Contribution and the benefits of 

consolidating their superannuation. 
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Personal contact was maintained with all of RBF’s employer 

and public sector union stakeholders. These stakeholders 

were supported by RBF during the year through involvement 

in a number of conferences and events, including:

•	 	Tasmanian	School	Principals	Association	Conference

•	 	Tasmanian	School	Administrators	Association	

Conference

•	 	Australian	Education	Union	Conference	

•	 	Australian	Education	Union	Workshops

•	 Australian	Nursing	Federation	Conference

•	 Australian	College	of	Midwives	Conference

•	 Australian	College	of	Midwives	Workshop

•	 	Royal	Hobart	Hospital	Research	Foundation	–	 

Big Breakfast

•	 Liquor	Hospitality	and	Miscellaneous	Union	Conference

•	 	Liquor	Hospitality	and	Miscellaneous	Union	–	 

Delegates meetings

•	 Community	&	Public	Sector	Union	Conference

•	 Health	and	Community	Services	Union	Conference.

A regular information booth was provided at public hospitals 

across Tasmania, providing access to RBF information to 

members at their workplace.

The business unit also provided information for inclusion in a 

number of stakeholder publications including:

•	 Australian	Education	Union-	Ed.Lines

•	 Australian	Education	Union- UpFront

•	 Australian	Education	Union-	Reporter newsletter

•	 Australian	Nursing	Federation-	Infusion

•	 Community	&	Public	Sector	Union	website	News

•	 Health	and	Community	Services	Union-	IN form

•	 	Liquor	Hospitality	and	Miscellaneous	Union-	 

Union News

•	 Nursing	Board	of	Tasmania-	NBT News

•	 Police	Association-	Association NEWS.

An RBF advertisement was also included on a number of 

wall-planners, including:

•	 Australian	Education	Union

•	 Australian	Nursing	Federation

•	 Community	&	Public	Sector	Union

•	 Health	and	Community	Services	Union.
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Business Process and Analysis 

Business Process and Analysis is the business unit that 

provides process, project and financial analysis services 

to RBF. The unit is responsible for the following business 

functions.

Business function Description

Business Process Model and analyse core business 
activities, including relevant 
processes to support the current 
year’s business priorities.

Program 

Management 

Office

Provide program and project 
management support for the 
current year’s business priorities.

During the year, the Business Process and Analysis business 

unit managed key projects including the Anti-Money 

Laundering/Counter Terrorism Financing (AML/CTF) 

legislation.  

The project facilitated identification of the changes required 

to meet the new legislation, ultimately resulting in computer 

system redevelopment, review of procedures and provision 

of staff education in readiness for the introduction of the 

new rules. RBF have successfully met AUSTRAC requirements 

in 2007–08.  The project continues through 2008–09 with 

additional changes and reporting requirements to be 

implemented.

During the year the business unit was responsible for 

development of a strategy for reviewing the administration 

platform at RBF. This included performing due diligence 

activities to determine a replacement strategy for the 

platform and provision of an assessment of the alternatives 

under the replacement strategy. The project will continue 

into 2008–09.

The business unit also provided project management 

expertise to finalise changes required under the 

Commonwealth Government’s Better Super legislation, 

development of RBF’s contract management process and 

introduction of Salary Sacrifice capabilities for members of 

both the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 

Scheme and State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme.

During the year a Private Tax Ruling released by the 

Australian Taxation Office (ATO) was found to impact on 

260 Contributory Scheme Invalidity Pensioners.  The Ruling 

reversed independent expert advice previously obtained 

by RBF in relation to the amount of tax withheld from 

payments to a specific group of pensioners.  The business 

unit developed and implemented a process to negotiate 

with the ATO and Centrelink and settle the liabilities resulting 

from the miscalculation on behalf of the pensioners. Through 

effective communication with pensioners, RBF was able to 

resolve the matter minimising the level of stress and anxiety 

caused by the miscalculation.
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Technology and Business Services

Technology and Business Services provides infrastructure support services to RBF. The unit is responsible for the following 

business functions.

Business function Description

Information Technology Procure and manage all information technology components. Manage contracts 
and relationships with external technology vendors. The most significant of these 
is the long-term partnering arrangement with Alphawest which supports the main 
administration platform, RBF’s Superannuation Administration System (RBFSAS).

Human Resources Provide recruitment and personnel functions, industrial relations, policy and 
procedure development, training and occupational health and safety, and related 
functions. The payroll function is outsourced to TMD, a division of the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet.

Finance Manages the financial integrity, internal control and commerciality of the RBF 
organisation using contemporary practices in accounting , financial, budgetary and 
taxation management together with the delivery of relevant and timely financial 
reporting that ensures effective financial support to the business.

Optimise the financial and taxation outcomes for the RBF

Manage and implement all financial strategies.

Facilities & Records Management Provide appropriate premises and workplace requirements to enable staff to 
carry out their duties. Administer our obligations under the Archives Act and to 
administer the organisation’s management records.

In addition to normal operations, the Information 

Technology section completed the work involved in 

upgrading and configuring servers needed to support 

the workflow system used at RBF. A comprehensive test of 

the IT Disaster Recovery Plan was successfully conducted 

during late October 2007. The Information Technology team 

worked closely with several business units to implement 

the significant system changes required to satisfy both 

the Commonwealth Government’s Better Super legislation 

and the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism 

Financing (AML/CTF) legislative reforms.

The Human Resources section refocused its activities to 

deliver contemporary advice and services to its stakeholders 

as well as adopting a more strategic approach to delivering 

improved business performance through a more engaged 

and motivated workforce.

Financial services were consolidated in June 2008 from 

a previous structure of three teams. This consolidation is 

designed to improve the overall synergy of the finance 

function with improved communication, operational 

efficiencies and critical mass.

Finance continues to provide financial, taxation and 

management reporting support to the Board and its 

stakeholders through working with external auditors and tax 

and actuarial consultants.

Occupational health, safety and welfare

RBF is committed to providing a safe and healthy work 

environment for its employees. During 2007–08  

OHS training was rolled out to all staff. This included 

Responsible Officer and Accountable Persons training for 

appropriate staff.   

RBF continues to offer and fund an Employee Assistance 

Program (EAP) to staff for confidential counselling. EAP 

services are available across the State and staff are able to 

access these services at any time. Partners and dependent 

children of staff members are included in the counselling 

program to ensure a more comprehensive service.

RBF also offers subsidised workplace neck and shoulder 

massages to employees, to assist with any ill-effects of the 

sedentary and screen-based nature of their work. 

An optional influenza vaccination program was also made 

available to interested staff in 2007–08, with almost 40% of 

staff participating.



18  retirement benefits fund annual report 08

Staffing statistics

The table below shows the number of staff employed as at 30 June 2008.

2007–08

Board 

ongoing 

employees

Performance-

based contract 

employees

Temps/

Short-term 

contract 

employees Male Female Total

Business Process & Analysis  9 1 6 4 10

Member Administration 38 11 4 11 42 53

Strategy & Member Services 32 11 1 22 22 44

Risk & Investments 4 10  11 3 14

Stakeholder Services 2 8  5 5 10

Technology & Business Services 8 20 6 16 18 34

Total 84 69 12 71 94 165

Employment arrangements

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board Staff Agreement 2006 encompasses employment terms and conditions for all staff 

employed with the Board prior to December 2005 and the majority of staff employed after this date. Senior staff and managers 

employed after December 2005 are employed pursuant to terms and conditions outlined in common law Contracts of Service.
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Workers’ compensation

RBF commenced the year with two open claims. Two new 

claims were received and three claims were resolved during 

the year.

 2006–07 2007–08

Cases carried forward on 1 July - 2

New cases 4 2

Cases resolved during the year 2 3

Cases active as at 30 June 2 1

Working days lost during year 0.5 62

Commonwealth Superannuation Guarantee 
compliance

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board declares that, as an 

employer, all obligations under the Commonwealth’s 

Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 have 

been met.

Training and development

The figures below show the number of study programs staff 

participated in during the year.

Areas of study undertaken 2007–08 Number of staff

Certificate & Diploma courses

  Introductory Superannuation 

(including ASFA 146 etc)

32

 Advanced Superannuation 6

  Financial Services (including 

Diploma Financial Services & CFP)

23

Graduate & Post Graduate courses

 Accounting, CPA 6

  Other tertiary qualifications 

(including Information 

Technology, Human 

Resources, Marketing, Business 

Administration & Process 

Management)

22

RBF has a strategy to promote accelerated training in 

the areas of superannuation management and financial 

planning. Staff are encouraged to undertake training in 

superannuation including the Association of Superannuation 

Funds of Australia’s Certificate of Superannuation known as 

ASFA146. 

RBF also supports staff in the attainment of the Diploma of 

Financial Services and the Advanced Diploma of Financial 

Services, which are coordinated through accredited 

providers.

In addition, RBF actively encourages and supports all staff in 

undertaking additional study, short courses, workshops and 

training and development courses relevant to their work or 

expertise. Experienced employees within RBF also conduct 

in-house training on systems, products and services. Staff 

members attended a total of 574 short training courses at an 

approximate	cost	of	$245,500.
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Investments

The Investments unit’s role is to undertake the day-to-day management of RBF’s portfolio of investments (which totalled  

$3.41	billion	at	30	June	2008),	so	that	those	investments	achieve	an	optimum	return	within	an	acceptable	level	of	risk.

To efficiently deliver on its role, the unit is structured into two streams:

Business function Description

Investment Products The facilitation and provision of information and advice to the Board on issues such as:

•	 economic	and	investment	market	conditions

•	 investment	policy	and	strategy

•	 asset	allocation	policy	and	investment	asset	class	composition

•	 selecting	appropriate	investment	managers.

Directly undertaking:

•	 structuring	of	Member	Investment	Choice	options

•	 calculation	of	weekly	crediting	rates	for	Member	Investment	Choice	options

•	 provision	of	investment	performance	and	comparison	data

•	 		informing	and	educating	of	Board	Members,	staff,	RBF	members	and	other	

stakeholders about investment market and investment performance matters.

Internal Funds Management RBF’s internal funds management team activities include:

•	 sourcing	of	new	property	and	mortgage	opportunities

•	 evaluation	and	recommendation	of	mortgage	loan	applications

•	 	liaison	with	estate	agents,	property	managers,	mortgage	brokers	and	other	service	

providers

•	 	day-to-day	management	of	properties	(including	budgeting,	identifying	new	tenants	

and re-negotiation of leases).

Approximately 95% of RBF’s investments are outsourced to external specialist investment managers who manage portfolios of 

Australian shares, international shares, property, fixed interest, cash and alternative assets on RBF’s behalf. 

The Investments business unit has day-to-day responsibility for ‘managing the managers’. This includes their appointment; 

ongoing monitoring of performance; monitoring of changes in key personnel, structure, size and management of the 

managers; organisation; and ongoing liaison and reporting to the RBF Board. 

6.3% of Funds Under Management (FUM) are managed internally. These include Tasmanian property owned directly by RBF 

(comprising office buildings and retail shops) and first mortgages in Tasmania.
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Business Risk and Legal

The Business Risk and Legal (BRL) team is primarily responsible for delivering risk, compliance and assurance support services to 

the Board.  The team is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Internal Audit Prepare and perform internal audit assessments in accordance with accepted auditing standards 
and techniques.

Risk Management Facilitate ongoing assessment and review of business risks to develop an effective enterprise-
wide risk management system and coordinate regular assessments of the effectiveness of the 
framework.

Business Continuity Develop and review the Board’s Business Continuity Strategy and Plan and assist in the 
consultation and education of staff.

Compliance Develop a whole-of-business Compliance Register which enables comprehensive control self-
assessments to be conducted and compliance controls to be monitored, assessed and enhanced.

Complaints Ensure that complaints are researched and responded to in a timely manner and that any 
opportunities for business improvements are identified.

Litigation Manage litigation involving the Board.

Service Agreements Assist in the preparation, maintenance, monitoring, review of and reporting on contractual 
arrangements with external service providers.

In addition to the core business functions listed above, during the 2007–08 financial year the BRL team continued to perform 

a key role in developing and implementing the Commonwealth’s Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing 

(AML/CTF) legislation. The team continues to play an important role in ensuring RBF will fulfil the obligations imposed by that 

legislative regime on an ongoing basis.

The team also provided a significant contribution to the development of a new Contract Management Policy during the 

financial	year.		This	policy	was	developed	in	accordance	with	the	APRA	Superannuation	guidance	note	SGN	130.1	“Outsourcing”.  

The development of a new complaints handling policy also commenced during the period.  The policy will be based upon the 

principles from ISO 10002 “Quality management – Customer satisfaction – Guidelines for complaints handling in organisations”.



22  retirement benefits fund annual report 08

Investment Performance
After four years of very strong investment returns driven 

by buoyant commodity markets and an environment 

of expansive credit, 2007–08 saw strong corrections in 

investment markets around the world. 

In this difficult environment, many Australian superannuation 

funds recorded negative returns for the year ended 30 June 

2008, with the market median return of balanced funds 

being minus 7.48% according to SuperRatings Pty Ltd’s 

Credit Rate Survey.

The RBF Investment Account crediting rate for RBF’s default 

Member Investment Choice option, RBF Actively Managed, 

was minus 6.44% for the year. Crediting rates reflect the 

return paid to members after investment management fees 

and taxes on investment earnings have been deducted.

RBF continued to perform well over the longer term. The RBF 

Investment Account crediting rate for RBF Actively Managed 

was 8.76% per annum over the past five years. 

Tasmanian investments continue to 
perform well

RBF’s internally managed investments in Tasmanian property 

and mortgages continued to make significant contributions 

to the performance of the Fund. RBF’s return on Tasmanian 

property investments before investment management fees 

was 19.2% for the 2007–08 financial year. For mortgages, the 

return before investment management fees was 5.3% for  

the year. 

RBF is a significant investor in the Tasmanian Gateway 

Consortium led by the Macquarie Group. This consortium 

was successful in purchasing the Hobart Airport in January 

2008. This strategic investment aligns with RBF’s fundamental 

investment philosophy of securing exposure to quality assets 

with strong underlying cash-flows, low volatility and long-

term potential.

Combined,	these	investments	amount	to	$322.4	million 

and represent 9.5% of the Fund.

Investment philosophy and 
management

The Board’s investment philosophy is one of researched and 

disciplined decision-making and asset diversification. The 

Board has appointed a mix of external investment managers 

to manage the majority of the Fund’s assets. Tasmanian-

based investments are managed internally by RBF where this 

is of benefit to the Fund.

All investment managers are regularly reviewed and assessed 

against performance targets. RBF used the following 

consultants and service providers during the year:

•	 	Investment	Management	and	Asset	Allocation	–	 

JANA	Investment	Advisers	Pty	Ltd

•	 Taxation	–	PricewaterhouseCoopers	(Melbourne)

•	 Actuarial	–	PricewaterhouseCoopers	(Melbourne)

•	 Custodial	–	J	P	Morgan	Global	Investor	Services.

Member Investment Choice (MIC)

Members with an RBF Investment Account, an RBF-TAS 

SG Account, an RBF Allocated Pension Account, or an RBF 

Term Allocated Pension Account have access to Member 

Investment Choice (MIC). Through MIC, RBF members can 

access 14 different investment options. 

The asset allocation settings, performance objectives and 

crediting rates for these options are shown on the following 

pages. Where an entire account balance is rolled over or 

transferred, investment returns are not applied during the 

processing period.  In peak processing times this may be 

between 6 to 13 days. 

For more information about Member Investment Choice visit 

the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au or contact RBF.
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Investment strategy – asset allocation at 30 June 2008

The investment strategy used by the Board to achieve the performance objective for individual MIC options is to invest in 

portfolios of assets exposed to the major asset classes that are appropriate for each MIC option, as shown below. Changes were 

made during the year to the asset allocation for RBF Actively Managed.

Australian 

Shares  

%

International 

Shares  

%

Property  

%

Alternative 

Investments  

%

Fixed 

Interest  

%

Cash  

%

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed (Default Option)* 32 25 16 14 8 5

RBF Long Term Growth 50 25 12 8 5 -

RBF Diversified Growth 40 20 6 4 30 -

RBF Conservative Growth 15 10 3 2 45 25

RBF Socially Responsible Investments** 40 20 - - 40 -

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 100 - - - - -

RBF International Shares - 100 - - - -

RBF Property & Alternative Investments - - 63 37 - -

RBF Fixed Interest - - - - 100 -

RBF Cash - - - - - 100

Manager specific options:***

State Street Balanced Index 35 25 10 - 25 5

State Street Australian Shares Index 100 - - - - -

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced 45 15 10 5 18 7

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian Shares 100 - - - - -

* From July 2007 the Board implemented a new investment strategy for RBF Actively Managed by introducing the concept of a 
Dynamic Asset Allocation. The Dynamic Asset Allocation will be continually monitored by the Board to reflect its view of different 
investment markets and considering the investment objective and accountability measures set for this investment option. The asset 
allocation may vary from time to time and may change without prior notice being given. The targeted Dynamic Asset Allocation for 
RBF Actively Managed as at 30 June 2008 is shown above.

**The RBF Socially Responsible Investments option is invested in the AMP Capital Investors’ Sustainable Future Australian Shares Fund 
(60%) and RBF’s Fixed Interest asset class (40%). From 1 August 2008 the AMP Capital Responsible Investment Leaders Balanced Fund 
was appointed as the sole manager for this option.

*** These investment options are managed solely by the individual manager who determines the asset allocation settings and the best 
way to invest each asset class. The asset allocations for these options are subject to change without notice.
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Performance objectives

The performance objective and target real rate of return for the 14 Member Investment Choice options are shown below.

Member Investment Choice option Objective Target real rate of return net of 
investment management fees 
and taxes

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed To provide a moderate to high level of capital 
growth over the medium to long term.

4% pa over rolling five-year 
periods

RBF Long Term Growth To provide a high level of capital growth over the 
long term.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 
periods

RBF Diversified Growth To provide a moderate to high level of capital 
growth over the medium to long term.

3%–4% pa over rolling five-year 
periods

RBF Conservative Growth To provide some capital growth over the short to 
medium term while also maintaining a moderate 
to high level of capital stability and a low 
probability of a negative return in any one year.

1.5%–2% pa over rolling three-
year periods

RBF Socially Responsible Investments To provide a moderate level of capital growth 
over the long term, by investing in Australian 
and overseas companies that will form part of a 
socially and environmentally sustainable future 
and that meet ethical investment criteria.

2%–3% pa over rolling five-year 
periods

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares To provide a high level of capital growth over the 
long term by investing in Australian shares.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 
periods

RBF International Shares To provide a high level of capital growth over 
the long term by investing in a portfolio of 
international shares.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 
periods

RBF Property & Alternative 
Investments

To provide a stable income stream and also 
offer the opportunity for capital growth over the 
longer term.

4% pa over rolling five-year 
periods

RBF Fixed Interest To provide a regular income stream and retain 
capital value over the medium term.

1.5% pa over rolling three-year 
periods

RBF Cash To provide a high level of capital security and 
maintain the purchasing power of capital 
invested.

At least equal to the rate of 
inflation each year

Manager specific options:

State Street Balanced Index To closely track the monthly rates of return of a 
composite benchmark with exposure to both 
equity (shares) and fixed income assets.

2.5%–3.5% over rolling five-year 
periods

State Street Australian Shares Index To closely track the monthly rates of return of the 
S&P/ASX200 Accumulation Index.

4% over rolling seven-year 
periods

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced To provide a superior rate of return relative to the 
average of similar balanced funds as measured by 
the ASSIRT Multi-Sector 70 Wholesale Index over 
rolling three-year periods.

3%–4% pa over rolling five-year 
periods

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian Shares To provide a superior rate of return relative to 
the S&P/ASX300 Accumulation Index over rolling 
four-year periods.

4% pa over rolling seven-year 
periods
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Crediting rates

A super fund’s investment performance typically varies over 

time. Because super is a long-term investment, long-term 

figures smooth out short-term results. For example, RBF 

Actively Managed returned minus 6.44% over one year for 

RBF Investment Account holders. However, the positive 

returns for the previous 4 years results in a return averaging 

8.76% each year for the past 5 years being paid to members.

The tables below show crediting rates for the past 5 years 

as well as 3 and 5 year compound average returns to  

30 June 2008.  As none of the investment options have been 

available for 10 years, we are unable to provide returns over 

that period. Past performance is not a reliable predictor of 

future performance, but longer-term historical data should 

be a more useful guide to members in assessing  

the relevance of current year returns to their retirement 

savings goals.

RBF calculates the weekly crediting rates as follows:

 Step 1 - Gross crediting rate

 Step 2 - Less investment management fees

 Step 3 - Less income tax expense

 Step 4 -  Equals the crediting rate (after investment fees 

and tax).

Prior to 1 July 2006 the crediting rates did not include tax, 

investment management and administration fees. From  

1 July 2006 the administration fee is deducted directly from 

members’ accounts after the crediting rate has been applied 

to the account. 

These rates only apply to money invested in the relevant 

accounts and options for the whole period. The effective rate 

members have earned may be different depending upon 

when they joined the fund, the timing of any contributions, 

withdrawals and investment switches.
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Crediting rates – RBF Investment Account

03–04 

%

04–05 

%

05–06 

%

06–07 

%

07–08 

%

3 years 

% pa

5 years 

%pa

Since 

inception 

% pa

Inception 

date

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed 11.75 11.98 12.98 15.08 –6.44 6.75 8.76 6.77 2 Oct 99

RBF Long Term Growth 15.26 14.67 15.85 18.36 –10.22 7.17 10.22 7.14 2 Oct 99

RBF Diversified Growth 11.63 12.35 12.49 14.54 –7.24 6.12 8.43 6.39 2 Oct 99

RBF Conservative Growth 6.22 7.89 7.26 8.52 –0.36 5.07 5.86 5.12 2 Oct 99

RBF Socially Responsible 

Investments 11.73 10.18 13.71 12.50 –7.15 5.90 7.89 5.63 20 Oct 01

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 18.86 23.75 18.61 25.97 –15.25 8.18 13.24 10.16 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares 14.29 1.85 16.89 11.06 –18.18 2.03 4.33 0.31 20 Oct 01

RBF Property & Alternative 

Investments 9.64 11.27 10.95 12.54 10.17 11.21 10.90 10.98 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest 2.67 6.82 3.07 4.13 4.73 3.98 4.27 4.25 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 3.78 4.24 4.40 5.28 6.22 5.30 4.78 4.41 2 Oct 99

Manager specific options:

State Street Balanced Index 12.32 11.47 14.04 13.07 –11.31 4.58 7.44 4.78 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian 

Shares Index 19.41 23.57 20.23 26.97 –13.92 9.53 14.15 9.97 3	Nov	01

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Balanced n/a 11.37 10.67 14.74 –9.42 4.77 N/A 7.90 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Australian Shares 21.82 20.17 15.30 26.71 –13.73 8.02 13.03 12.95 28 Jun 03
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Crediting rates – RBF-TAS SG Account

03–04 

%

04–05 

%

05–06 

%

06–07 

%

07–08 

%

3 years 

% pa

5 years 

% pa

Since 

inception 

% pa

Inception 

date

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed 11.40 11.58 12.62 15.08 –6.44 6.63 8.55 6.40 25 Apr 00

RBF Long Term Growth 14.87 14.24 15.47 18.36 –10.22 7.05 9.99 6.56 25 Apr 00

RBF Diversified Growth 11.27 11.94 12.13 14.54 –7.24 6.01 8.21 5.82 25 Apr 00

RBF Conservative Growth 5.91 7.52 6.93 8.52 –0.36 4.96 5.65 4.75 25 Apr 00

RBF Socially Responsible 

Investments

11.37 9.78 13.34 12.50 –7.15 5.79 7.68 5.37 20 Oct 01

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 18.46 23.28 18.22 25.97 –15.25 8.07 13.00 9.89 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares 13.93 1.48 16.52 11.06 –18.18 1.93 4.13 0.08 20 Oct 01

RBF Property & Alternative 

Investments

9.28 10.85 10.59 12.54 10.17 11.09 10.67 10.75 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest 2.36 6.46 2.76 4.13 4.73 3.87 4.07 4.05 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 3.47 3.88 4.09 5.28 6.22 5.19 4.58 4.21 25 Apr 00

Manager specific options:

State Street Balanced Index 11.97 11.07 13.68 13.07 –11.31 4.46 7.23 4.46 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian 

Shares Index

19.01 23.11 19.83 26.97 –13.92 9.41 13.92 9.69 3	Nov	01

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Balanced

n/a 10.97 10.31 14.74 –9.42 4.66 N/A 7.69 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Australian Shares

21.42 19.72 14.94 26.71 –13.73 7.90 12.80 12.71 28 Jun 03
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Crediting rates – RBF Allocated Pension Account

03–04 

%

04–05 

%

05–06 

%

06–07 

%

07–08 

%

3 years 

% pa

5 years  

%pa

Since 

inception 

% pa

Inception 

date

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed 12.84 13.16 14.18 16.20 –6.68 7.38 9.59 7.18 15 Jan 00

RBF Long Term Growth 15.82 15.35 16.98 19.50 –10.76 7.65 10.75 7.06 15 Jan 00

RBF Diversified Growth 12.70 13.57 13.61 15.89 –7.88 6.64 9.19 6.56 15 Jan 00

RBF Conservative Growth 7.09 9.05 8.07 9.62 –0.41 5.66 6.62 5.63 15 Jan 00

RBF Socially Responsible 

Investments

12.82 11.08 14.65 13.57 –7.74 6.30 8.52 6.05 20 Oct 01

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 19.63 24.87 19.41 27.17 –15.73 8.57 13.83 10.79 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares 15.66 1.80 18.63 12.31 –20.06 2.12 4.63 0.35 20 Oct 01

RBF Property & 

Alternative Investments

9.90 11.75 11.66 13.62 11.03 12.09 11.58 11.66 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest 2.89 7.77 3.31 4.78 5.59 4.56 4.85 4.82 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 4.20 4.79 4.98 6.25 7.35 6.19 5.51 4.94 15 Jan 00

Manager specific options:

State Street Balanced 

Index

13.48 12.58 15.37 14.35 –12.33 4.97 8.12 5.09 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian 

Shares Index

20.21 24.68 21.12 28.54 –14.68 9.92 14.76 10.43 3	Nov	01

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Balanced

n/a 12.47 11.63 16.20 –10.29 5.18 N/A 8.63 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott 

Australian Shares

22.77 21.08 15.91 28.28 –14.48 8.34 13.57 13.49 28 Jun 03
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Crediting rates – RBF Term Allocated Pension Account

05–06 

%

06–07 

%

07–08 

%

3 years 

% pa

Since 

inception 

% pa

Inception 

date

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed 14.18 16.20 –6.68 7.38 7.38 1 Jul 05

RBF Long Term Growth 16.98 19.50 –10.76 7.65 7.65 1 Jul 05

RBF Diversified Growth 13.61 15.89 –7.88 6.64 6.64 1 Jul 05

RBF Conservative Growth 8.07 9.62 –0.41 5.66 5.66 1 Jul 05

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 14.65 13.57 –7.74 6.30 6.30 1 Jul 05

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 19.41 27.17 –15.73 8.57 8.57 1 Jul 05

RBF International Shares 18.63 12.31 –20.06 2.12 2.12 1 Jul 05

RBF Property & Alternative Investments 11.66 13.62 11.03 12.09 12.09 1 Jul 05

RBF Fixed Interest 3.31 4.78 5.59 4.56 4.56 1 Jul 05

RBF Cash 4.98 6.25 7.35 6.19 6.19 1 Jul 05

Manager specific options:

State Street Balanced Index 15.37 14.35 –12.33 4.97 4.97 1 Jul 05

State Street Australian Shares Index 21.12 28.54 –14.68 9.92 9.92 1 Jul 05

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced 11.63 16.20 –10.29 5.18 5.18 1 Jul 05

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian Shares 15.91 28.28 –14.48 8.34 8.34 1 Jul 05

Defined benefit schemes

•	 	RBF	Contributory	Scheme

•	 	State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Scheme	

(incorporated in to RBF 1 May 2006)

•	 	Tasmanian	Ambulance	Service	Superannuation	

Scheme (incorporated in to RBF 30 June 2006)

•	 	Parliamentary	Superannuation	Fund	 

(incorporated in to RBF 1 January 2003)

•	 	Parliamentary	Retiring	Benefits	Fund	 

(incorporated in to RBF 1 January 2003)

Performance objective

The performance objective for the defined benefits funds are 

for investment returns (after investment management fees 

and tax):

•	 	to	exceed	the	rate	of	inflation	by	4.5%	per	annum	over	

rolling five-year periods.

Generally, investment performance does not affect the 

level of benefits paid to members of the RBF Contributory 

Scheme, State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme, 

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme, or 

the Parliamentary Schemes.

Investment strategy – asset allocation at  
30 June 2008

The investment strategy used by the Board to achieve the 

above performance objective is to invest in a balanced 

portfolio exposed to all major asset classes as shown 

below. The asset allocation of these defined benefit funds 

may vary from time to time to reflect the Board’s view of 

different investment markets, within the predetermined 

ranges shown below. During the year the Board revised 

asset allocations for each asset class as well as dividing 

the Property and Alternative Investments asset class into 

separate asset classes.
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Asset allocation – defined benefit schemes

RBF Contributory Scheme 

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund

State Fire Commission 

Superannuation Scheme

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 

Superannuation Scheme

Australian 

Shares

%

International 

Shares

%

Property 

%

Alternative 

Investments 

%

Fixed 

Interest

%

Cash

%

Strategic Asset Allocation

Range within which allocations can vary

25

15–35

25

15–35

16

6–26

16

6–26

10

0–20

8

0–18

Historical investment returns

Net return (after investment fees & tax)

03–04 

%

04–05 

%

05–06 

%

06–07 

%

07–08 

%

 

% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 12.7 12.8 13.3 15.2 –3.7 9.8% over 5 years

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 12.7 12.5 13.5 14.6 –5.2 8.8% since 1 Jan 2003

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 12.7 12.5 13.5 14.6 –5.2 8.8% since 1 Jan 2003

State Fire Commission  

Superannuation Scheme - - - 14.5 –5.2 8.6% since June 2006

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 

Superannuation Scheme - - - 14.5 –5.2 8.6% since June 2006

Investment returns compared to investment objectives

Net return (after investment fees & tax)

1 year 

%

3 years 

% pa

5 years 

% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme –3.7 7.9 9.8

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund –5.2 7.2 9.4

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund –5.2 7.2 9.4

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme –5.2 2.8 N/A

Tasmanian Ambulance Services Superannuation Scheme –5.2 2.8 N/A

Objectives: CPI + 4.5% pa 9.0 8.0 7.6
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Investment management fees

During the 2007–08 financial year RBF reviewed the level of all investment management fees. The following fees apply from  

1 July 2008.

Member Investment Choice (MIC) Option

Base investment fee 

% pa

Performance-related 

investment fee % pa

Total investment 

fees % pa

Diversified options:

RBF Actively Managed 0.62 0.05 0.67

RBF Long Term Growth 0.62 0.04 0.66

RBF Diversified Growth 0.54 0.03 0.57

RBF Conservative Growth 0.39 0.01 0.40

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 0.85 0.00 0.85

Asset class options:

RBF Australian Shares 0.55 0.04 0.59

RBF International Shares 0.69 0.00 0.69

RBF Property & Alternative Investments 0.79 0.12 0.90

RBF Fixed Interest 0.36 0.00 0.36

RBF Cash 0.03 0.00 0.03

Manager specific options:

State Street Australian Shares Index 0.15 0.00 0.15

State Street Balanced Index 0.26 0.00 0.26

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian Shares 0.39 0.00 0.39

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced 1.00 0.00 1.00

Investment management fees should be treated as an estimate of fees payable in the financial year commencing 1 July 2008. 

These fees are based on the costs incurred over the calendar year ended 31 December 2007 and include fees paid to RBF’s 

investment managers, asset consultants and custodian. The investment fee may vary depending upon factors such as the mix 

of investment managers used and their performance against benchmarks.

Performance fees are paid to some investment managers when their performance exceeds a predetermined objective. 

Performance fees earned over the calendar year ended 31 December 2007 are shown separately in the table above and are 

included in the total investment fees column. If a performance fee has been paid, that means that a manager has outperformed 

its performance objective, thereby contributing to an overall higher level of returns.

Defined Benefit Scheme

Total investment fees  

% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 0.64

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 0.75

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 0.72

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 0.65

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 0.66

RBF has prepared information in accordance with ASIC guidelines for presentation of a superannuation fund’s fees and charges. 

To view this information visit www.rbf.com.au.



32  retirement benefits fund annual report 08

Changes to investments

During the 2007–08 financial year, several changes were 

made to the investment managers used by the RBF Board. 

Within the International Shares asset class, a new investment 

was made with Pzena Investment Management. Within 

the Fixed Interest asset class a new investment was made 

with Brandywine, whilst in the Property and Alternatives 

asset	class	new	investments	were	made	with	JANA	Asset	

Consultants, Tasmanian Gateway Consortium Holdings, AMP 

and Macquarie Retirement Villages Group.

Ongoing review by the Board’s Investment and Asset 

Allocation Committee of manager under performance 

and the structure of the funds portfolio resulted in the 

termination of investments with International Shares 

manager BIAM Australia Ltd and Fixed Interest manager, 

Portfolio Partners.

Derivatives

What are derivatives?

Derivatives are financial contracts whose value depends 

upon the value of an underlying instrument or asset 

(typically a commodity, bond, equity or currency, or a 

combination of these). Derivatives can be used to reduce 

the risk of (or ‘hedge’) an investment in the underlying 

instrument.

RBF’s use of derivatives

Investment managers may use derivatives if the Board 

deems this appropriate and it is documented in contracts 

with the individual managers. The investment managers 

provide the Board with detailed risk management 

statements which outline their approach to derivatives and 

confirm that their approach is applicable to the investments 

they manage.

The Board, through the Investment and Asset Allocation 

Committee, monitors investment managers to confirm that 

the use of derivatives accords with the overall investment 

strategy of the Fund and is consistent with the performance 

objectives of each portfolio and sub fund.

The Board may, when it deems appropriate, use its custodian 

to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to remove 

any foreign currency exposures which are not already 

hedged by its international managers.
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Funds Under Management

Funds under Management (FUM) as at 30 June 2008

2006–07 

$ million

2007–08 

$ million

2007–08 

% of FUM

Australian Shares

452 Capital 210.3 168.5 4.94%

Maple-Brown Abbott

 discretely managed 322.5 251.5 7.37%

 Australian Equity Trust (MIC option) 12.9 12.8 0.38%

State Street Global Advisors

 discretely managed 344.8 262.4 7.69%

Australian Index Equities Trust (MIC option) 10.7 12.7 0.37%

Long/short Equitised Trust 112.0 96.6 2.83%

Warakirri	New	Dimensions	Fund 144.3 120.6 3.53%

AMP Capital Investors Sustainable Future Australian Share Fund (for MIC option) 3.0 3.6 0.11%

International Shares

AllianceBernstein Australia Limited 172.3 144.1 4.22%

Baillie Gifford Overseas Limited 62.8 61.4 1.80%

BIAM Australia Ltd

 discretely managed 130.6 - 0.00%

Australia Ethical International Fund (for MIC option) 1.0 - 0.00%

Capital International 206.4 201.6 5.91%

Goldman Sachs Global Fund 70.3 57.3 1.68%

Lazard Global Opportunities Fund 72.3 67.5 1.98%

JP Morgan Currency Hedge 12.1 1.5 0.04%

Wellington Global Strategic Fund 61.1 64.3 1.88%

Pzena Investment Management LLC - 57.4 1.68%

Diversified Fixed Interest

PIMCO Australia 127.7 96.1 2.82%

Portfolio Partners 70.6 - 0.00%

RBF Board (Mortgages) 140.1 164.4 4.82%

The Super Loans Trust 5.7 5.9 0.17%

Brandywine Global Investment Management LLC - 73.0 2.14%

Property

AMP Capital Investors 191.4 217.7 6.38%

Australian Prime Property Fund 176.2 198.5 5.82%

Gresham	Property	Mezzanine	Fund	No.	2 3.2 2.9 0.09%

Lend	Lease	Real	Estate	Partners	No	2	Fund 10.4 9.6 0.28%

Macquarie Goodman Wholesale Fund 22.6 34.0 1.00%

RBF Board (Direct Property) 46.8 59.0 1.73%

AMP Select Property Portfolio 3 - 11.3 0.33%
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Lend Lease Real Estate Communities - 15.8 0.46%

Macquarie Retirement Villages Group - 72.2 2.12%

Alternative Investments

AMP Capital Investors Limited (Infrastructure) 44.0 30.3 0.89%

BGI Total Return Multi-Opportunity Fund (Absolute Return) 34.6 37.0 1.08%

Bridgewater All Weather Fund (Hedge Fund) 50.2 61.6 1.81%

First Tasmania Investments Ltd (Private Equity) 1.4 1.0 0.03%

GMO Multi-Strategy Trust (Absolute Return) 27.4 30.6 0.90%

Hastings High Yield Fund (Infrastructure Debt) 43.9 53.6 1.57%

Industry Funds Management (Private Equity) 7.2 6.6 0.19%

Utilities Trust of Australia Pty Ltd (Infrastructure) 100.1 127.5 3.74%

Maple-Brown Abbott – Diversified Investment Trust (MIC option) 3.9 3.5 0.10%

State Street Global Advisors – Passive Balanced Trust (MIC option) 2.9 2.6 0.08%

Triplepoint (Absolute Return) - 51.8 1.52%

Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation Pty Limited (Infrastructure) - 99.8 2.93%

AMP Strategic Infrastructure Trust of Europe - 23.2 0.68%

Cash

Cash at Bank 4.5 10.3 0.30%

Perennial Investment Partners (Cash Enhanced) 219.7 172.9 5.07%

Tascorp 199.3 155.2 4.55%

Total RBF 3,483.2 3,411.7 100.00%

Legislation and Policy
A number of legislative amendments were made to 

give effect to the Commonwealth Government Better 

Super initiatives. In accordance with the timeframe for 

implementation of the Commonwealth changes, these 

amendments took effect on 1 July 2007. The relevant 

amendments are contained in the following instruments:

•	 	Retirement	Benefits	Amendment	Regulations	2007

•	 	Retirement	Benefits	(Parliamentary	Superannuation)	

Amendment Regulations 2007

•	 	Tasmanian	Accumulation	Scheme	Amendment	Deed	

(No.	1)	2007

•	 	State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Scheme	

Amendment	Deed	(No.	1)	2007

•	 	Tasmanian	Ambulance	Service	Superannuation	

Scheme	Amendment	Deed	(No.	1)	2007.

RBF Board policies

To assist the Board as Corporate Trustee and ensure the 

exercise of its duties and obligations are undertaken in the 

best interests of all stakeholders, the Board has policies on 

the following issues:

•	 privacy

•	 investment	strategy

•	 sponsorship	evaluation

•	 Board	Member	conflict	of	interest

•	 direct	contact	by	service	providers	with	Board	Members

•	 Board	Members	obtaining	independent	advice

•	 delegated	officer	conflict	of	interest	policy

•	 Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 – RBF procedures.

These policies can be found at the following page on RBF’s 

website: www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/MbrPub/Policies.jsp 
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Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002

The objective of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 (the 

Act) is to encourage and facilitate the making of disclosures 

about improper conduct by public officers and public bodies 

(a public interest disclosure). The Act provides protection for 

persons making a disclosure and establishes a system for the 

matters disclosed to be investigated and rectifying action to 

be taken.

During the year there were:

•	 	no	disclosures	made	to	the	Board	that	were	determined	

to be public interest disclosures

•	 	no	public	interest	disclosure	matters	referred	to	the	

Board from the Ombudsman

•	 	no	public	interest	disclosure	matters	referred	to	the	

Ombudsman by the Board.

The Board’s current Public Interest Disclosure Procedures are 

available on the website: www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/pdfs/

Brochure-PID-Procedures.pdf

Alternatively, a copy of the procedures can be obtained  

by contacting the Protected Disclosure Officer on  

(03) 6233 2749 or via email: super@rbf.com.au

Member Review Statistics
RBF received 38 applications for review during the 2007–08 

financial year in addition to 19 carried forward from last and 

previous years.

As at 30 June 2008, 35 of these matters had been finalised 

and 22 were pending.

Of the 35 matters finalised, 10 were resolved or withdrawn 

by the applicant, 18 involved a preliminary decision by the 

Chief Executive Officer under delegated authority from the 

RBF Board after considering further information, and seven 

involved a hearing before the Board.

Of the applications for review received in the 2007–08 

financial year, 47% related to applications for Ill Health 

Benefits.

Each matter under review was thoroughly investigated prior 

to consideration by the Board. Before any hearing every 

effort was made to resolve each issue through discussion, 

investigation and conciliation.
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Schemes, Accounts  
& Products
RBF charges no entry or exit fees. Members benefit from a 

wide range of flexible superannuation options. There are 

many opportunities for members to increase their super and 

secure their retirement lifestyle.

Members can refer to the charts on pages 37–40 to find out 

about the many benefits their superannuation scheme has 

to offer.

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) – for people 

employed in the Tasmanian public sector from 15 May 1999 

and other employees not in the RBF Contributory Scheme. 

All new staff within the public sector are able to become 

members of RBF by joining the Tasmanian Accumulation 

Scheme.

RBF Contributory Scheme – for permanent employees 

and certain temporary or contract employees who started 

employment in the public sector before 15 May 1999.

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) 

– for full time permanent uniformed employees who started 

employment in the Tasmania Fire Service before 1 July 2005. 

The SFCSS was incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 

1 May 2006.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 

Scheme (TASSS) – for permanent employees who started 

employment with the Tasmanian Ambulance Service before 

30 June 2006. The TASSS was incorporated into RBF as a sub 

fund from 30 June 2006.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF) – for Members 

of	Parliament	first	elected	to	Parliament	before	15	November	

1985. The PSF was incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 

1 January 2003.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) – for 

Members of Parliament first elected to Parliament after 

14	November	1985	and	before	1	July	1999.	The	PRBF	was	

incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 1 January 2003.

RBF-TAS SG Account – where Superannuation Guarantee 

contributions for Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) 

members are invested.

RBF Investment Account – where personal contributions, 

rollovers, Salary Sacrifice and Super Co-contributions are 

invested.

RBF Allocated Pension Account – for superannuants who 

have invested in an Allocated Pension.

RBF Term Allocated Pension Account – for superannuants 

who	have	invested	in	a	Term	Allocated	Pension.	No	new	

accounts will be commenced after 20 September 2007.

RBF Compulsory Preservation Account – for preserved 

unfunded benefits.

RBF Membership Statistics

Schemes & Accounts

Members 

30/6/07 Entrants Exits

Members 

30/6/08

RBF Contributory Scheme 11,880 6 723 11,163

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 23,546 4,155 3,369 24,332

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 305 0 7 298

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 189 0 13 176

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 3 0 0 3

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 14 0 1 13

RBF Investment Account 57,127 4,482 3,227 58,382

RBF Compulsory Preservation Account 18,503 154 991 17,666

RBF Life Pension 7,501 395 231 7,665

RBF Allocated Pension 560 328 29 859

RBF Term Allocated Pension 10 21 2 29
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Summary of schemes administered by RBF

Features RBF Contributory Scheme Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS)

Brief 
description of 
benefit

An unfunded  defined benefit scheme where, generally, 
the final benefit depends on:
•	 	average	salary	over	the	last	three	years	worked	in	

the public sector
•	 	the	number	of	years	for	which	contributions	have	

been made to the scheme
•	 	the	contribution	rate(s)	as	a	percentage	of	total	

salary.

An accumulation scheme where the final 
benefit depends on:

•	 	the	amount	of	employer	contributions	
deposited in the RBF-TAS SG Account

•	 	the	amount	of	employee	contributions	
deposited in the RBF Investment Account

•	 	the	amount	of	any	additional	employer	
contributions, Salary Sacrifice 
contributions, spouse contributions or 
splits and/or Commonwealth Super 
Co-contributions deposited in the RBF 
Investment Account

•	 	the	investment	returns,	net	of	fees	and	
taxes, credited to the accounts

•	 	deduction	of	any	insurance	premiums	
and/or other fees.

Membership as 
at 30 June 2008

11,163 members (decreased from 11,880 members as 
at 30 June 2007)

24,332 members (increased from 23,546 
members as at 30 June 2007)

Membership 
eligibility

Generally:
•	 permanent	employees	or
•	 		long-term	employees	who	elected	to	join	and	

who started employment in the public sector 
before 15/5/99.

•	 State	public	sector	employees

•	 Superannuants

•	 	Members	of	Parliament	and	Statutory	
Officers who are not members of 
the Contributory Scheme or another 
complying superannuation fund

•	 	Partner	of	an	RBF	member

Benefit options Members who meet Commonwealth preservation 
requirements may take a Lump Sum benefit, an RBF Life 
Pension, an RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

•	 	Members	who	meet	Commonwealth	
preservation requirements may take a 
Lump Sum benefit, an RBF Allocated 
Pension or a combination.

•	 	Members	who	joined	before	15/5/99	can	
also take an RBF Life Pension.

Contribution 
options

•	 	Members	must	contribute	the	equivalent	of	
between 5% and 15% of their salary. Member 
Investment Choice does not apply to these 
contributions.

•	 	Contributions	may	be	made	either	as	personal	
contributions or by Salary Sacrifice.

•	 	Members	can	make	additional	personal	
contributions or Salary Sacrifice contributions to 
the RBF Investment Account, which has Member 
Investment Choice.

•	 	All	contributions	are	to	be	included	in	the	
concessional and non-concessional contribution 
limits according to contribution type.

•	 	Members	can	make	personal	
contributions or Salary Sacrifice 
contributions to the RBF Investment 
Account.

•	 	Members	can	use	Member	Investment	
Choice.

•	 	All	contributions	are	to	be	included	in	
the concessional and non-concessional 
contribution limits according to 
contribution type.
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Features RBF Contributory Scheme Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS)

Death and 
Incapacity Cover

•	 	For	interim	invalidity,	a	pension	of	75%	of	the	
salary received in the past year is available for up 
to two years.

•	 	For	Total	and	Permanent	Incapacity,	a	Lump	
Sum	benefit	is	payable	up	to	$50,000,	with	an	
additional	$30,000	if	approved	by	the	RBF	Board.	
The balance is payable as an RBF Life Pension.

•	 	On	death,	a	Lump	Sum	Benefit	is	paid.	The	
surviving partner of the deceased can convert 
this into a pension.

•	 	Terminally	ill	members	who	are	likely	to	die	
within 12 months can elect to receive a Lump 
Sum.

•	 	The	insurance	premium	is	0.35%	of	a	member’s	
salary. This amount is deducted each fortnight 
from the member’s account.

•	 	Members	are	entitled	to	limited	Ill	Health	and	
Death Benefits until the member passes a 
medical examination* or has contributed to the 
scheme continuously for ten years, when he or 
she will be entitled to full benefits.

* A medical practitioner approved by the RBF Board must 
conduct the medical examination.

•	 	For	temporary	incapacity,	a	pension	of	
75% of the salary received in the past 
year is available for up to two years.

•	 	For	Permanent	Incapacity,	the	benefit	
can be taken as a Lump Sum, an RBF 
Allocated Pension or a combination.

•	 	Members	who	joined	before	15/5/99	
can also take the benefit as an RBF Life 
Pension.

•	 	On	death,	a	Lump	Sum	benefit	is	paid.
•	 	Variable	Death	and	Incapacity	Cover	is	

available from 0% to 300%. Members 
electing to have no cover must have 
alternative cover.

•	 	The	insurance	premium	for	standard	
100% cover is 0.55% of a member’s 
salary. This amount is deducted each 
fortnight from the member’s RBF-TAS SG 
Account.

Crediting rates •	 	The	crediting	rate	is	the	average	of	the	previous	
three years’ market value return after provision 
is made for investment, administration and 
taxation costs in the last financial year.

•	 	Crediting	rates	(net	of	charges)	in	2007–08	were:
 1/7/07 to 30/9/07               14.01% pa 
 1/10/07 to 30/6/08             14.90% pa
•	 	Generally	the	crediting	rate	does	not	affect	the	

level of benefits for RBF Contributory Scheme 
members as benefits are based on a formula. 
The formula is linked to salary, service and 
contribution rate.

•	 	The	crediting	rate	is	set	weekly	and	
is based on the most recent net 
investment returns.

•	 	Each	week	the	account	balance	is	
adjusted according to the crediting rate.

•	 	The	different	crediting	rates	for	each	
Member Investment Choice option are 
available on the RBF website at www.rbf.
com.au and on flyers available from RBF.

Fees •	 	No	fees	are	payable	by	the	member.	 
The scheme funds all fees.

•	 	Generally,	the	level	of	fees	does	not	affect	the	
benefits paid by the scheme.

•	 	Administration	fees	were	0.81%.
•	 	Investment	management	fees	were	0.60%.

•	 	An	administration	fee	and	an	investment	
management fee are charged. Each 
Member Investment Choice option has a 
different investment management fee.

•	 	The	administration	fees	for	the	different	
accounts are provided on page 42. The 
different investment management fees 
are provided on page 31.

•	 	Information	about	fees	is	published	on	
RBF’s website at www.rbf.com.au and on 
RBF’s regularly produced crediting rate 
flyers.
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Features State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 

(SFCSS)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 

Superannuation Scheme (TASSS)

Brief description 
of benefit

A defined benefit scheme where, generally, the final 
benefit depends on:
•	 	salary	(not	including	overtime	and	allowances	

for rent)
•	 	the	number	of	years	for	which	contributions	

have been made to the scheme.

A defined benefit scheme where, generally, 
the final benefit depends on:
•	 	average	salary	over	the	last	year	of	

membership worked
•	 	the	contribution	rate(s)	used	to	deduct	

contributions from salary
•	 	the	number	of	years	for	which	

contributions have been made to the 
scheme.

Membership as at 
30 June 2008

298 members (decreased from 305 members as at 30 
June 2007)

176 members (decreased from 189 
members as at 30 June 2007)

Membership 
eligibility

•	 	Generally,	full-time	permanent	uniformed	
employees who elected to join and who started 
employment with Tasmania Fire Service prior to 
1 July 2005.

•	 	The	SFCSS	was	closed	to	new	members	from	
1 July 2005.

•	 	Generally,	permanent	employees	
who elected to join and who started 
employment with Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service prior to  
30 June 2006.

•	 	The	TASSS	was	closed	to	new	
members from 30 June 2006.

Benefit options Members who meet Commonwealth preservation 
requirements may take a Lump Sum benefit. 
Members who roll over their scheme benefits into the 
RBF Investment Account may take a Lump Sum, an 
RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

Members who meet Commonwealth 
preservation requirements may take a Lump 
Sum benefit. Members who roll over their 
scheme benefits into the RBF Investment 
Account may take a Lump Sum, an RBF 
Allocated Pension or a combination.

Contribution 
options

•	 	Members	contribute	at	5%	of	salary.	Member	
Investment Choice does not apply to these 
contributions.

•	 	Contributions	may	be	made	either	as	personal	
contributions or by Salary Sacrifice.

•	 	Members	can	make	additional	personal	
contributions or Salary Sacrifice contributions to 
the RBF Investment Account, which has Member 
Investment Choice.

•	 	All	contributions	are	to	be	included	in	the	
concessional and non-concessional contribution 
limits according to contribution type.

•	 	Members	must	contribute	between	
5% and 11% of their salary. Member 
Investment Choice does not apply to 
these contributions.

•	 	Contributions	may	be	made	either	as	
personal contributions or by Salary 
Sacrifice.

•	 	Members	can	make	additional	
personal contributions or Salary 
Sacrifice contributions to the RBF 
Investment Account, which has 
Member Investment Choice.

•	 	All	contributions	are	to	be	included	
in the concessional and non-
concessional contribution limits 
according to contribution type.
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Features State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 

(SFCSS)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 

Superannuation Scheme (TASSS)

Death and 
Incapacity Cover

•	 	For	temporary	incapacity,	a	pension	of	 
75% of superannuation salary is available for  
up to two years.

•	 	For	Total	and	Permanent	Incapacity	the	benefit	
can be taken as a Lump Sum, an RBF Allocated 
Pension or a combination.

•	 	On	death	a	Lump	Sum	benefit	is	paid.
•	 	The	insurance	premium	is	covered	by	the	

scheme.	No	deductions	are	made	for	this	from	
the member’s account.

•	 	For	temporary	incapacity,	a	pension	
of 75% of superannuation salary is 
available for up to two years.

•	 	For	Total	and	Permanent	Incapacity	
the benefit can be taken as a Lump 
Sum, an RBF Allocated Pension or a 
combination.

•	 	On	death	a	Lump	Sum	benefit	is	paid.
•	 	The	insurance	premium	is	covered	by	

the	scheme.	No	deductions	are	made	
for this from the member’s account.

Crediting rates •	 	The	crediting	rate	is	the	average	of	the	previous	
three years’ market value return after provision 
is made for investment, administration and 
taxation costs in the last financial year.

•	 	The	net	earning	rate	for	the	year	ending	 
30 June 2008 was minus 5.1%.

•	 	The	crediting	rate	is	the	average	
of the previous three years’ market 
value return after provision is made 
for investment, administration and 
taxation costs in the last financial year.

•	 	Generally,	the	crediting	rate	does	not	
affect the level of benefits for TASSS 
members as benefits are based on a 
formula. The formula is linked to salary, 
service and contribution rate.

•	 	The	net	earning	rate	declared	for	 
the year ending 30 June 2008 was 
minus 5.1%.

Fees •	 	No	fees	are	payable	by	the	member.	The	scheme	
funds all fees.

•	 	Generally,	the	level	of	fees	does	not	affect	the	
benefits paid by the scheme.

•	 	Administration	fees	were	0.81%.
•	 	Investment	management	fees	were	0.62%.

•	 	No	fees	are	payable	by	the	member.	
The scheme funds all fees.

•	 	Generally,	the	level	of	fees	does	not	
affect the benefits paid by the scheme.

•	 	Administration	fees	were	0.81%.
•	 	Investment	management	fees	 

were 0.63%.

Parliamentary schemes

Both the Parliamentary Superannuation Fund and the 

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund are defined benefit 

schemes. In both schemes the benefits are determined 

by a formula based on salary and years of service. The 

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund provides members 

with a benefit paid as a pension. The Parliamentary Retiring 

Benefits Fund provides members with a benefit paid as a 

Lump Sum.

The Parliamentary Superannuation Committee determines 

if a member of either Parliamentary Scheme is entitled to 

an invalidity benefit on the basis of ill health or physical or 

mental incapacity. The Committee consists of the President 

of the Legislative Council, the Speaker of the House of 

Assembly and the Secretary of the responsible Department 

or his or her nominee.

Compulsory Preservation Account

The RBF Compulsory Preservation Account is where 

preserved, unfunded benefits are recorded. Members  

may have an unfunded Compulsory Preservation Account  

if they left:

•	 	the	RBF	Contributory	Scheme;	or

•	 the	closed	Non-Contributory	Scheme.

before reaching Preservation Age. The legislation does not 

allow for this account to be funded or transferred to another 
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scheme until the member reaches their Preservation Age.

Where a member remains eligible to contribute to super, 

they can make contributions to the RBF Investment Account 

and continue to save for their retirement.

The balance of the Compulsory Preservation Account 

is indexed to whichever is the greater of inflation or 

movements in average wages. In 2007–08 indexation rates 

for the Compulsory Preservation Account were:

•	 1	July	2007	to	31	December	2007		  

 3.99% pa for the six-month period

•	 1	January	2008	to	30	June	2008		 	  

 5.91% pa for the six-month period.

The rate is currently set at 4.59% pa until 31 December 2008, 

at which time it will be reviewed.

At 30 June 2008 17,666 members held Compulsory 

Preservation Accounts.

No	fees	or	charges	are	applied	to	the	Compulsory	

Preservation Account. RBF’s investment performance will not 

affect the balance of the account.

When the member reaches their Preservation Age their 

previous employer will fund the Compulsory Preservation 

Account and RBF will transfer the money into the RBF 

Investment Account. The member will then be able to select 

an investment option using Member Investment Choice.

Once in the Investment Account, the benefit will accrue 

at the crediting rate for the Member Investment Choice 

options selected. This will continue until retirement or 

commencement of a Transition to Retirement income, 

when RBF will pay the benefit. Members with a Compulsory 

Preservation Account are entitled to receive an RBF Life 

Pension at retirement.

RBF Investment Account

The Investment Account is an accumulation-style account 

into which members can make additional contributions to 

their super. 

At 30 June 2008 there were 58,382 Investment Accounts 

open	with	more	than	$1.11	billion	of	member’s	retirement	

savings.

Personal contributions can be made as automated  

payroll deductions, direct debits from bank account or  

lump-sum deposits. 

While the account holder remains a Tasmanian public sector 

employee, they can also make Salary Sacrifice (concessional) 

contributions through an agreement with their employer. 

Personal contributions will be subject to the non-

concessional contributions limit. Salary Sacrifice 

contributions will be included in the annual concessional 

contributions limit.

Member Investment Choice

The RBF Investment Account gives control over how money 

is invested. Members can choose from a range of investment 

options to suit their personal needs. More information on 

each of the options is available on the RBF website or by 

contacting RBF directly. 

Roll over super

To consolidate super accounts, members can roll over 

savings from other superannuation funds into the RBF 

Investment Account. Rollovers from other super funds are 

not included in contribution limits.

As with all superannuation accounts, all contributions and 

investment returns received after 1 July 1999 are preserved 

until the member reaches Preservation Age and retires from 

the workforce.

Investment Account for RBF partners

The partner of and RBF member may be able to open an RBF 

Investment Account. Partners of RBF members can roll over 

their other super and continue to save for their retirement 

with RBF.

Partners can make personal contributions to their account 

through regular bank deductions or lump-sum deposits. 

Spouse contributions

If	either	a	member	or	their	spouse	earns	less	than	$13,800	

and satisfies other criteria, the partner earning the higher 

salary maybe eligible to claim a tax offset for contributions to 

the low income earner’s account. It is important to note that 

for 2007-08, the Commonwealth Government’s definition of 

spouse does not include same sex couples.
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Administration fees

RBF’s administration fees remained static during the year and continue unchanged into the 2008–09 financial year.

Under this fee structure the lower of the two fees is payable only on that part of the account balance that is in excess of 

$150,000,	i.e.	the	lowest	fee	does	not	apply	to	the	entire	account	balance.

The administration fees and thresholds are shown in the table below.

Account Scale fees from 1 July 2007

Part of account balance less 

than $150,000

Part of account balance 

more than $150,000

RBF-TAS SG Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Investment Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Allocated Pension Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Term Allocated Pension Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

Administration costs for the defined benefit schemes are deducted directly from the funds under management in each scheme 

and are not paid from member accounts. The costs are represented as a percentage of funds under management in each 

scheme. The table below shows the administration costs based on budget forecasts for the 2008–09 year.

Defined Benefit Scheme

Administration Costs 

2007–08 % pa

Predicted Administration 

Costs 2008–09 % pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 0.81% pa 0.81% pa

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 0.81% pa 0.81% pa

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 0.81% pa 0.81% pa

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 0.81% pa 0.81% pa

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 0.81% pa 0.81% pa

Scheme exits

RBF Contributory Scheme

During the 2007–08 financial year six eligible Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) members transferred to the RBF 

Contributory Scheme. The Contributory Scheme has experienced a net decrease in membership of 717 for the 2007–08 

financial year. This scheme is closed to new members.

RBF Contributory Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 277 192 197 166

Retirement 385 339 322 438

Redundancy 10 23 42 59

Death 144 43 38 28

Transfer to TAS 11 7 7 4

Total and Permanent Incapacity 36 38 36 25

Partial and Permanent Incapacity 4 0 1 3

Non-commencement* 0 0 0 0

Total exits 867 642 643 723

* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who 
subsequently did not begin employment.
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Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

The Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme experienced an overall increase in membership of 786 for the 2007–08 financial year.

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 3,375 4,302 2,897 2,465

Retirement 588 1,087 588 609

Redundancy 1 14 38 75

Death 20 27 36 31

Transfer to RBF Contributory Scheme 5 5 2 6

Total and Permanent Incapacity 28 12 17 16

Transfer to another fund 67 133 157 120

Non-commencement* 0 74 113 47

Total exits 4,082 5,654 3,848 3,369

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme

The SFCSS experienced an overall decrease in membership of seven for the 2007–08 financial year. This scheme is closed to 

new members.

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 5 8 5

Retirement 2 0 2

Redundancy 0 0 0

Death 1 0 0

Transfer to TAS 2 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Partial and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0

Total exits 10 8 7

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme

The TASSS experienced an overall decrease in membership of 13 for the 2007–08 financial year. This scheme is closed to  

new members.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 4 16 11

Retirement 1 0 1

Redundancy 0 0 0

Death 0 0 1

Transfer to TAS 15 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Partial and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0

Total exits 20 16 13

* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who 
subsequently did not begin employment.
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Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund

There was one exit from this scheme during 2007–08. This scheme is closed to new members.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 0 0 0 1

Retirement 1 1 0 0

Redundancy 0 0 0 0

Death 0 0 0 0

Transfer to TAS 0 0 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0 0

Transfer to another fund 0 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0 0

Total exits 1 1 0 1

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund

The PSF membership has remained stable over the past four years with only one exit during that time. This scheme is closed to 

new members.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08

Resignation 0 0 0 0

Retirement 1 0 0 0

Redundancy 0 0 0 0

Death 0 0 0 0

Transfer to TAS 0 0 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0 0

Transfer to another fund 0 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0 0

Total exits 1 0 0 0

* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who 
subsequently did not begin employment.
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RBF Membership Benefits
At RBF, members benefit through:

•	 	Lower	fees	with	no	entry	or	exit	fees	

•	 	All	profits	paid	to	members

•	 	Strong	long-term	performance.

RBF makes it easy for members to:

•	 	make	personal	contributions	or	Salary	Sacrifice	to	 

super through payroll deductions

•	 	personalise	investment	options	online	and	view	

account details

•	 	open	an	RBF	Investment	Account	for	their	partner	 

and save for their future together.

RBF also provides Death and Incapacity insurance along  

the way.

Secure the future with RBF

No	matter	which	RBF	scheme	members	belong	to,	they	can	

secure their future with RBF super. 

RBF encourages members to:

1.  Know your scheme: by learning how your benefit is 

calculated, you will know how to improve your super

2.  Plan: the old saying is true, if you plan nothing, nothing 

happens. Plan to save. RBF can show you how

3.  Stay in touch: read your statements and newsletters. 

Visit the RBF website www.rbf.com.au. Ask more 

questions. 

Selecting a contribution method

There are two different methods of contributing to RBF 

super schemes. Members can make payments from after-tax 

salary (personal contributions) or have their employer make 

the payments on their behalf (Salary Sacrifice). 

For	members	earning	more	that	$34,000	assessable	income	

during 2008–09, Salary Sacrifice should be considered as a 

vital contribution strategy. 

Every member’s financial circumstances are different, so 

what is right for others may not be right another member. 

Each member should consider their own situation when 

choosing their  contribution method. Members can contact 

RBF to discuss their options, or use the calculators on the RBF 

website to help make decisions.

For many members, converting personal contributions 

into Salary Sacrifice creates a tax saving that can be used to 

increase their contribution rate.

Salary Sacrifice is widely recognised as an effective way 

to make contributions to super and members should 

carefully consider its benefits. By using the calculator on 

the RBF website, members can see how much extra can be 

contributing by using Salary Sacrifice.

Contribution limits

Contribution limits are now in place for all types of 

contributions to super, specifying the maximum amount 

members can contribute to super in any year, even if they 

contribute to more than one account. 

The non-concessional contribution limit will always be 

calculated as three times the concessional contribution limit. 

Contributions above the concessional contribution limit will 

incur penalty tax. Contributions that exceed the three-year 

Non-concessional	contribution	limit	cannot	be	accepted	and	

will be returned the member. The limits are indexed and will 

increase over time. 

Non-concessional contributions limit

All non-concessional contributions are subject to a 

maximum	limit	of	$150,000	every	year.	Members	under	the	

age of 65 can make non-concessional contributions of up to 

$450,000	over	a	three-year	period.	

Contributions covered by the limit include personal 

contributions made from after-tax salary, lump-sum 

deposits, spouse contributions and any excess concessional 

contributions. Super co-contributions do not count towards 

the limit.

Concessional contributions limit

Concessional contributions are subject to an annual limit 

of	$50,000	for	each	member.	As	a	transitional	arrangement,	

members	reaching	age	50	may	contribute	$100,000	in	

concessional contributions each year until 30 June 2012.

This limit covers all contributions from employers, including 

Superannuation Guarantee payments, as well as Salary 

Sacrifice and any contributions for which the member 

intends to claim a tax deduction. Employer contributions to 

defined benefit schemes are calculated using a formula and 

are also included in the limit. 
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Members can choose how their money is invested

Members with the following accounts have access to 

Member Investment Choice (MIC):

•	 	RBF	Investment	Account

•	 	RBF-TAS	SG	Account

•	 	RBF	Allocated	Pension	Account

•	 	RBF	Term	Allocated	Pension	Account.	

With MIC members can choose an investment strategy to 

suit their needs. MIC offers a broad range of investment 

options with different levels of projected risk and return.

Members can choose to invest in one investment option 

or in a number of options and can switch between options 

as often as weekly if they wish. Where an entire account 

balance is rolled over or transferred investment returns are 

not applied during the processing period. In peak processing 

times this may be between 6 to 13 days. Members who do 

not choose an investment option will have their investments 

allocated to the RBF Actively Managed option. This is RBF’s 

default option.

Death and Incapacity Cover

Generally members are automatically entitled to Death and 

Incapacity Cover if they are:

•	 	a	public	sector	employee;	and

•	 		under	age	60	(under	age	55	for	Tasmanian	Ambulance	

Service Super Scheme members); and

•	 	have	an	RBF-TAS	SG	Account	or	are	a	member	of	the	

following schemes: 

	 •	 RBF	Contributory	Scheme

	 •	 	State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Scheme	

(SFCSS) 

	 •	 	Tasmanian	Ambulance	Service	Superannuation	

Scheme (TASSS)

	 •	 	Parliamentary	Superannuation	Fund	

	 •	 	Parliamentary	Retiring	Benefits	Fund.

Members who have an RBF-TAS SG Account can adjust the 

level of cover to suit their individual circumstances.

Members of the RBF Contributory Scheme are entitled 

to limited cover until they successfully pass a medical 

examination or make contributions to the scheme 

continuously for ten years.

RBF may pay a benefit if members with Death and Incapacity 

Cover are unwell or injured and cannot work for a short 

period of time. The benefit paid may equal up to 75% of their 

salary for up to two years. This Temporary Incapacity pension 

is available up to age 60 for most members. For members of 

TASSS or SFCSS, temporary incapacity cover continues until 

age 65.

Retirement products

RBF provides a range of retirement products including Life 

Pensions and Allocated Pensions, or members can simply 

manage their money using the RBF Investment Account. 

RBF Allocated Pension

An RBF Allocated Pension can be the key to a successful 

financial future. With an Allocated Pension members invest 

a Lump Sum and then choose a pension amount that suits 

their individual retirement needs. This amount must meet 

the minimum limit set by Commonwealth legislation. Cash 

withdrawals are also permitted from Allocated Pension 

accounts.

Members who commence an Allocated Pension as part of 

Transition to Retirement cannot receive more than 10% of 

the account balance as their annual pension payment and 

cash withdrawals are not permitted. These restrictions will be 

lifted when the fully retire. 

As at 30 June 2008, RBF was paying 859 members an 

Allocated Pension.

RBF Life Pension

With an RBF Life Pension, RBF will pay the member an 

income for the rest of their life. If the member chooses to 

commence a reversionary pension, RBF will even pay a 

pension to their surviving partner. Depending on how long 

a member and their partner live, the Life Pension might 

provide more income than they would have received as a 

Lump Sum benefit.

Generally members can take a Life Pension if they have 

maintained continuous membership with RBF since before 

15 May 1999. Members should talk to RBF if they are unsure 

about their entitlement.

As at 30 June 2008 RBF paid 7,665 members a Life Pension. 

Life Pensions are adjusted twice each year in line with 
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increases in the Consumer Price Index. During the 2007–08 

financial year Life Pensions increased by the following 

amounts:

1 July 2007  0.0%

1 January 2008  1.9%

Lump Sum Benefit

When members retire after reaching Preservation Age they 

can take their retirement benefit as a Lump Sum.  

The balance can be placed in the RBF Investment Account 

for as long as the member wishes. Compulsory withdrawal 

of superannuation at age 65 has now been abolished. 

Members should give careful consideration to funding their 

future needs if they withdraw all their retirement savings 

from super. 

Many members withdraw a small Lump Sum to pay for 

specific items at retirement and also establish an income 

stream to secure their financial future. 

Simpler tax on super!

No	matter	how	members	access	their	super	at	retirement,	

the good news is that all members will pay less tax and some 

members will pay no tax after age 60. By understanding how 

the new tax rules affect their super, members can make the 

most of the tax changes. 

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, Investment Account, 

TASSS, SFCSS and Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund

Super benefits coming from these fully taxed 

superannuation schemes will become tax exempt when the 

member reaches the age of 60. Members who retire and 

access their super before they are 60 will continue to pay 

some tax until their 60th birthday.

Contributory Scheme & Parliamentary  

Superannuation Fund

Members of these partly taxed schemes will continue to 

pay tax when they access their super – even after the age 

of 60. Tax will be payable on up to 70% of your Contributory 

Scheme benefit. This represents the employer component of 

the final benefit, on which contributions tax has not yet been 

paid. After the member reaches age 60, they will pay a lower 

rate of tax on Lump Sum withdrawals. Pension payments will 

receive a 10% rebate against this part of the benefit.

The remaining employee component of the benefit will be 

tax-free after reaching age 60.
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Member Services 

Information services

Keeping members informed

RBF provides information to members through newsletters, 

the annual Member Report as well as SuperNews e-bulletin. 

Each publication takes the opportunity to give members 

news about their super and provide information on savings 

and wealth-creation opportunities.

Members can also access information about RBF’s products 

and services from the RBF website, brochures and fact sheets.

For the first time, RBF is able to provide members with their 

annual Member Report electronically and will not be mailing 

the report to all members. The Member Report will be 

loaded to the RBF website and members will be advised of its 

availability via newsletter. Only those members who request a 

printed report will be provided with one.

The Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) 

announced in June 2008 that super funds could provide their 

Member Report online provided certain conditions were met. 

These conditions centred on the need to provide medium to 

long-term investment performance information to members 

with their annual membership statements. Changes will also 

be required to RBF’s governing legislation and Trust Deeds.

Personal service

Members who need to know more about their super can 

simply phone RBF – we’re here to answer queries. Only at RBF 

can members speak with staff trained and up-to-date with 

RBF’s superannuation scheme rules. 

We also understand that sometimes a phone call is not 

enough. So we will book a time to sit down with a member 

and their partner to discuss their super. Our specially trained 

staff are willing to devote time to making sure members 

understand their super before they need to make a decision.

RBF also encourages members to invite an RBF speaker to 

come to their workplace. We can provide a formal information 

session on a particular topic or simply have a general 

discussion on super, taking questions from the group. 

Members who would like to invite an RBF speaker to their 

next staff meeting, conference or professional development 

day can contact us by phoning 1800 622 631. 

It’s all part of the service.

Financial advice for members

RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd specialises in providing financial 

planning advice to RBF members and their partners. 

The financial planners are all RBF employees and able to  

take advantage of discussing scheme rules with RBF’s 

specialist staff.

RBF is committed to providing the best outcomes for 

our members. All advisers, who are licensed authorised 

representatives of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, hold formal 

qualifications in financial planning and have extensive 

experience in superannuation. 

You can request financial advice from RBF-TAS Planning by 

contacting RBF. To get the most from the services offered 

by RBF-TAS Planning, members should first attend an RBF 

seminar or personal interview with an RBF Member Services 

representative.

RBF-TAS	Planning	Pty	Ltd	(ABN	17	094	816	412,	AFS	Licence	

No	239171)	is	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	of	RBF	and	operates	

as a separate legal entity.



retirement benefits fund annual report 08  49

Feedback and complaints

RBF welcomes all feedback from members as it allows us 

to acknowledge staff doing a great job and to improve our 

service where required.

At RBF we strive to ensure our members receive the best 

possible service at all times, but sometimes our service 

might not meet expectations. For this reason, RBF has a 

comprehensive complaint process to address members’ 

concerns. 

Members who may be unhappy with the way RBF has 

handled an administrative matter are encouraged to contact 

the manager of the area involved and explain their concerns. 

Our managers are keen to ensure our service is of the 

highest quality at all times and will assist members in finding 

an acceptable resolution.

Where the member’s concerns have not been addressed, 

they can contact:

Complaints Officer 

Retirement Benefits Fund Board 

GPO Box 446 

HOBART TAS 7001 

Ph (03) 6233 7256 or 1800 622 631

The Complaints Officer is an internal staff member who  

is independent of the issues subject to the complaint.  

Any letters of complaint are reviewed by a sub-committee  

of the RBF Board.

If a member’s complaint has been reviewed and they are not 

satisfied with the response provided by RBF, the member has 

the option of lodging a complaint with the Ombudsman. 

The Ombudsman can be contacted on 1800 001 170 or via 

email at ombudsman@justice.tas.gov.au.

Further information about RBF’s complaint process can 

be found at http://www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/RbfPub/

ComplaintsReviews.jsp or by contacting RBF.
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Retirement Benefits Fund Board Trustee’s Statement
In the opinion of the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (the Board) as Trustee of the Retirement Benefits Fund (the Fund):

1.  the accompanying financial statements of the Fund are properly drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position  

of the Fund as at 30 June 2008 and the results of its operations and cashflows for the year on that date in accordance  

with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional requirements in Australia; and

2.  the Fund has been conducted in accordance with the provisions of the:

 •	 Retirement	Benefits	Act	1993

	 •	 	Retirement	Benefits	(Parliamentary	Superannuation	Trustee	Arrangements	and	Miscellaneous	Amendments)	Act	2002

	 •	 Retirement	Benefits	Fund	(State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Scheme)	Act	2005

	 •	 Retirement	Benefits	(Tasmanian	Ambulance	Service	Superannuation	Scheme)	Act	2006

	 •	 Tasmanian	Accumulation	Scheme	Trust	Deed

	 •	 State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Trust	Deed

	 •	 Tasmanian	Ambulance	Service	Superannuation	Trust	Deed.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Retirement Benefits Fund Board.

Board Member 

22 October 2008

Board Member 

22 October 2008
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RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000
ASSETS    

Cash Assets    

Cash at bank                 849             3,334 

Receivables    
Contributions and pensions            13,625             7,387 

Investment income              7,494                444 

Other 8                256                300 

GST                   42                382 

Income tax 7(c)           13,257           14,441 

            34,674           22,954 

Investments    
Australian equities          374,422         529,203 

International equities          281,208         419,641 

Diversified fixed interest 9         209,884         134,030 

Property          361,846         209,860 

Alternative investments          292,511         164,277 

Cash deposits          101,065         237,107 

       1,620,936      1,694,118 

Other assets    
Property, plant & equipment              5,062             8,566 

RBF Tas Planning Pty Ltd                 170                170 

Deferred tax asset 7(d)             3,080             2,704 

              8,312           11,440 

TOTAL ASSETS       1,664,771      1,731,846 

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Other 10             3,382             4,602 

Contributions and pensions                 669                295 
Interfund            56,835           23,159 

            60,886           28,056 

Provisions    

Contributions in advance 11           13,589           12,086 

Provision for employee entitlements 22           14,422           14,484 

            28,011           26,570 

Tax Liabilities    

Deferred tax liability 7(e)           15,019           24,460 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable              3,249             3,419 

            18,268           27,879 

TOTAL LIABILITIES          107,165           82,505 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS       1,557,606      1,649,341 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Notes 2008 2007

 $’000 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 3           12,116           13,414 

Dividends 3           20,274           33,292 

Distributions 3           72,873           46,992 

Property rentals 3             2,428             2,087 

Changes in net market value of investments 4        (158,710)         150,542 

Direct investment expense             (5,515)            (4,987)

           (56,534)         241,340 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions          174,611         149,867 

Member contributions            50,191           47,395 

          224,802         197,262 

    

OTHER REVENUE 5            (6,689)            (4,108)

    

TOTAL REVENUE          161,579         434,494 

BENEFITS PAID    

Pensions          162,236         153,379 

Lump sums            79,222           59,238 

Refunds & interest              2,132             1,565 

          243,590         214,182 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

Administration expenses 6             9,112             9,540 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                 115                283 

TOTAL EXPENSES          252,817         224,005 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX           (91,238)         210,489 

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/BENEFIT 7(a)               (497)             4,012 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX           (91,735)         214,501 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the year       1,649,341      1,434,840 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year       1,557,606      1,649,341 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The RBF Contributory Scheme (the Scheme) is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant 

to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993.

  Reforms to public sector superannuation, effective 15 May 1999, have resulted in the closure of the Scheme to public 

sector employees employed on or after that date.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed,  

and relevant legislative requirements. 

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet  

effective have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined  

in the table below.



56  retirement benefits fund annual report 08

AASB Amendment /

Standard Title

Nature of change 

to accounting 

policy

Application date 

of standard

Application date 

for the fund
2007-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 8 (AASB 5, AASB 6, 

AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB 119, 

AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136, 

AASB 1023 & AASB 1038).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

2007-6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 123 (AASB 1, AASB 101, 

AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & 

AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 

& 12).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

2007-8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 123 (AASB 1, AASB 101, 

AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & 

AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 

& 12).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

2007-9 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising 

from the Review of AASs 27, 29 

and 31 (AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 8, 

AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 116, 

AASB 127 & AASB 137).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 July 2008 1 July 2008

2008-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standard - Share-

based Payments: Vesting 

Conditions and Cancellations 

(AASB 2).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

2008-2 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Puttable 

Financial Instruments and 

Obligations arising on Liquidation 

(AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 132, 

AASB 139 & Interpretation 2).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

2008-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 3 and AASB 127 (AASBs 

1, 2, 4, 5, 7. 101, 107, 112, 114, 116, 

121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 

137, 138 & 139 and Interpretations 

9 & 107).

No	change	to	

accounting policy.

1 July 2009 1 July 2009
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  If these accounting standards had been adopted, we do not believe that there would have been a material impact to 

either	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	for	the	year	to	30	June	2008	or	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	as	at	 

30 June 2008.

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Accrued	Benefits	-	The	amount	of	accrued	benefits	has	been	actuarially	determined.	The	key	

assumptions are discussed in note 12

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Investments 

  Investments of the Scheme are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and 

derivatives	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 9. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of the Scheme are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).
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(e) Cash and cash equivalents

	 	Cash	and	short-term	deposits	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	

with an original maturity of three months or less. 

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 

settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the 

debt will not be collected. Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over the terms of the relevant contract. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors and accrued 

expenses are normally settled on 30 day terms. The interfund payables are non-interest bearing and repayable on a 

monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have 

an effect on two or more sub funds. The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of 

the account and timing of the settlement.

(g) Accrued benefits

	 	The	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	the	Scheme	at	30	June	2008	is	not	included	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets,	the	amount	

being reported by way of note (note 12).

  The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments 

which arise from membership of the Scheme, to the measurement date.  The figure reported in note 12 has been 

determined by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate 

and relevant actuarial assumptions.

  A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2008 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(h) Employee entitlements

  Provision is made for the Scheme’s liability for employee entitlements arising from services rendered by the Board’s 

employees to the end of the financial year. These benefits include annual leave, long service leave and superannuation.  

Employee entitlements expected to be settled within one year arising from salaries, annual leave and long service 

leave, have been measured at their nominal amount. Other employee entitlements, payable later than one year, have 

been measured at the present value of the estimated cash flow in respect of services provided by employees up to 

the reporting date.  In determining the present value of future cash flows, the interest rates attaching to government 

securities, which have terms to maturity, approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

 Employee entitlement expenses are in respect of the following categories:

	 •	 wages	and	salaries,	annual	leave,	long	service	leave	and	sick	leave;

	 •	 other	types	of	employee	entitlements,

	 	are	included	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	on	a	net	basis	in	their	respective	categories.

  Superannuation contributions to employees’ accumulation funds are charged as expenses when incurred. Increases in 

liabilities of employees’ defined benefit fund are charged as expenses when incurred.
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(i) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of 

Changes	in	Net	Assets.	

 Contributions Revenue 

  Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any tax, in the period 

to which they relate.  

 Interest 

  Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

 Dividends 

 Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on the Scheme’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(j) Foreign currency 

 Both the functional and presentation currency of the Fund is Australian dollars.

  Cash and investment transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the 

date of the transaction into the portfolio currency equivalents (the ‘functional currency’).

  Subsequent foreign denominated cash and investments are re-valued, using the exchange rate at the reporting date into 

the functional currency. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on 

disposals	or	settlements	of	monetary	assets	and	liabilities	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	in	the	

period in which they arise.

(k) Leases

  Leases are classified at their inception as either an operating or finance lease based on the economic substance of the 

agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

  Operating leases 

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and 

benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis in the periods in which  

they are incurred.
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(l) Income tax

  The Scheme is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment 

Act. Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

	 	Income	tax	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	for	the	year	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	is	

reflected	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset, relating to tax losses and timing differences, is not carried forward as an 

asset, unless the benefit has a high probability of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income  

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(m) Goods and services tax (GST)

  Revenues are recognised net of the amount of GST where applicable. Expenses and assets are also recognised net of the 

amount of GST where applicable to the extent that the GST is recoverable from the taxation authority. Where GST is not 

recoverable, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as an expense item as applicable.

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST.

  The net amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of receivables in the Statement of  

Net	Assets.

(n) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 

recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

member’s accounts.
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(o) Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are measured at a notional net market value. This notional net market value has been 

calculated by using the written down values provided in the Board’s asset register. The Board uses this method as property, 

plant and equipment is generally not disposed of until all service potential is exhausted. 

  The Board has deemed the depreciation expense to approximate the change in net market value.

(p) Benefits payable

  Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal prior to year end but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(q) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(r) Comparatives

  Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 29,592 43,659

International equities 23,375 14,234

Diversified fixed interest 15,611 9,859

Property 10,254 8,701

Alternative investments 18,264 10,217

Cash deposits 10,595 9,115

107,691 95,785

Income type dissection

Interest 12,116 13,414

Dividends 20,274 33,292

Distributions 72,873 46,992

Property rentals 2,428 2,087

107,691 95,785
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4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (69,642) 75,366

International equities (67,954) 25,950

Diversified fixed interest (8,563) (2,272)

Property 17,574 21,615

Alternative investments 1,424 6,697

Cash (1,154) 519

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (128,315) 127,875

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (17,839) 10,993

International equities (13,130) 11,850

Diversified fixed interest 2,270 (248)

Property 133 39

Alternative investments 33 33

Cash (1,862) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (30,395) 22,667

Total change in net market value of investments (158,710) 150,542

5. OTHER REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Fund contributions to the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme - (37)

Change in net market value of other assets (6,745) (4,120)

Cost recoveries 27 20

Medical fund commissions 19 19

Profit on sale of equipment 5 2

Family law fees 5 8

(6,689) (4,108)

  The increase in the change in net market value of other assets for the year was the result of write offs of previously 

capitalised project assets on the property, plant and equipment asset register. The future economic benefit of these 

written off capitalised project assets was less than 12 months. 
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6. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Salary related payments 8,834 7,461

Superannuation expense          (i) 1,262 2,010

Consultants 1,077 986

Computer, software and communications 1,640 1,574

GST 647 606

Other                (ii) 4,324 3,015

Recoveries from sub funds           (iii) (8,672) (6,112)

9,112 9,540

 The major increases for the year were:

 (i)  Superannuation: accounting standard AASB 119 Employee Benefits has added volatility to the valuation of unfunded 

superannuation liabilities. Consequently the associated expense may vary from year to year

 (ii)  Other expenses: there has been across the board increases in expenditure for the other expenses of the Fund.  

This includes general office expenses and staff related expenses

 (iii) Recoveries: an increase in funds under management has lead to increased recovery from the sub funds.

7.  INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, the Scheme is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions 

and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with 

revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

 (a) The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (383) 9,335

Deferred tax 10,004 (5,551)

(Under)/over provisions prior years - current year  (9,931) 216

(Under)/over provisions prior years - deferred tax (187) 12

(497) 4,012

  The majority of the above 2008 under provisions resulted from 2006 Federal Budget changes the government announced 

relating to the use of Pre 1 July 1988 Funding Credits (PJFC’s).  The changes introduced a new methodology for the 

calculation of the tax credit available for PJFC’s, effective for the 2006 financial year.  The resultant calculation changes 

were not finalised by the Government until December 2006.  Subsequent to the introduction of the regulations 

containing these changes, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is currently still unclear as to the precise application of the 

methodology in relation to the Fund.

 As such, the Fund’s 2006, 2007 and 2008 PJFC’s claims are still being negotiated with the ATO.  
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 The PJFC’s under provision adjustment totals consists of:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Reduction in 2006 PJFC claim 3,813 -

Reduction in 2007 PJFC claim 6,293 -

10,106 -

(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax (expense)/benefit  

as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit/(expense) on change in net assets before income tax at 15% 13,686 (31,573)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (969) (2,430)

Non	deductible	expenditure (56) (65)

Benefits paid (36,538) (32,127)

Other 1,946 (426)

(35,617) (35,048)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 7,227 7,050

Untaxed contributions 23,092 24,096

Pre July 1988 funding credits 1,242 3,068

Exempt investment income 1,410 1,932

Discount on realised gains 249 2,886

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (6,812) 2,999

Pension exemption (1,443) 11,081

Death and invalidity 328 1,188

Other (106) 83

25,187 54,383

Tax effect of:

(Under)/over provision for prior years (10,118) 228

Tax credits 6,365 16,022

(3,753) 16,250

Income tax (expense)/benefit (497) 4,012
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax receivable 13,257 14,441

(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 179 (17) 162

Administration expenses 2,588 398 2986

Pensions (63) (5) (68)

Balance as 30 June 2008 2,704 376 3,080 

Investment income 152 27 179

Administration expenses 2,10 578 2,588

Pensions (59) (4) (63)

Balance as 30 June 2007 2,103 601 2,704

(e) Deferred tax liability:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Contributions 628 87 715

Investment income 34,730 (16,768) 17,962

Pensions (10,898) 7,240 (3658) 

Balance as 30 June 2008 24,460 (9,441) 15,019 

Contributions 538 90 628

Investment income 26,531 8,199 34,730

Administration expenses 39 (39) -

Pensions (8,788) (2,110) (10,898)

Balance as 30 June 2007 18,320 6,140 24,460
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(F)  Reconciliation of tax (expense)/benefit

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 56,534 at 15%) 8,480 (36,201)

Imputation credits 5,396 13,592

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (6,563) 5,885

Exempt investment income 1,410 1,932

Pension exemption (1,443) 11,081

7,280 (3,711)

Employer contributions (174,611 at 15%) (26,192) -

Pre July 1988 funding credits 1,243 3,068

Contributions relating to untaxed benefits 22,792 1,557

(2,157) 4,625

Other revenue (loss 6,689 at 15%) 1,003 616

Expenses (9,227 at 15%) 1,384 1,474

Non	deductible	expenditure (56)  (65)

Death and invalidity 328 1,188

Other 1,839 (343)

3,495 2,254

(Under)/Over provision prior years (10,118) 228

Income tax (expense)/benefit per financial statements (497) 4,012

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Sundry debtors                                                                    12 6

Prepayments                                                                       244 294

256 300

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.
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9.  DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest  96,411 79,920

Mortgages 114,742 54,795

Provision for mortgage defaults (1,269) (685)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 209,884 134,030

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.10% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 685 691

Amounts adjusted 584 (6)

Closing balance 30 June 1,269 685

10.  OTHER PAYABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Due within 12 months

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses  3,382 4,602

  Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

11. CONTRIBUTIONS IN ADVANCE

  The Retirement Benefits Regulations 1994 require the Board to maintain separate accounts for various monies paid to 

the Fund.  In 1993 a contribution was received in advance which covered the expected liability of all current and former 

members of the Scheme who were previously employed by the Tasmanian Government Insurance Office (TGIO).

  The State Actuary provided a review, dated 2 December 2005, of the liability as at 30 June 2006 in respect of the 

former TGIO employees. The State Actuary noted that a surplus in excess of the actual liability had built up since the 

commencement	of	these	accounts.	The	State	Actuary	recommended	that	these	accounts	be	reduced	by	$6.35M.	

  Advice was obtained from the Solicitor General of Tasmania as to how the reduction in these accounts could be executed. 

The Board is considering that advice and researching the various options. Consequently no action in regard to this surplus 

has been taken.

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 1 July 12,086 10,991

Additional provisions 1,883 1,459

Amounts used/adjusted (380) (364)

Closing balance 30 June 13,589 12,086
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12.  TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE

  The liability for accrued benefits represents the Scheme’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries 

and has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the 

membership of the Scheme up to the reporting date.  

  The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a 

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  The Accrued Benefits were last valued in the 

triennial review at 30 June 2007 and that measurement has been disclosed.

2007 2005

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 4,555,983 3,892,933

 In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

13. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Scheme (or any factor other 

than resignation from the Scheme) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated 

their membership as at the reporting date.   

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 5,112,595 4,850,515

14. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

	 	The	vested	benefits	referred	to	in	Note	13	are	guaranteed	under	the	Retirement	Benefits	Regulations	1994	by	the	

responsible Minister.

15. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  Employer contributions to the Scheme, which vary in line with employee contributions, are unfunded, being made on an 

‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made 

at a specified rate of salary.  This is reflected in the difference between the net assets available to pay benefits and the 

amount of accrued benefits as at the reporting date.

16. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Tasmanian Audit Office 

- Audit of financial statements 135 148

17. INSURANCE

 The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Fund is a self insurer.
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18.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 (a) The Board participates in non-cancellable leasing arrangements for motor vehicles it uses. 

  Under these arrangements the RBF Board:

	 	 •	 Is	not	required	to	purchase	the	motor	vehicles	at	the	end	of	the	lease	period,

	 	 •	 	The	lessee	is	Fleet	Australia	and	the	lessor	is	the	Tasmanian	Department	of	Treasury	and	Finance,	with	the	Board	

being the sub lessor of the motor vehicles,

	 	 •	 There	are	no	restrictions	imposed	by	the	lease	arrangements.

 (b) The total amount of lease expense recognised in the financial year was: 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Lease expense recognised 40 22

 (c) The minimum lease payments under the lease are:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

	 	 •	 not	later	than	one	year 40 6

	 	 •	 later	than	one	year	and	not	later	than	five	years. 6 -

 (d) There are no contingent leases.

19. BOARD/KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

 The names and positions held by the Board and key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year:

Board/Key Management Person Position

Mr D Egan President of the RBF Board

Ms A Schiwy Deputy President of the Board

Ms K Backhouse Board Member (ceased 12 May 2008)

Ms K Besharati Board Member

Ms	N	Ellis Board Member

Mr L Jones Board Member 

Mr J Wilcox Board Member

Mr S Gillies Chief Executive Officer

Mr D Ambroz Executive Manager Member Administration 

Mr A Davey Executive Manager Business Process & Analysis 

Mr R Mackenzie Executive Manager Strategy & Member Services 

Mr L Roberts Executive Manager  Stakeholder Services

Mr K Webster Executive Manager Technology & Business Services 
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 The compensation received or receivable by the Board and key management personnel of the Fund:

Compensation 2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Short term employee benefits 1,085 1,247

Post employment benefits 209 526

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

  Transactions between related parties are on a normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 

available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

  There have been no related party transactions between the Board or key management personnel during the year.

  Interfund transactions arise in the normal course of business and are treated as a receivable or payable at year end in line 

with fund policy note 2(f ).

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

22. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Provision for long service leave 751 819

Provision for annual leave 693 588

Provision for superannuation (note 23) 12,979 13,077

14,422 14,484

Opening balance 1 July 14,484 13,744

Additional provisions 1,583 2,382

Amounts used/adjusted (1,645) (1,642)

Closing balance 30 June 14,422 14,484

The number of employees at year end was: 154 133

23. THE BOARD’S EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS 

  The employees of the Board prior to 15 May 1999 were entitled to become members of the Scheme. The Scheme is 

a defined benefit fund which pays lump sum and pension benefits to members upon retirement (most of which are 

calculated as a multiple of the member’s final average salary).  The employer contributions are funded on an emerging 

cost basis and have not been fully funded by the Board at balance date. An actuarial assessment of the net present value 

of	the	future	cost	has	been	raised	as	a	liability	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	(see	note	22).	Below	are	set	out	details	of	the	

key assumptions and other disclosures as required by AASB 119 Employee Benefits. The figures include the liability for the 

Scheme members and pensioners as well as members (ex-employees) who hold a Compulsory Preservation Account.
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Key assumptions

Key assumptions as at balance date and  

for following year expense 2008 2007

Discount rate:

Gross of tax 6.60% 6.00%

Net of tax 6.50% 5.90%

Salary rate: 4.50% 4.50%

Expected return on the scheme assets (net of tax) 7.00% 7.00%

Inflation (pensions): 2.50% 2.50%

Tax rate for Employer contributions 14.36%(1) 14.29%

Tax rate for Discount rate 2.25% 2.25%

Decrement rates

As per the most recent 
actuarial investigation and 

report

As per the most recent 
actuarial investigation 

and report

Note1:  This tax rate is based on the balance of Pre-July 1988 Funding Credits balance as at 30 June 2008

The expected return on the scheme assets (net of tax) has been based on the expected long term returns for each of the major 

asset classed in which the Scheme invests.

Scheme assets

Asset disclosure 2008 2007

Australian equities 25% 30%

Overseas equities 20% 25%

Fixed interest securities 12% 20%

Property 38% 25%

Other 7% 0%

Note1: Small differences may arise due to rounding

Statement of Net Assets results as at 30 June 2008

Net liability 

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Defined Benefit Obligation 16,442 17,108

Contributions tax liability  1,863 1,868

Total Defined Benefit Obligations 18,305 18,976

The scheme assets(1)  (5,326) (1) (5,899) (2)

Deficit (2) 12,979 13,077

Net	liability	(note	22) 12,979 13,077

Current net liability 1,245 1,388

Non-current	net	liability 11,733 11,689

Note 1: Base on unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2008, rolled forward to 30 June 2008. 
Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
   The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.2% higher than our estimated assets.  

This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.

Note 3: Small differences may occur in totals due to rounding of figures.

Funded status
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Defined benefit obligations

2008 

$’000

2007 

$’000

Funded 5,696 5,889

Unfunded(1) 12,609 13,087

Total 18,305 18,976

Note1: The contributions tax liability has been included in the unfunded portion of the defined benefit obligation.

Movement in net liability

Movements in Net Liabilities 2008 2007

Net	liability	in	Statement	of	Net	Assets	at	end	of	prior	year 13,077 11,981

Expense	recognised	in	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets 534 2,016

Actual employer contributions (632) (920)

Net	liability	in	Statement	of	Net	Assets	at	end	of	year 12,979 13,077

Statement of Changes in Net Assets results for year ending 30 June 2008

Expense:

2008 

$’000

2007 

$’000

Employer Service Cost 427 502

Contribution tax expense 61 9

Total Employer Service Cost  488 511 

Interest cost 983 890

Expected return on the Scheme assets (410) (354)

Recognised actuarial (gains) / losses (527) 969

Expense recognised: 534 2,016
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Reconciliations

Fair value of the Scheme assets:

2008 

$’000

2007 

$’000

Fair value Plan assets at end of prior year 1 5,899 5,366

Estimated employer contributions 2 632 920

Estimated Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Estimated Participant contributions 4 232 238

Estimated operating costs 5 60 53

Estimated Benefit payments 6 902 1,732

Foreign currency exchange rate assets 7 - -

Business combination assets 8 - -

Curtailments / settlement assets 9 - -

Expected Return on Assets 10 410 354

Expected Assets at year end 11=1+2-3+4-5-6+7+8+9+10 6,212 5,093

Actuarial (loss)/gain on assets 12=13-11 (885) 806

Fair value the Scheme assets at year end(1) 13 5,326 (1) 5,899(2) 

Estimated Actual (loss)/return on the 

Scheme assets(3) (293) 891

Note 1:  Based on unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2008, rolled forward to 30 June 2008.

Note 2:   Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 

 The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.2% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 

previous years.

Note3:   Fair value of the Scheme assets can not be reconciled using the estimated figures shown in the table above, as a number 
of items such as net assets, operating costs and investment returns can only be estimated using the proportion of funded 
liabilities for each authority compared to that of the Scheme as a whole.
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Defined Benefit Obligations inclusive of contributions tax for disclosure purposes

Total Defined Benefit Obligations  

(net discount rate) (1)

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Total Defined Benefit Obligations at  

end of prior year 14a 18,976 17,346

Employer Service Cost plus operating costs 15a 488 511

Interest cost 16 983 890

Actual Participant contributions 17 232 238

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 18 60 53

Actual Benefit payments plus  

Contributions Tax 19a 902 1,732

Foreign currency exchange rate liabilities 20 - -

Business combinations liabilities 21 - -

Curtailments / settlements liabilities 22 - -

New	past	service	costs 23 - -

Expected Defined Benefit Obligations  

at Year End

24a=14a+15a+16+17-18-

19a+20+21+22+23 19,718 17,200

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25a (1,413) $1,776

Actual Total Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end 26a=24a+25a 18,305 18,976

Note1:  These figures include contributions tax.

Defined Benefit Obligations exclusive of contributions tax for reconciliation purposes

Defined Benefit Obligations  

(net discount rate) (1)

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at end  

of prior year 14 17,108 16,483

Employer Service Cost plus operating costs 15 427 501

Interest cost 16 983 890

Actual Participant contributions 17 232 238

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 18 60 53

Actual Benefit payments 19 902 1,732

Foreign currency exchange rate liabilities 20 - -

Business combinations liabilities 21 - -

Curtailments / settlements liabilities 22 - -

New	past	service	costs 23 - -

Expected Defined Benefit Obligations  

at Year End

24=14+15+16+17-18-19+20+21

+22+23 17,788 16,327

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25 (1,347) 781

Actual Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end 26=24+25 16,442 17,108

Note1:  These figures do not include contributions tax.
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Contributions Tax

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at  

end of prior year 27 17,108 16,483

Fair value the Scheme assets at  

end of prior year(1) 28 5,899(1) 5,366(2)

Net	Obligation 29=27-28 11,209 11,117

Contributions Tax at end of prior year 30 1,868 864

Contributions tax expense 31=32-30+3 61 9

Actual Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Expected Contributions Tax at year end(3) 32=(24-11) / (1-t(0)) times t(0) 1,929 873

Actuarial loss/(gain) on contributions tax 33=34-32 (66) 995

Actual Contributions Tax at year end(3) 34=(26-13) / (1-t(1)) times t(1) 1,863 1,868

Note1:   Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.2% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 
previous year’s figures.

Note 2:   Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.6 higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 
previous year’s figures.

Note3:   t(0) is the tax rate for employer contributions as at 30 June 2007 or 14.29%, t(1) is the tax rate for employer contributions as 
at 30 June 2008 or 14.36%.

Reconciliation of Actuarial (gain) / loss:

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss  

at end of prior year 35 - -

Actuarial (gain) / loss on assets 12(a) = (12) 886 (808)

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25 (1,347) 781

Actuarial (gain) / loss on Contributions Tax 33 (66) 995

Amount recognised during year in 

Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets 36 (527) 969

Immediate recognition gains/losses related 

to curtailment /settlement 37 - -

Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / 

loss at end of year 38=35+12(a)+25+33-36-37 - -
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Interest Cost:

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at end of prior 

year (net discount rate) 14 17,108 16,483

Actual Benefit payments Abp 902 1,732

Weighted for timing 51=abp / 2 451 866

Average benefit obligations 52=14-51 16,657 15,617

Discount rate D 5.90% 5.70%

Calculated Interest cost 53=d times 52 983 890

Interest cost used in calculation 983 890

Expected Return on Assets:

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Fair value of the Scheme assets at  

end of prior year 1 5,899(1) 5,366(2)

Actual Employer contributions 2 632 920

Weighted for timing 54=2 / 2 316 460

Actual Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Weighted for timing 55=3 / 2 - -

Actual Participant contributions 4 232 238

Weighted for timing 56 =4 / 2 116 119

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 5 60 53

Weighted for timing 57=5 / 2 30 26

Actual Benefit payments 6 902 1,732

Weighted for timing 58=6 / 2 451 866

Average expected assets 59=1+54-55+56-57-58 5,851 5,053

Assumed Rate of Return R 7.00% 7.00%

Calculated Expected Return on Assets 60=r times 59 410 354

Expected Return on Assets Used in 

Calculation 410 354

Note1: Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
   The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.2% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 

previous year’s figures.

Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
   The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.6 higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 

previous year’s figures.
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Net liability / (asset) at year end

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Actual Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end 26 16,442 17,108

Actual Contributions Tax at year end 34 1,863 1,868

Total Defined Benefit Obligation at year end 61=26+34 18,305 18,976

Actual Assets at year end 13(a)=(13) (5,326) (1) (5,899) (2)

Deficit 62=61+13(a) 12,979 13,077

Unrecognised past service cost 50 - -

Unrecognised net (gain) / loss B - -

Net	liability	 63=62-50-b 12,979 13,077

Note 1: Base on unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2008, rolled forward to 30 June 2008, and audited accounts as at 30 June 2007.

Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the Scheme have become available. 
   The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.2% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the 

previous year’s figures.

Actuarial gain/(loss) for year

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Defined benefit obligations  

(net of tax, prior year assumptions) 64 17,697 16,674

Contributions tax (prior year assumptions) 65=(64-13)/(1-t0)*t0 2,062 837

Defined benefit obligations (net of tax, 

current assumptions) 26 16,442 17,108

Actual contributions tax at year end 34 1,863 1,868

Actuarial (gain)/loss for year due to 

assumptions 66=26+34-(64+65) (1,454) 1,464

Actuarial loss for year due to experience 67=25+33-66 41 312

Actuarial (gain)/loss on assets 12(a) 886 (808)

Actuarial (gain)/loss for year 68=66+67+12(a) (527) 968

History

The amounts for the current and previous annual reporting periods are shown below.

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Total Defined Benefit Obligation at year end 18,305 18,976

Actual Assets at year end(1) (5,326) (5,899)

Deficit 12,979 13,077

Experience Adjustment on Liabilities 41 312

Experience Adjustment on assets 886 (808)

Note 1:  Based on unaudited accounts rolled forward to 30 June. Where audited accounts for the Scheme have subsequently 
become available, no adjustment has been made.



78  retirement benefits fund annual report 08

Funding and Contribution Information

The employer meets the cost of benefits as they emerge by paying a percentage of the benefit as it falls due, as defined in the 

Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

As at 30 June 2007, the present value of the total accrued benefits for the RBF Contributory Scheme as a whole for the purposes 

of	the	AAS25,	Financial	Reporting	by	Superannuation	Funds,	was	calculated	to	be	$4,555,983,000	(note	12).

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 

2007 

$’000

Liability for the Scheme as a whole 4,555,983

Net	market	value	of	the	Scheme	assets 1,649,341

Deficit (2,906,642)

The economic assumptions used to calculate these figures were:

Assumptions Rate % p.a.

Discount rate 7.00

Salary inflation (inclusive of promotional increases) 4.50

Rate of Compulsory Preserved benefit increases (AWOTE) 4.50

Rate of pension increases (CPI) 2.50

24.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

  Since the end of the financial year (and up to the time of signing) global financial markets have continued to experience 

volatility and declines in the value with ASX200 and MSCI World in Australian Dollar terms both falling 11.79% (Standard & 

Poor’s	Indices	and	3.68%	(JANA)	respectively	during	July	to	September	2008.

  The sensitivity of the Fund’s investments to changes in market indices, interest rates and currencies are presented in 

Appendix A.

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Scheme operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.
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26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

  Estimate of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may become payable:

  As at 30 June 2008 the Board was aware of seven (7) claims or potential claims against the Board. Some of these claims are 

unlikely to result in any damages being payable by the Board whereas modest settlements are likely to be negotiated in a 

number of others.  The maximum potential liability for all of these matters, including legal costs, is estimated to  

be	$200,000.

 Litigation against the Board 

  There are two (2) instances of litigation currently involving the Board.  

  One of these matters concerns an application being made to the Supreme Court of Tasmania by a member of the Fund 

with respect to a decision of the Board to decline that member’s application for an invalidity benefit.  The total liability 

for	that	matter	including	legal	costs	and	the	potential	benefit	entitlement	has	been	estimated	to	be	$150,000.		This	

application is being defended, although legal counsel is not able to predict the outcome at this time.

  The Board is also defending legal proceedings in relation to a claim arising from a property investment held by the 

Board.		In	late	2006	judgment	was	entered	against	the	Board	for	$71,124	plus	costs,	however	the	Board	was	successful	in	

obtaining an indemnity against two agents of the Board.  The agents successfully appealed and the plaintiff’s subsequent 

application for leave to appeal to the High Court was dismissed.  Accordingly, the Board will not incur any liability to pay 

damages to the plaintiffs, but will incur a liability to pay the costs of the agents.  The likelihood of the Board being able to 

recover those costs from the plaintiffs is uncertain.  The maximum potential liability of the Board with respect to the costs 

of	the	agents	has	been	estimated	to	be	$200,000.

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Contingent liabilities 550 991
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

  $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Cash Assets    

Cash at bank              6,548                960 

Receivables    

Investment income              3,396                265 

Other 7                940  - 

Interfund            79,509           47,258 

            83,845           47,523 

Investments    

Australian equities          339,089         413,020 

International equities          221,012         229,011 

Diversified fixed interest 8           67,494         132,269 

Property          148,122         152,560 

Alternative investments          140,050           97,412 

Cash deposits          149,585         120,844 

       1,065,352      1,145,116 

Other Assets    

Deferred tax asset 6(d)                  59                  54 

TOTAL ASSETS       1,155,804      1,193,653 

    

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Other 14                   (1)                    2 

Contributions                      -             2,619 

                    (1)             2,621 

Provisions    

General operating provision 12           27,372           20,390 

Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 6(c)           13,652           11,461 

Deferred tax (asset)/liability 6(e)            (4,896)           10,525 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable                 109                150 

              8,865           22,136 

TOTAL LIABILITIES            36,236           45,147 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS 9      1,119,568      1,148,506 

Represented by:    

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS    

Allocated to members' accounts 10      1,124,040      1,109,867 

Not	yet	allocated             (4,472)           38,639 

       1,119,568      1,148,506 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



retirement benefits fund annual report 08  81

 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 4           11,312             7,880 

Dividends 4           15,715           21,389 

Distributions 4           39,892           35,737 

Property rentals 4             1,343             1,093 

Changes in net market values of investments 5        (141,020)           81,162 

Direct investment expense             (2,860)            (3,422)

           (75,618)         143,839 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions            71,172           55,959 

Member contributions            77,243         116,051 

Transfers in          157,842         113,643 

          306,257         285,653 

TOTAL REVENUE          230,639         429,492 

    

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General operating fee            13,416             8,431 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                 250                885 

TOTAL EXPENSES            13,666             9,316 

BENEFITS ACCRUED BEFORE INCOME TAX          216,973         420,176 

    

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 6(a)             1,796          (15,982)

    

BENEFITS ACCRUED AFTER INCOME TAX          218,769         404,194 

BENEFITS PAID          247,707         112,019 

    

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the beginning of the year       1,148,506         856,331 

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the end of the year       1,119,568      1,148,506 

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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  2008 2007

 Notes $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Employer contributions  71,172 55,959

Member contributions  74,624 117,013

Transfers from other funds  157,841 113,643

Interest received  79 3,069

Distributions received  4,280 1,343

Property and alternative investment returns  1,343 1,093

Benefits paid  (247,707) (112,019)

Direct investment expenses  (3,297) (3,042)

Management fee paid  2,391 (3,256)

Income tax paid  (20,262) (7,551)

Interfund transfers  (32,251) (14,246)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid  (291) (827)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 7,922 151,179

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of investments  529,255 291,509

Payments for purchase of investments  (502,848) (420,264)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES  26,407 (128,755)

    

NET	INCREASE	IN	CASH	HELD  34,329 22,424

ADD	OPENING	CASH	BROUGHT	FORWARD  121,804 99,380

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 13 156,133 121,804

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The RBF Investment Account (the Account) is an accumulation scheme whereby contributions of the employer and 

the employees are made in accordance with the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 and the Tasmanian 

Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed.  The members are credited or debited each year with their proportionate share of the 

net investment income, administration expense and income tax expense of the Account.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed,  

and relevant legislative requirements. 

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Account is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

  All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.
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(d) Investments

 Investments of the Account are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and 

derivatives are recognised in the Operating Statement.

 The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 	Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 	Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 	All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 8. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of the Account are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and short-term deposits in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes 

cash at bank and cash deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used in the cash management 

function on a day-to-day basis.

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 

settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the 

debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. 

  The interfund receivable payable are non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a 

result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds. 

The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the 

settlement.
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(g) Accrued benefits

  The liability for accrued benefits is the Account’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries. This 

has been calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the carrying amount of the sundry 

liabilities and income tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Operating 

Statement.

 Contributions Revenue 

   Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any 

tax, in the period to which they relate.  

 Interest 

   Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

  Dividends 

Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on the Account’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(i) Foreign currency 

	 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(j) Income tax

  The Account is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment 

Act.  Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Accounts taxable income.

 Income tax on the Operating Statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 

 Income tax is reflected in the Operating Statement.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment 

gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  
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(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 

recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.

(m) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(n) Comparatives

 Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

3. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  The Account provides a means for former, current and new members of the superannuation schemes administered by the 

Board to invest compulsorily preserved and other funded superannuation benefits.  The Account is fully funded by those 

members. Member contributions are made on a voluntary basis.
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4. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 25,241 32,980

International equities 9,717 6,430

Diversified fixed interest 9,140 8,574

Property 5,317 5,470

Alternative investments 9,554 5,939

Cash deposits 9,293 6,706

68,262 66,099

Income type dissection

Interest 11,312 7,880

Dividends 15,715 21,389

Distributions 39,892 35,737

Property rentals 1,343 1,093

68,262 66,099

5. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (73,158) 42,057

International equities (50,076) 10,264

Diversified fixed interest (3,514) (3,152)

Property 10,575 14,470

Alternative investments 759 3,277

Cash (560) 326

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (115,974) 67,242

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (14,897) 7,094

International equities (10,651) 7,021

Diversified fixed interest 1,253 (240)

Property 65 26

Alternative investments 18 19

Cash (834) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (25,046) 13,920

Total change in net market value of investments (141,020) 81,162
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6. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, the Account is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions 

and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with 

revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax benefit/(expense) comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (13,652) (11,440)

Deferred tax 15,440 (4,541)

Over provisions prior years - current tax 23 20

Under provisions prior years - deferred tax (15) (21)

1,796 (15,982)

(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit/(expense)  

as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax expense on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (32,546) (63,026)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (1,074) (1,486)

Non-deductible	expenditure (60) (39)

Other (2,457) (466)

(3,591) (1,991)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 35,037 34,456

Exempt investment income
  

1,563 1,182

Discount on realised gains 277 1,765

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (6,010) 1,834

30,867 39,237

Tax effect of:

Over/(under) provision for prior years 8 (1)

Tax credits 7,058 9,800

7,066 9,799

Income tax benefit/(expense) 1,796 (15,982)
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 13,652 11,461

(d) Deferred tax asset

Opening balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 54 5 59 

Balance as 30 June 2008 54 5 59 

Investment income 40 14 54

Balance as 30 June 2007 40 14 54

(e) Deferred tax liability

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Contributions 268 (268) - 

Investment income 10,257 (15,153) (4,896)

Balance as 30 June 2008 10,525 (15,421) (4,896)

Contributions - 268 268

Investment income 5,948 4,309 10,257

Balance as 30 June 2007 5,948 4,577 10,525
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(f) Reconciliation of tax benefit/(expense)

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 75,618 at 15%) 11,343 (21,576)

Imputation credits 5,984 8,314

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (5,734) 3,599

Exempt investment income 1,563 1,182

13,156 (8,481)

Employer contributions (71,172 at 15%) (10,676) (8,394)

Transfers in (225) -

Expenses (13,666 at 15%) 2,050 1,398

Non	deductible	expenditure (60) (39)

Other (2,457) (465)

(467) 894

Over/(under) provision prior years 8 (1)

Income tax benefit/(expense) per financial statements 1,796 (15,982)

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Sundry debtors 940 -

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.

8. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 45,761  78,871

Mortgages 21,976 54,074

Provision for mortgage defaults (243) (676)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 67,494 132,269

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.10% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 676 466

Additional provisions (433) 210

Closing balance 30 June 243 676
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9. LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Changes in liability for accrued benefits:

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the beginning of the year 1,148,506 856,331

Plus: Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after Income Tax 218,769 404,194

Less:  Benefits Paid (247,707) (112,019)

Liability for Accrued Benefits at end of the year 1,119,568 1,148,506

10. VESTED BENEFITS

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Account (or any factor other 

than resignation from the Account) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated 

their membership as at reporting date.  

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 1,124,040 1,109,867

  Included in the above figure of Vested Benefits are members with an RBF Compulsory Preservation Account, being former 

members	of	the	Contributory	and	Non-Contributory	Schemes,	which	are	funded	by	the	employer	when	the	member	

reaches his or her preservation age.  At that time, the employer contributions are paid to the Account and a membership 

account is then established in the member’s name. 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 384,035 365,306

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

	 No	guarantees	have	been	made	in	respect	of	any	part	of	the	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	the	Account.
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12. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

  The administration expenses and income tax expenses of the Account were initially paid by the Scheme for the Fund.  

To recoup this outlay, the crediting rate of the Account is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on a percentage of 

net assets of the Account which varies between investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of the Account, the crediting rate of the Account is reduced by a specified rate. This 

rate is based upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year are explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 20,390 15,045

Add amounts deducted from members 16,129 11,141

Less amounts paid from provision (9,147) (5,796)

Closing balance 27,372 20,390

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.

 The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 3,874 5,713

Investment management 820   823

Income tax 22,678  13,854

Closing balance 27,372 20,390
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13. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)  Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after 

Income Tax:

 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

Benefits accrued after income tax 218,769 404,194

Changes in net market value of investments 141,020 (81,162)

Benefits paid (247,707) (112,019)

Non-cash	distributions	(note	13(c)) (58,489) (60,339)

   

Change in operating assets and liabilities   

Increase in other receivables (33,191) (14,245)

Increase in interest receivables (3,131) (255)

Increase in future income tax benefit (5) (14)

(Decrease)/increase in contributions payable (2,619) 962

Increase in general operating provisions 6,982 5,345

Increase in provision for income tax 2,191 3,868

(Decrease)/increase in provision for deferred income tax (15,421) 4,577

(Decrease)/increase in provision for mortgage (436) 210

(Decrease)/increase in superannuation contributions surcharge payable (41) 57

Net	cash	inflow	form	operating	activities 7,922 151,179

(b) Reconciliation of cash:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Cash balances comprise:

Cash at bank 6,548 960

Cash deposits 149,585 120,844

156,133 121,804

(c) Non cash transactions:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Dividends 15,715 21,389

Interest 7,162 4,556

Distributions 35,612 34,394

58,489 60,339

The above income transactions were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.
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14. OTHER PAYABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Due within 12 months

Sundry creditor                                                       (1) 2

 Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

15. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

16. INSURANCE

 The Account does not provide any death and disability insurance cover to members of the Fund.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Refer	to	note	20	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

19.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Account operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.
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 Notes 2008 2007
  $'000 $'000
ASSETS    
Cash Assets    

Cash at bank              2,479                167 
Receivables    

Investment income              1,886                139 
Contributions 8                  37                     - 

              1,923                139 
Investments    

Australian equities          179,666         181,360 
Overseas equities          123,181         110,335 
Diversified fixed interest 9           48,088           63,434 
Property            80,854           72,849 
Alternative investments            76,596           45,508 
Cash deposits            65,547           48,779 

          573,932         522,265 
Other Assets    

Deferred tax asset 7(d)                  28                  27 
TOTAL ASSETS          578,362         522,598 

LIABILITIES    
Payables    

Contributions                      -                    6 
Other 10                293                159 
Interfund            14,923           20,321 

            15,216           20,486 
Provisions    

Provision for death & incapacity insurance            14,678           12,528 
General operating provision 14           11,883             7,627 

            26,561           20,155 
Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 7(c)           12,288           11,653 
Deferred tax liability 7(e)            (2,018)             4,076 
Superannuation contributions surcharge payable                     8                     - 

            10,278           15,729 
TOTAL LIABILITIES            52,055           56,370 
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS 11         526,307         466,228 
Represented by:    
LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS    

Allocated to members' accounts 12         524,102         426,288 
Not	yet	allocated  2,205 39,940

  526,307 466,228

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2008
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 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 4             5,192             3,222 

Dividends 4             8,266           10,069 

Distributions 4           20,282           15,543 

Property rentals 4                699                523 

Changes in net market values of investments 5          (73,631)           39,672 

Direct investment expense             (1,641)            (1,615)

           (40,833)           67,414 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions            78,867           73,391 

Member contributions          132,651           45,991 

Other contributions 6                     -                  37 

          211,518         119,419 

TOTAL REVENUE          170,685         186,833 

    

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General operating fee              6,007             3,868 

Death & incapacity insurance fee              4,646             4,341 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                   40                530 

TOTAL EXPENSES            10,693             8,739 

BENEFITS ACCRUED BEFORE INCOME TAX          159,992         178,094 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7(a)            (6,184)          (13,680)

BENEFITS ACCRUED AFTER INCOME TAX          153,808         164,414 

BENEFITS PAID            93,729           62,973 

    

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the beginning of the year          466,228         364,787 

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the end of the year          526,307         466,228 

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME
OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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  2008 2007

 Notes $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Employer contributions  78,861 73,391

Member contributions  132,651 45,995

Other contributions  (37) 37

Interest received  427 1,472

Distributions received  2,309 641

Property and alternative investment returns  699 523

Benefits paid  (93,592) (62,762)

Direct investment expenses  (1,712) (1,453)

Management fee paid  (1,765) (2,282)

Income tax paid  (11,647) (10,057)

Interfund transfers  (5,398) 12,572

Death & incapacity benefits deducted  (2,496) (1,731)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid  (32) (530)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15 98,268 55,816

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of investments  283,893 158,823

Payments for purchase of investments  (363,081) (204,097)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (79,188) (45,274)

    

NET	INCREASE	IN	CASH	HELD  19,080 10,542

ADD	OPENING	CASH	BROUGHT	FORWARD  48,946 38,404

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 15 68,026 48,946

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) is an accumulation scheme established under the Public Sector 

Superannuation Reform Act 1999. It provides eligible employees with the minimum superannuation guarantee support 

under the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed 17 April 2000 which took effect on 25 April 2000.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and 

relevant legislative requirements. 

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. TAS is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.
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(d) Investments

  Investments of TAS are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. After initial recognition, 

investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and derivatives are 

recognised in the Operating Statement.

  The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 	Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 9. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of TAS are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and short-term deposits in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes 

cash at bank and cash deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used in the cash management 

function on a day-to-day basis.

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 

settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the 

debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. Pensions payable are non-interest bearing payable within 14 days.

  The interfund receivable payable are non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a 

result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds. 

The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the 

settlement.
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(g) Accrued benefits

  The liability for accrued benefits is TAS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries. This has been 

calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the carrying amount of the sundry liabilities 

and income tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Operating 

Statement.

 Contributions Revenue 

  Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any 

tax, in the period to which they relate.  

 Interest 

  Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

  Dividends 

Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on TAS’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(i) Foreign currency 

	 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(j) Income tax

  TAS is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act.  

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to TAS’s taxable income.

 Income tax on the Operating Statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

 Income tax is reflected in the Operating Statement.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income  

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  
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(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 

recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.

(m) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(n) Comparatives

 Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

3. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

	 	On	25	April	2000,	the	initial	account	balances	of	TAS,	being	the	account	balances	of	the	Non-Contributory	Scheme	as	at	

that date, were funded using surplus assets from within the Contributory Scheme, adjusted to take account of the income 

taxation differences between the two schemes.

  During 2008 employers contributed to TAS at the rate of 9% (2007: 9%) of the gross salaries of those employees who were 

members’ of the scheme.  Allocated and Term Allocated pensions are purchased on a commercial basis
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4. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 12,464 14,017

International equities 5,066 3,132

Diversified fixed interest 5,091 4,153

Property 2,815 2,616

Alternative investments 4,922 2,768

Cash deposits 4,081 2,671

34,439 29,357

Income type dissection

Interest 5,192 3,222

Dividends 8,266 10,069

Distributions 20,282 15,543

Property rentals 699 523

34,439 29,357

5. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (36,554)      20,777

International equities (27,356) 5,055

Diversified fixed interest (2,126) (1,480)

Property 5,510 6,976

Alternative investments 580 1,602

Cash (251) 159

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (60,197) 33,089

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares (7,935) 3,274

International shares (5,793) 3,403

Diversified fixed interest 713 (116)

Property 35 13

Alternative investments 9 9

Cash (463) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (13,434) 6,583

Total change in net market value of investments (73,631) 39,672
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6. OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS

	 Other	contributions	are	adjustments	to	the	back-funding	of	TAS,	described	in	note	3,	which	are	nil	(2007:	$36,941).	

7. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, TAS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (12,288) (11,645)

Deferred tax 6,101 (2,037)

Over provisions prior years - current year 9 10

Under provisions prior years - deferred tax (6) (8)

(6,184) (13,680)

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax expense on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (23,999) (26,714)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (638) (650)

Non-deductible	expenditure (36) (17)

Other (1,818) (907)

(2,492) (1,574)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 19,898 6,898

Exempt investment income 928 517

Discount on realised gains 165 772

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (4,488) 802

Pension exemption (390) 1,330

Other - 1

16,113 10,320

Tax effect of:

Over provision for prior years 3 2

Tax credits 4,191 4,286

4,194 4,288

Income tax expense (6,184) (13,680)
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 12,288 11,653

(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 25 4 29

Pensions 3 (4) (1)

Balance as 30 June 2008 27 - 28

Investment income 17 7 25

Pensions 3 - 3

Balance as 30 June 2007 20 7 27

(e) Deferred tax liability:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Contributions 184 (184) - 

Investment income
  

4,888 (7,865) (2,977) 

Pensions (996) 1,955 959 

Balance as 30 June 2008 4,076 (6,094) (2,018) 

Contributions - 184 184

Investment income 2,768 2,120 4,888

Pensions (743) (253) (996)

Balance as 30 June 2007 2,025 2,051 4,076
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(f) Reconciliation of tax expense

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 40,833 at 15%) 6,125 (10,112)

Imputation credits 3,553 3,636

Discount on realised/unrealised gains (4,324) 1,574

Exempt investment income 928 517

Pension Exemption (390) 1,330

5,892 (3,055)

Employer contributions (78,867 at 15%) (11,830) (11,009)

Expenses (10,693 at 15%) 1,604 1,311

Non	deductible	expenditure (36) (17)

Other (1,818) (908)

(250) 386

Over/(under) provision prior years 3 (2)

Income tax expense per financial statements (6,184) (13,680)

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Sundry debtors 37 -

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.
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9. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest investments 26,697 37,825

Mortgages 21,631 25,933

Provision for mortgage defaults (240) (324)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 48,088 63,434

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.10% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July  324 228

Additional provisions (84) 96

Closing balance 30 June 240 324

10. OTHER PAYABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Due within 12 months

Sundry creditors       10 3

Pension payable                                                           283 156

293 159

 Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

11. LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Changes in liability for accrued benefits:

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the beginning of the year  466,228 364,787

Plus: Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after Income Tax 153,808 164,414

Less:  Benefits Paid (93,729) (62,973)

Liability for Accrued Benefits at end of the year 526,307 466,228

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Consists of:

Allocated Pension Accounts 155,971 93,177

Term Allocated Pension Accounts 5,722 2,380

Superannuation Guarantee members 364,614 370,671

Liability for Accrues Benefits at the end of the year 526,307 466,228
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12. VESTED BENEFITS

  Vested benefits are benefits that are not conditional upon continued membership of TAS (or any factor other than 

resignation from it) being benefits that members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the 

reporting date.  

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Allocated Pension Accounts 156,320 69,456

Term Allocated Pension Accounts 5,734 2,167

Superannuation Guarantee members 362,048 354,665

Vested benefits at the end of the year 524,102 426,288

13. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

	 No	guarantees	have	been	made	in	respect	of	any	part	of	the	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	TAS.

14. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

  The administration expenses of TAS were initially paid by the Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the crediting 

rate of TAS is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of TAS which varies between 

investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of TAS, the crediting rate of the TAS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based 

upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 7,627 5,975

Add amounts deducted from members 7,433   5,146

Less amounts paid from provision (3,177) (3,494)

Closing balance 11,883 7,627

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.

 The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 1,848 1,468

Investment management 466 452

Income taxation 9,569  5,707

Closing balance 11,883  7,627
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15. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)  Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after 

Income Tax:

 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

Benefits accrued after income tax 153,808 164,414

Changes in net market value of investments 73,631 (39,672)

Benefits paid (93,729) (62,973)

Non-cash	distributions	(note	13(c)) (29,257) (26,598)

   

Change in operating assets and liabilities   

Decrease in other receivable - 205

Increase in contributions receivable (37) -

Increase in interest receivable (1,747) (123)

Increase in deferred tax asset (1) (6)

(Decrease)/increase in other payable (5,264) 12,575

(Decrease)/increase in contributions payable (6) 5

Increase in general operating provisions 4,256 1,652

Increase in provision for death and incapacity insurance 2,150 2,610

Increase in provision for income tax 635 1,580

(Decrease)/increase in provision for deferred tax liability (6,094) 2,051

(Decrease)/increase in provision for mortgage (85) 96

Increase in superannuation contributions surcharge payable 8 -

Net	cash	inflow	form	operating	activities 98,268 55,816

(b) Reconciliation of cash:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Cash balances comprise:

Cash at bank 2,479 167

Cash deposits 65,547 48,779

68,026 48,946

(c) Non-cash transactions

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Dividends 8,266 10,069

Interest 3,018 1,627

Distributions 17,973 14,902

29,257 26,598

 The above income transactions were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.
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16. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

17. INSURANCE

 TAS provides death and disability benefits to members. The Fund is a self insurer.

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Refer	to	note	20	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

  TAS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.
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PARLIAMENTARY  SUPERANNUATION FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

  $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Receivables    

Investment income                   20                    1 

Other 6                     -                  38 

                   20                  39 

Investments    

Australian equities              2,087             2,307 

International equities              1,745             1,925 

Diversified fixed interest 8                698                764 

Property              1,000             1,153 

Alternative investments                 693                779 

Cash deposits                 698                770 

              6,921             7,698 

TOTAL ASSETS              6,941             7,737 

    

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Other 7                  16                  10 

Interfund                 665                453 

                 681                463 

Provisions    

General operating provision 16                402                241 

Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 5(c)                    5                147 

Deferred tax liability 5(e)                  41                  75 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable                   21                  23 

                   67                245 

TOTAL LIABILITIES              1,150                949 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS              5,791             6,788 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 3                  41                  33 

Dividends 3                  97                139 

Distributions 3                324                243 

Property rentals 3                    9                  10 

Changes in net market values of investments 4               (908)                598 

Direct investment expense                  (29)                 (33)

                (466)                990 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions                 931                973 

Member contributions                   40                  32 

                 971             1,005 

TOTAL REVENUE                 505             1,995 

    

BENEFITS PAID    

Pensions              1,332             1,335 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General Operating Fees                 200                126 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                    (2)                    1 

TOTAL EXPENSES              1,530             1,462 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX             (1,025)                533 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 5(a)                  28               (166)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX                (997)                367 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the year              6,788             6,421 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year              5,791             6,788 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PARLIAMENTARY  SUPERANNUATION FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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PARLIAMENTARY SUPERANNUATION FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF) is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant 

to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993.	The	PSF	was	closed	to	new	members	as	at	11	November	1985.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and 

relevant legislative requirements. 

  The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 

received	Royal	Assent	on	27	November	2002.	This	legislation	had	effect	from	1	January	2003.	It	resulted	in:

	 •	 The	PSF	and	the	Parliamentary	Retiring	Benefits	Fund	being	transferred	to	the	Fund	as	sub-funds

	 •	 The	Board	becoming	the	corporate	Trustee	of	these	sub	funds

	 •	 	The	Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary 

Superannuation Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

  The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose 

of these regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds 

upon their incorporation as sub-funds of the Fund.

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. PSF is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.
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(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Accrued	Benefits	-	The	amount	of	accrued	benefits	has	been	actuarially	determined.	The	key	

assumptions are discussed in note 9.

	 •	 Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Investments 

  Investments of PSF are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and 

derivatives	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

 The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 	Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 	Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 	All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 8. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of PSF are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

	 	Cash	and	short-term	deposits	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	

with an original maturity of three months or less. 

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 
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settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the 

debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. Pensions payable are non-interest bearing payable within 14 days. The interfund payables are 

non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset 

allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds. The balance can fluctuate markedly 

between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(g) Accrued benefits

	 	The	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	PSF	at	30	June	2008	is	not	included	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets,	the	amount	being	

reported by way of note (note 9).

  The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments 

which arise from membership of PSF, to the measurement date.  The figure reported in note 9 has been determined by 

reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

  A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2008 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of 

Changes	in	Net	Assets.	

 Contributions Revenue 

  Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any tax, in the period 

to which they relate.  

 Interest 

  Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

 Dividends 

 Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on PSF’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(i) Foreign currency 

	 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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(j) Income tax

  PSF is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

	 	Income	tax	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	for	the	year	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	is	

reflected	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income  

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates  

to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 

recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured. 

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.

(m) Benefits payable

  Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal prior to year end but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(n) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(o) Comparatives

  Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.
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3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 141 181

International equities 112 62

Diversified fixed interest 65 52

Property 35 44

Alternative investments 65 47

Cash deposits 53 39

471 425

Income type dissection

Interest 41 33

Dividends 97 139

Distribution 324 243

Property rentals 9 10

471 425

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (402) 282

International equities (384) 99

Diversified fixed interest (30) (16)

Property 74 112

Alternative investments 5 28

Cash (6) 3

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (743) 508

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (93) 40

International equities (68) 51

Diversified fixed interest 9 (1)

Cash (13) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (165) 90

Total change in net market value of investments (908) 598
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5. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, PSF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax benefit/(expense) comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (5) (146)

Deferred tax 33 (20)

28 (166)

(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit/(expense) as 

follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit/(expense) on change in net assets before income tax at 15% 154 (80)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (7) (10)

Benefits paid (200) (200)

Other (34) (47)

(241) (257)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 6 5

Untaxed contributions 140 -

Exempt investment income 10 8

Discount on realised gains 2 12

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (76) 12

Pension exemption (13) 68

69 105

Tax effect of:

Tax credits 46 66

46 66

Income tax benefit/(expense) 28 (166)
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 5 147

(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 1 - 1 

Pensions (1) - (1) 

Balance as 30 June 2008 - - -

Investment income 1 - 1

Pensions (1) - (1)

Balance as 30 June 2007 - - -

(e) Deferred tax liability:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 122 (97) 25 

Pensions (47) 63 16 

Balance as 30 June 2008 75 (34) 41 

Investment income 89 33 122

Pensions (34) (13) (47)

Balance as 30 June 2007 55 20 75
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(f) Reconciliation of tax benefit/(expense):

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 466 at 15%) 70 (149)

Imputation credits 39 56

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (74) 24

Exempt investment income 10 8

Pension Exemption (13) 68

32 7

Employer contributions (931 at 15%) (140)  (145)

Contributions relating to untaxed benefits 140 -

Expenses (198 at 15%) 30 19

Other (35) (47)

(5) (28)

Income tax benefit/(expense) per financial statements 28  (166)

6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES  

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Accrued Contributions                                                 - 38

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.

7. OTHER PAYABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Due within 12 months

Pensions payable                                                       16 10

 Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 
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8.  DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 361  456

Mortgages 341 312

Provision for mortgage defaults (4) (4)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 698 764

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.10% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 4 4

Closing balance 30 June 4 4

9. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE PSF AS A WHOLE

  The liability for accrued benefits represents PSF’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has 

been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the 

plan up to the reporting date.  

  The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a 

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  The Accrued Benefits were last valued in the 

triennial review at 30 June 2007 and that measurement has been disclosed.

2007 2005

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 17,949 17,840

 In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

10. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE PSF AS A WHOLE

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of PSF (or any factor other 

than resignation from PSF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date.

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 18,452 18,437

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

  The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 

Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”).  

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  Employer contributions to the PSF are unfunded, being made on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which 

are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary.  This is reflected in the 

difference between the net assets available to pay benefits and the amount of accrued benefits as at the reporting date.
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13. INSURANCE

  The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Fund is a self insurer.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Refer to note 20 of the notes to the Financial Statements of the Scheme.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

16. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

  The administration expenses of PSF were initially paid by the Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the crediting 

rate of PSF is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of PSF which varies between 

investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of PSF, the crediting rate of PSF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon 

an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 241 150

Add amounts deducted from members 226  155

Less amounts paid from provision (65)  (64)

Closing balance 402 241

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.

  The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 54  43

Investment management 48 40

Income taxation 300 158

Closing balance 402 241

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 	Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 PSF operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

19. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 	Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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 Notes 2008 2007

  $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Receivables    

Investment income                   27                    2 

Other 6                  48                  85 

                   75                  87 

Investments    

Australian equities              2,698             3,044 

International equities              2,256             2,540 

Diversified fixed interest 7                901             1,008 

Property              1,289             1,518 

Alternative investments                 896             1,028 

Cash deposits                 902             1,014 

              8,942           10,152 

Other Assets    

Deferred tax asset 5(d)                    1                    1 

TOTAL ASSETS              9,018           10,240 

    

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Interfund 8                660                566 

Provisions    

General operating provision 15                442                335 

Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 5(c)                  68                  85 

Deferred tax liability 5(e)                  14                145 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable                 322                140 

                 404                370 

TOTAL LIABILITIES              1,506             1,271 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS              7,512             8,969 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008
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 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 3 58               45 

Dividends 3                137 186 

Distributions 3                437 321 

Property rentals 3                  13 13 

Changes in net market values of investments 4            (1,237) 804 

Direct investment expense                  (39) (42)

                (631) 1,327 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions                 385 405 

Member contributions                 173 142 

                 558 547 

    

OTHER REVENUE                     1 - 

TOTAL REVENUE                  (72) 1,874 

    

BENEFITS PAID    

Lump sums              1,050 - 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General Operating Fees                 166 188 

Insurance                   51 17 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                 181 38 

TOTAL EXPENSES              1,448 243 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX             (1,520) 1,631 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 5(a)                  63 (128)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX             (1,457) 1,503 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the year              8,969 7,466 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year              7,512 8,969 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members 

pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993. The PRBF was closed to new members as at 1 July 1999.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and 

relevant legislative requirements. 

  The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 

received	Royal	Assent	on	27	November	2002.	This	legislation	had	effect	from	1	January	2003.	It	resulted	in:

	 •	 The	PSF	and	the	PRBF	being	transferred	to	the	Fund	as	sub-funds

	 •	 The	Board	becoming	the	corporate	Trustee	of	these	sub	funds

	 •	 	The	Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary 

Superannuation Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

  The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose 

of these regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds 

upon their incorporation as sub-funds of the Fund.

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. PRBF is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.



retirement benefits fund annual report 08  125

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Accrued	Benefits	-	The	amount	of	accrued	benefits	has	been	actuarially	determined.	The	key	

assumptions are discussed in note 9.

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Investments 

  Investments of PRBF are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and 

derivatives	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of PRBF are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

	 	Cash	and	short-term	deposits	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	

with an original maturity of three months or less. 

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 
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settled within 30 days. Accrued contributions are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14 day terms. An 

allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. The interfund payables are non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These 

balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two 

or more sub funds. The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and 

timing of the settlement.

(g) Accrued benefits

	 	The	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	PRBF	at	30	June	2008	is	not	included	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets,	the	amount	being	

reported by way of note (note 9).

  The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments 

which arise from membership of PRBF, to the measurement date.  The figure reported in note 9 has been determined by 

reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

  A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2008 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of 

Changes	in	Net	Assets.	

 Contributions Revenue 

  Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any 

tax, in the period to which they relate.  

 Interest 

  Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

 Dividends 

 Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on PRBF’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(i) Foreign currency 

	 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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(j) Income tax

  PRBF is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

	 	Income	tax	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	for	the	year	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	is	

reflected	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income  

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 	Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 

recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured. 

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.

(m) Benefits payable

  Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal prior to year end but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(n) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(o) Comparatives

  Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.
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3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 195 241

International equities 150 83

Diversified fixed interest 90 69

Property 49 59

Alternative investments 87 61

Cash deposits 74 52

645 565

Income type dissection

Interest 58 45

Dividends 137 186

Distributions 437 321

Property rentals 13 13

645 565

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (553) 378

International equities (516) 135

Diversified fixed interest (41) (21)

Property 104 149

Alternative investments 11 38

Cash (7) 4

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (1,002) 683

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (132) 55

International equities (98) 68

Diversified fixed interest 14 (2)

Cash (19)

Total realised (losses)/gains (235) 121

Total change in net market value of investments (1,237) 804
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5. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, PRBF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

 (a) The components of the income tax benefit/(expense) comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (68) (85)

Deferred tax 131 (43)

63 (128)

(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit/(expense)  

as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit/(expense) on change in net assets before income tax at 15% 228 (244)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (10) (13)

Non-deductible	expenditure (1) -

Benefits paid (157) -

Other (57) (14)

(225) (27)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 25 21

Exempt investment income 15 10

Discount on realised gains 3 15

Discount on unrealised gains (50) 15

Other - -

(7) 61

Tax effect of:

Tax credits 67 82

67 82

Income tax benefit/(expense) 63 (128)

(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 68 85
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(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 1 -   1 

Balance as 30 June 2008 1 - 1 

Investment income 1 - 1

Balance as 30 June 2007 1 - 1

(e) Deferred tax liability:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 145 (131) 14 

Balance as 30 June 2008 145 (131) 14 

Investment income 101 44 145

Balance as 30 June 2007 101 44 145

(f) Reconciliation of tax benefit/(expense):

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 631 at 15%) 95 (199)

Imputation credits 57 69

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (48) 30

Exempt investment income 15 10

119 (90)

Employer contributions (385 at 15 %) (58) (60)

Expenses (398 at 15%) 60 36

Non-deductible	expenses 1 -

Other (58) (14)

3 22

Income tax benefit/(expense) per financial statements 63 (128)
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Sundry debtors/Prepayments    48 52

Accrued Contributions                                                 - 33

48 85

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The 

maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.

7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 466 601

Mortgages 440 412

Provision for mortgage defaults (5) (5)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 901 1,008

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.10% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 5 5

Closing balance 30 June 5 5

8. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE PRBF AS A WHOLE

  The liability for accrued benefits represents PRBF’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and 

has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of 

the plan up to the reporting date.  

  The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a 

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  The Accrued Benefits were last valued in the 

triennial review at 30 June 2007 and that measurement has been disclosed.

2007 2005

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 8,019 7,351

 In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.
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9. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE PRBF AS A WHOLE

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of PRBF (or any factor other 

than resignation from PRBF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date.

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 9,488 9,451

10. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

  The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 

Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”).  

11.  FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  The PRBF was established to apply to all those members who were elected to the Tasmanian Parliament for the first time 

after	12	November	1985.	The	PRBF	was	closed	to	new	members	on	1	July	1999.	The	PRBF	is	lump	sum	based,	with	any	

entitlement not being able to be converted to or paid in the form of a pension, other than an allocated pension.

  The PRBF receives regular contributions from the Tasmanian State at a multiple of member contributions, and is therefore 

considered to be fully funded. The objective of such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and 

other beneficiaries are fully financed from the PRBF by the time they become payable.

12. INSURANCE

  The scheme has a Group life cover. The insurer will pay a benefit under the policy to PRBF (policy owner) on the event of 

a	death	or	invalidity	benefit	being	paid	to	a	member	of	the	PRBF.	The	maximum	benefit	paid	under	this	cover	is	$400,000	

(2007:	$400,000).	The	Fund	is	self	insured	for	the	death	or	invalidity	benefit	in	excess	of	this	amount.

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 	Refer	to	note	20	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).
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15. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

  The administration expenses of PRBF were initially paid by the Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the crediting 

rate of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of PRBF which varies between 

investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of PRBF, the crediting rate of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon 

an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 335 199

Add amounts deducted from members 200  223

Less amounts paid from provision (93)  (87)

Closing balance 442  335

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.

  The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 42 28

Investment management 58 48

Income taxation 342  259

Closing balance 442  335

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

  PRBF operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

18. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

  $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Receivables    

Investment income                 202                  27 

Other 6                     -                166 

                 202                193 

Investments    

Australian equities            19,261           20,050 

International equities            16,107           16,730 

Diversified fixed interest 7             6,415             6,643 

Property              9,213           10,004 

Alternative investments              6,397             6,773 

Cash deposits              6,440             6,683 

            63,833           66,883 

Other Assets    

Deferred tax asset 5(d)                    7                    7 

TOTAL ASSETS            64,042           67,083 

    

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Interfund 8             3,169             2,020 

Provisions    

General operating provision 15                519                181 

Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 5(c)                651                604 

Deferred tax (asset)/liability 5(e)               (713)                193 

                  (62)                797 

TOTAL LIABILITIES              3,626             2,998 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS            60,416           64,085 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



retirement benefits fund annual report 08  135

STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 3                383                303 

Dividends 3                905             1,238 

Distributions 3             2,969             2,067 

Property rentals 3                  85                  32 

Changes in net market values of investments 4            (8,484)             5,388 

Direct investment expense                (213)               (232)

             (4,355)             8,796 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions              2,220             2,016 

Member contributions                 782                916 

              3,002             2,932 

    

OTHER REVENUE                     3                     - 

TOTAL REVENUE             (1,350)           11,728 

    

BENEFITS PAID    

Lump sums              1,787             2,699 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General Operating Fees                 621                279 

Insurance                 167                189 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                      -                    2 

                 788                470 

TOTAL EXPENSES              2,575             3,169 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX             (3,925)             8,559 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 5(a)                256               (897)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX             (3,669)             7,662 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the year            64,085           56,423 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year            60,416           64,085 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its 

members pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005.  

The SFCSS was closed to new members on 1 May 2006. The Scheme is operated for the purpose of providing for 

employees (and their dependants of beneficiaries) of the Tasmania Fire Service lump sum or pension benefits upon 

retirement, termination of service, death or disablement.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005, the State 

Fire Commission Superannuation Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

  The Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 received Royal Assent on 24 June 2006.  

This legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

	 •	 The	SFCSS	being	transferred	to	the	Fund	as	a	sub-fund

	 •	 The	Board	becoming	the	corporate	Trustee	of	this	sub	fund

	 •	 The	State	Fire	Commission	Superannuation	Scheme	Act	1994	being	repealed.

  The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 (the “Act’) is to ensure that 

equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the SFCSS upon their incorporation as a sub-fund of the Fund.

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

   Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. SFCSS is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.
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(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Accrued	Benefits	-	The	amount	of	accrued	benefits	has	been	actuarially	determined.	The	key	

assumptions are discussed in note 9.

	 •	 Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Investments 

 Investments of SFCSS are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments  

and	derivatives	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 	All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of SFCSS are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

	 	Cash	and	short-term	deposits	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	

with an original maturity of three months or less. 

(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 
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settled within 30 days. Accrued contributions are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14 day terms. 

Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over terms of the contract. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is 

only made where there is objective evidence that the debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. The interfund payables are non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These 

balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two 

or more sub funds. The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and 

timing of the settlement.

(g) Accrued benefits

	 	The	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	SFCSS	at	30	June	2008	is	not	included	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets,	the	amount	

being reported by way of note (note 9).

  The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments 

which	arise	from	membership	of	SFCSS,	to	the	measurement	date.		The	figure	reported	in	Note	9	has	been	determined	by	

reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

  A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2008 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of 

Changes	in	Net	Assets.	

 Contributions Revenue 

  Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any tax, in the period 

to which they relate.  

 Interest 

  Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

 Dividends 

 Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

 Distributions 

 Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on SFCSS’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.
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(i) Foreign currency 

	 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(j) Income tax

  SFCSS is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

	 	Income	tax	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	for	the	year	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	is	

reflected	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asst or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income  

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation 

contributions surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain 

termination payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions 

and payments for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will 

continue to be debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge 

is recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured. The 

superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant member’s accounts.

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.
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(m) Benefits payable

  Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal prior to year end but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(n) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(o) Comparatives

 Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 1,312 1,604

International equities 1,020 550

Diversified fixed interest 611 457

Property 326 275

Alternative investments 587 405

Cash deposits 486 349

4,342 3,640

Income type dissection

Interest 383 303

Dividends 905 1,238

Distributions 2,969 2,067

Property rentals 85 32

4,342 3,640
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4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (3,793) 2,537

International equities (3,559) 912

Diversified fixed interest (288) (133)

Property 683 993

Alternative investments 67 252

Cash (43) 27

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (6,933) 4,588

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (881) 361

International equities (645) 448

Diversified fixed interest 93 (12)

Property 4 2

Alternative investments 1 1

Cash (123) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (1,551) 800

Total change in net market value of investments (8,484) 5,388

5. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund 

for tax purposes. Accordingly, the SFCSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions 

and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with 

revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax benefit/(expense) comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (651) (606)

Deferred tax 907 (292)

Over/(under) provisions prior years - current tax 1 (1)

(Under)/over provisions prior years - deferred tax (1) 2

256 (897)
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(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit/(expense) as 

follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit/(expense) on change in net assets before income tax at 15% 589 (1,284)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (64) (88)

Non-deductible	expenditure (4) (2)

Benefits paid (268) (405)

Other (120) (120)

(456) (615)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 117 137

Exempt investment income 94 70

Discount on realised gains 16 105

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (527) 109

Other - -

(300) 421

Tax effect of:

Tax credits 423 581

423 581

Income tax benefit/(expense) 256 (897)

(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 651 604

(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 7 - 7 

Balance as 30 June 2008 7 - 7 

Investment income 6 1 7

Balance as 30 June 2007 6 1 7
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(e) Deferred tax liability

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance

Investment income 193 (906)  (713) 

Balance as 30 June 2008 193 (906) (713) 

Investment income (99) 292 193

Balance as 30 June 2007 (99) 292 193

(f) Reconciliation of tax benefit/(expense):

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 4,355 at 15%) 654 (1,319)

Imputation credits 358 493

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (511) 214

Exempt investment income 94 70

595 (542)

Employer contributions (2,220 at 15%) (333) (303)

Expenses (788 at 15%) 118 71

Non	deductible	expenditure (4) (2)

Other (121) (121)

(7) (52)

Income tax benefit/(expense) per financial statements 256  (897)

6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES  

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Sundry debtors                                  - 2

Prepayments                                                         - 164

- 166

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The 

maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.
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7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 3,328  3,961

Mortgages 3,121  2,716

Provision for mortgage defaults (34)  (34)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 6,415 6,643

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.10 % 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 34 31

Additional provisions - 3

Closing balance 30 June 34 34

8. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE SFCSS AS A WHOLE

  The liability for accrued benefits represents SFCSS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and 

has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of 

the Fund up to the reporting date.  

  The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a  

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

  The Accrued Benefits were calculated as at 30 June 2006 as part of the initial review of the Fund.

2006 2003

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 56,296 52,551

 In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

9. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE SFCSS AS A WHOLE

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the SFCSS (or any factor other 

than resignation from the SFCSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date. 

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 57,910 58,854

10. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

  The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Fire Service Act 1979 under 

Section 8 of the Retirement Benefit (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005.  
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11. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  The SFCSS receives regular contributions from the Tasmanian Fire Service and is considered to be fully funded. The 

objective of such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and other beneficiaries are fully financed 

from the SFCSS by the time they become payable.

  The value of the SFCSS’s assets as at 30 June 2006 was not sufficient to meet the liabilities in respect to vested benefits, 

therefore, the SFCSS was in an unsatisfactory position as per SIS Regulation 9.04. The previous actuary believes in his 

opinion, the recommended employer contributions will be adequate to return the Scheme to a satisfactory financial 

position over the next three years.

12. INSURANCE

  The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has taken out insurance to cover the part of the 

benefit in excess of the vested benefit.

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Refer	to	note	20	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

15. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

  The administration expenses of SFCSS were initially paid by the Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the crediting 

rate of SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of SFCSS which varies between 

investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of SFCSS, the crediting rate of the SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is 

based upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 181  2

Add amounts deducted from members 797 482

Less amounts paid from provision (459)   (299)

Closing balance 519   181

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.
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 The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 55  73

Investment management 49   31

Income taxation 415  77

Closing balance 519        181

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 SFCSS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

18. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICES 
SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

  $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Receivables    

Investment income                 121                  16 

Other 6                115                116 

                 236                132 

Investments    

Australian equities            11,468           11,794 

International equities              9,591             9,841 

Diversified fixed interest 7             3,819             3,907 

Property              5,495             5,894 

Alternative Investments              3,809             3,984 

Cash deposits              3,834             3,930 

            38,016           39,350 

Other Assets    

Deferred tax asset 5(d)                    1                    1 

TOTAL ASSETS            38,253           39,483 

    

LIABILITIES    

Payables    

Interfund 8             3,256                739 

Provisions    

General operating provision 15                346                130 

Tax Liabilities    

Provision for income tax 5(c)                393                377 

Deferred tax (asset)/liability 5(e)               (363)                175 

  30 552

TOTAL LIABILITIES              3,632             1,421 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS            34,621           38,062 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICES 
SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

 $'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE    

Interest 3                226                180 

Dividends 3                535                734 

Distributions 3             1,758             1,222 

Property rentals 3                  50                  20 

Changes in net market values of investments 4            (5,039)             3,216 

Direct investment expense                (126)               (155)

             (2,596)             5,217 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE    

Employer contributions              1,388             1,388 

Member contributions                 811                908 

              2,199             2,296 

    

OTHER REVENUE                     1                     - 

TOTAL REVENUE                (396)             7,513 

    

BENEFITS PAID    

Lump sums              2,729                638 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

General Operating Fees                 366                234 

Insurance                   96                161 

Superannuation contributions surcharge                      -                    1 

                 462                396 

TOTAL EXPENSES              3,191             1,034 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX             (3,587)             6,479 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 5(a)                146               (553)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX             (3,441)             5,926 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the year            38,062           32,136 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year            34,621           38,062 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICE  
SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. OPERATION OF THE FUND

  The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (TASSS) is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to 

its members pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) 

Act 2006. The TASSS was closed to new members on 30 June 2006. Benefits of members are calculated by way of formula 

as defined in the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Trust Deed.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory 

requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006,  

the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements.

  The Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 received Royal Assent on 26 June 

2006. This legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

	 •	 The	TASSS	being	transferred	to	the	Fund	as	a	sub-fund

	 •	 The	Board	becoming	the	corporate	Trustee	of	this	sub	fund

	 •	 The	Ambulance	Service	Act	1982	and	Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999 being amended.

  The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 (the “Act’) is to 

ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the TASSS upon their incorporation as a sub-fund  

of the Fund.

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

  The financial statement complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial 

statements, other standards, including AIFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ  

from AAS 25.

  Compliance with AIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. TASSS is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008. These are outlined in note 2(b) 

of the Scheme.
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(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

  The preparation of the financial report requires the making of estimates and assumptions that affect the recognised 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

	 •	 	Valuation	of	Accrued	Benefits	-	The	amount	of	accrued	benefits	has	been	actuarially	determined.	The	key	

assumptions are discussed in note 9.

	 •	 Valuation	of	Investments	-	The	key	assumptions	are	set	out	in	note	2(d).

 All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Investments 

  Investments of TASSS are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

  After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value. Gains or losses on investments and 

derivatives	are	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

	 •	 Cash	is	valued	at	face	value;

	 •	 	Listed	equities	are	recorded	at	the	‘last’	price	quoted	on	the	exchange	that	the	equity	is	listed	less	a	provision	for	

disposal costs;

	 •	 	Unlisted	equity,	hybrids	and	swaps	are	valued	at	net	market	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Bonds	are	measured	at	their	capital	fair	value	using	the	valuation	technique;

	 •	 	Foreign	exchange	contracts	are	measured	at	fair	value	(the	present	value	of	all	future	cashflows);

	 •	 	Options	and	futures	are	recognised	at	their	quoted	published	prices	in	an	active	market	and	on	exchange	bid	or	

offer prices;

	 •	 	Direct	properties	are	valued	at	their	net	market	values	as	determined	by	an	independent	valuer;	and

	 •	 All	other	investments	are	valued	at	the	net	market	value	as	assessed	by	the	Board.

  The Board has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from non-recovery of amounts owing on 

mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.

  The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation 

techniques that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

  The investments of TASSS are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

	 	Cash	and	short-term	deposits	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	

with an original maturity of three months or less. 
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(f) Other receivables and other payables

  Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 

settled within 30 days. Accrued contributions are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14 day terms. 

Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over terms of the contract. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is 

only made where there is objective evidence that the debt will not be collected. 

  Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 

to the Fund and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors are normally 

settled on 30 day terms. The interfund payables are non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These 

balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two 

or more sub funds. The balance can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and 

timing of the settlement.

(g) Accrued benefits

	 	The	liability	for	accrued	benefits	of	TASSS	at	30	June	2008	is	not	included	in	the	Statement	of	Net	Assets,	the	amount	

being reported by way of note (note 9).

  The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments 

which arise from membership of TASSS, to the measurement date.  The figure reported in note 9 has been determined by 

reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

  A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2008 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(h) Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

 Changes in net market values 

  Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or 

at balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of 

Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Contributions Revenue 

Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any tax, in the period 

to which they relate.  

  Interest 

Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment 

in, assets has been attained.

  Dividends 

Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

  Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

 Rent Income 

 Rent on TASSS’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.
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(i) Foreign currency 

 Refer	to	note	2(j)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(j) Income tax

  TASSS is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

	 	Income	tax	on	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	for	the	year	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	is	

reflected	in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets.

  Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is 

calculated on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur 

between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining 

taxable income the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or 

a deferred tax liability.  The net deferred tax asset relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as an 

asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

  The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income 

tax expense.

  The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 

investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

	 Refer	to	note	2(m)	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

(l) Superannuation contributions surcharge

  The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 

surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 

payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments 

for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be 

debited to outstanding balances on members accounts.

  Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 

individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge  

is recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  

The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant member’s accounts.

  The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 

through to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and 

reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant 

members’ accounts.

(m) Benefits payable

  Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal prior to year end but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(n) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
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(o) Comparatives

 Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 777 948

International equities 604 324

Diversified fixed interest 362 272

Property 192 162

Alternative investments 347 242

Cash deposits 287 208

2,569 2,156

Income type dissection

Interest 226 180

Dividends 535 734

Distributions 1,758 1,222

Property rentals 50 20

2,569 2,156

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian equities (2,255) 1,517

International equities (2,110) 548

Diversified fixed interest (172) (75)

Property 402 583

Alternative investments 39 159

Cash (25) 15

Total unrealised (losses)/gains (4,121) 2,747

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (522) 210

International equities (381) 264

Diversified fixed interest 55 (7)

Property 2 1

Alternative investments - 1

Cash (72) -

Total realised (losses)/gains (918) 469

Total change in net market value of investments (5,039) 3,216
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5. INCOME TAX

  As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund 

for tax purposes. Accordingly, the TASSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions 

and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with 

revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax benefit/(expense) comprise:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current tax (393) (377)

Deferred tax 539 (175)

Over/(under) provisions prior years - current tax 1 (1)

(Under)/over provisions prior years - deferred tax (1) -

146 (553)

(b)  The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit/(expense)  

as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit/(expense) on change in net assets before income tax at 15% 538 (972)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (39) (51)

Non-deductible	expenditure (2) (1)

Benefits paid (409) (96)

Other (71) (68)

(521) (216)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 122 136

Exempt investment income 56 41

Discount on realised gains 10 60

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains (313) 63

Other -

(125) 300

Tax effect of:

Under/over provision prior year - (1)

Tax credits 254 336

254 335

Income tax benefit/(expense) 146 (553)
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability 393 377

(d) Deferred tax asset:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance
Investment income 1 - 1 

Balance as 30 June 2008 1 - 1 

Investment income - 1 1

Balance as 30 June 2007 - 1 1

(e) Deferred tax liability:

Opening 

balance

Charge to 

statement of 

change in net 

assets

Closing 

balance
Investment income 175 (538) (363) 

Balance as 30 June 2008 175 (538) (363) 

Investment income - 175 175

Balance as 30 June 2007 - 175 175

(f) Reconciliation of tax benefit/(expense):

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Investment income (loss 2,596 at 15%) 389 (783)

Imputation credits 216 285

Discount on realised/unrealised (losses)/gains (304) 123

Exempt investment income 56 41

357 (334)

Employer contributions (1,388 at 15 %) (208) (208)

Expenses (462 at 15 %) 69 59

Non	deductible	expenditure (2) (1)

Other (71) (68)

(4) (10)

Under provision prior years - (1)

Income tax benefit/(expense) per financial statements 146 (553)
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Prepayments                   115 115

Sundry Debtor                                                            - 1

 115 116

  Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.

7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 1,982 2,330

Mortgages 1,858 1,597

Provision for mortgage defaults (21) (20)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 3,819 3,907

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.10% 1.25%

Opening balance 1 July 20 -

Additional provisions 1 20

Closing balance 30 June 21 20

8. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE TASSS AS A WHOLE

  The liability for accrued benefits represents TASSS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and 

has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of 

the Fund up to the reporting date.  

  The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-

based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

  The Accrued Benefits were calculated as at 30 June 2006 as part of the initial review of the Fund.

2006 2003

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 25,503 20,889

 In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.
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9. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE TASSS AS A WHOLE

  Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the TASSS (or any factor other 

than resignation from the TASSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date. 

  The Vested Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2007 and that measurement has been disclosed.

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 29,263 27,843

10. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

  The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Ambulance Services Act 1982 

under Section 8 of the Retirement Benefit (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005.  

11. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

  The TASSS receives regular contributions from the Tasmanian Ambulance Service and is considered to be fully funded. The 

objective of such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and other beneficiaries are fully financed 

from the TASSS by the time they become payable.

12. INSURANCE

  The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has taken out insurance to cover the part of the 

benefit in excess of the vested benefit.

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Refer	to	note	20	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).
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15. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

   The administration expenses of TASSS were initially paid by the Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the crediting 

rate of TASSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of TASSS which varies between 

investment choices. 

  To recoup the income tax expense of TASSS, the crediting rate of the TASSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based 

upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 130 -

Add amounts deducted from members 471  374

Less amounts paid from provision (255)  (244)

Closing balance 346  130

  The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense 

is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board in 

accordance with the Trust Deed.

  The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Administration 45 7

Investment management 54 44

Income taxation 247 79

Closing balance 346 130

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 	Refer	to	note	24	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

  TASSS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

18. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

	 	Refer	to	note	16	of	the	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	of	the	Scheme.
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APPENDIX A 

Additional financial instruments disclosures

Overview

The Fund’s assets principally consist of financial instruments which comprise Australian equities, international equities, 

diversified fixed interest, property, alternative investments (infrastructure, absolute return/hedge fund and private equity 

investments in listed / unlisted investment vehicles) and cash.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the Board by a number of external investment managers, with some 

investments being managed internally. All investment managers are required to invest the assets managed by them in 

accordance with the terms of a written investment mandate.

The Board’s internal management has day-to-day responsibility for managing the external investment managers.  Due to the 

specialised	nature	of	investment	markets	the	Board	also	engages	an	independent	asset	consultant,	JANA	Investment	Advisors	

Pty	Ltd	(JANA)	to	assist	and	advise	on	investment	and	portfolio	related	matters.		The	Boards’	internal	management	together	

with	JANA	assist	in	the	appointment,	ongoing	monitoring	of	performance,	monitoring	of	changes	in	key	personnel,	structure,	

size and management of the investment managers, organisation and ongoing liaison and reporting to the Board.

The Board has determined that the appointment and ongoing monitoring of these investment managers is appropriate for the 

Fund and is in accordance with the Board’s investment strategy.

For each investment manager there are agreed investment guidelines that define for each investment manager how the 

investment is to be managed, reported and measured including set parameters designed to minimise the exposures and risks 

within the portfolio. The Board obtains regular, typically quarterly, reports from each investment manager on the nature of the 

investments made on its behalf and the investment manager’s compliance with these investment guidelines.

As at 30 June 2008, approximately six percent (2007: 5%) of funds under management are managed internally, including 

Tasmanian property owned directly by the Fund and first mortgages in Tasmania.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework. The risk 

management framework is documented in the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy.

The Board’s Governance Committee oversees the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy and is assisted in its oversight role by 

Internal Audit.  Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc projects that consider key processes and controls in place to 

manage its key risk areas, which are reported to the Governance Committee.

The Board has established an Investment and Asset Allocation Committee (IAAC), consisting of selected Board Members. 

The IAAC has delegated responsibility for determining the allocation of assets between the various types of investments 

described above and investment strategy development. This includes oversight of the allocation of investments to fund 

managers, evaluating their performance and providing recommendations to the Board who has ultimate responsibility for the 

appointment of fund managers.

The	IAAC	receives	quarterly	reports	from	JANA	and	in	turn	reports	quarterly	to	the	Board	on	the	Fund’s	activities.		Divergence	

from target asset allocations and the composition of the portfolio is monitored on a weekly basis by management.

Further, the Board undertakes due diligence to ensure fund managers have appropriate skills and expertise to manage the 

Fund’s	allocated	investments	prior	to	their	appointment.		JANA	provides	advice	regarding	the	management	of	the	investment	

portfolio in accordance with the Board’s investment strategy.

All investment managers are regularly reviewed and assessed against performance targets.

The Fund’s investing activities and use of financial investments expose it to market, credit and liquidity risk. The Fund’s exposure 
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to and its objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing each of these risks is set out in the balance of  

this appendix.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in  

market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 

return on risk.

To treat market risk, the Board undertakes due diligence prior to the appointment of fund managers, conducts investment 

performance	and	benchmark	analysis	of	these	fund	managers	and	continually	monitors	market	conditions.		JANA	assists	in	this	

analysis and advises the Board in respect of these matters. 

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates.

The Fund is exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 

currency (Australian Dollars) of the Fund.  As at 30 June 2008 the Fund held 11 investments (2007: 8) which were primarily 

denominated in foreign currency.

Consequently, the Fund is exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other foreign currencies may 

change in a manner that has an adverse affect on the value of that portion of the Fund’s investments denominated in 

currencies other than the Australian Dollar.

The Board may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than its functional 

currency within the conditions of the investment strategy. The Board’s strategy of management of currency risk is driven by the 

Board’s investment objective and strategy.  The Board’s investment strategy allows a net exposure to foreign currencies of 15% 

of the Fund.

The Fund’s currency risk is managed back to the 15% (2007: 15%) exposure target through a currency hedge implemented on a 

rolling quarterly basis in accordance with the investment strategy. 

Specific instruments

Investment managers may use derivatives where the Board deems this appropriate and where it is documented in the contract 

with individual managers. The investment managers provide the Board with detailed Risk Management Statements which 

outline their approach to derivatives and confirm their approach is applicable to the investments they manage.

The Board monitors investment managers to confirm that the use of derivatives accords with the overall investment strategy of 

the Fund and is consistent with the performance objectives of each portfolio and sub fund.

The Board may, when it deems appropriate, use its custodian to enter into forward exchange contracts to reduce or remove any 

foreign currency exposure which are not already hedged by its international investment managers.
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The Fund’s total net exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates at the balance sheet date was as follows:

2008 Net Market Value

AUD USD JPY EUR GBP Other Total

A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27,135 11,142 175 711 189 1,271 40,622

Deposits held with brokers  

for margin 1,213 - 57 100 - - 1,370

Accrued income 5,454 559 59 10 209 374 6,665

Due from brokers - receivable 

for securities sold 2,096 1,835 1 26 38 - 3,996

Receivables - - - 63 - 104 167

Financial assets held at fair 

value through profit or loss 1,514,667 210,091 44,984 65,959 33,893 91,773 1,961,366

Total assets 1,550,566 223,627 45,275 66,867 34,328 93,522 2,014,186

Liabilities

Due to brokers - payable  

for securities purchased 3,677 1,959 34 201 244 - 6,115

Payables - 1 - - - - 1

Financial liabilities held at fair 

value through profit or loss (59) 2 17 30 170 93 254

Total liabilities 3,618 1,962 51 232 415 93 6,370

Net assets 1,546,948 221,666 45,224 66,636 33,914 93,429 2,007,816
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2007 Net Market Value

AUD USD JPY EUR GBP Other Total

 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000 A$,000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 52,492 2,720 385 510 526 568 57,201 

Deposits held with brokers  

for margin 1,247 183 - 192 - - 1,621 

Accrued income 5,448 295 42 0 211 46 6,041 

Due from brokers -  

receivable for securities sold 23,677 1,126 29 596 8 15 25,451 

Receivables 12 2 - 131 - 208 353 

Financial assets held at fair 

value through profit or loss 1,665,902 248,607 45,836 89,199 45,925 76,232 2,171,702 

Total assets 1,748,778 252,932 46,292 90,628 46,671 77,069 2,262,369 

Liabilities

Due to brokers - payable for 

securities purchased 19,764 962 63 - - 153 20,943 

Payables - - - - - - - 

Financial liabilities held at fair 

value through profit or loss 454 - - 1 - - 455 

Total liabilities 20,218 962 63 1 - 153 21,397 

Net assets 1,728,560 251,970 46,228 90,627 46,671 76,916 2,240,972 

Sensitivity analysis - currency

The majority of the Fund’s unhedged currency exposure is contained within the International Equities asset class. Currency 

exposures held in other asset classes are effectively hedged by investment managers. 

In	consultation	with	JANA,	the	Board	has	made	a	judgement	that	a	10%	weighted	average	movement	in	the	Australian	Dollar	is	

considered reasonably possible for the 2008 / 2009 reporting period.  The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor 

is based on the historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of the market benchmark for International Equities.  

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates and other market prices, remain constant. The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for 2007 and is not guaranteed.
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A 10% strengthening / weakening of the Australian Dollar (AUD) against the relevant foreign currencies at 30 June would have 

increased / decreased the change for the year in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and 

net assets available to pay benefits by the amounts shown below:

Impact on profit and loss

Impact on net assets  

available to pay benefits

- 10% +10% - 10% +10%

30 June 2008 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000

USD 3,575 (3,575) 3,575 (3,575)

JPY 1 (1) 1 (1)

EUR 60 (60) 60 (60)

GBP 123 (123) 123 (123)

Other 2,176 (2,176) 2,176 (2,176)

Total 5,935 (5,935) 5,935 (5,935)

30 June 2007

USD 333 (333) 333 (333)

JPY 15 (15) 15 (15)

EUR 89 (89) 89 (89)

GBP 55 (55) 55 (55)

Other 35 (35) 35 (35)

Total 527 (527) 527 (527)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

market interest rates.

The Fund’s financial instruments being directly exposed to interest rate risk are cash and cash equivalents, fixed interest 

securities and discount securities.

The Fund’s exposure to cash, cash equivalents, fixed interest securities and discount securities is measured against the target 

asset allocations on a weekly basis.  Currently all cash assets are held with Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation (“Tascorp”), 

Perennial Investment Partners Limited (“Perennial”) and Westpac Banking Corporation Limited (“Westpac”). The adequacy of 

Tascorp, Perennial and Westpac is formally reviewed by the IAAC on an annual basis and any changes in banking institution 

requires the approval of the Board.

Interest rate profile

The Fund holds investments in both domestic and offshore bond markets.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Fund’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2008 

$’000

2007 

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 207,045 262,705

Fixed interest 222,693 207,459

Discount securities 10,248 3,962

439,986 474,126
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Sensitivity analysis – interest rates

In	consultation	with	JANA,	the	Board	has	made	a	judgement	that	a	100	basis	points	movement	in	interest	rates	is	considered	

reasonably possible for the 2008 / 2009 reporting period. The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor is based on 

the historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of benchmark 10-year Australian and US Government bonds. 

US Government bonds were used as proxy for offshore bond markets.  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 

foreign currency and other market prices, remains constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007 and is not 

guaranteed.

An increase / decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / decreased the change 

for the year in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets available to pay benefits 

by the amounts shown below. Please note for fixed interest securities that are recognised at fair value through the profit and 

loss account, 100 basis point change in interest rates is likely to result in a negative five percent change in the fair value of the 

fixed interest security, this movement is disclosed in the sensitivity analysis below and is in accordance with AASB 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosure.

Carrying 

Amount

Impact on profit and loss

Impact on net assets available 

to pay benefits

- 100 basis 

points

+ 100 basis 

points

- 100 basis 

points

+ 100 basis 

points

30 June 2008 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 207,045 (2,070) 2,070 (2,070) 2,070

Fixed interest 222,693 11,135 (11,135) 11,135 (11,135)

Discount securities 10,248 (102) 102 (102) 102

Total 439,986 8,963 (8,963) 8,963 (8,963)

30 June 2007

Cash and cash equivalents 262,705 (2,627) 2,627 (2,627) 2,627

Fixed interest 207,459 10,372 (10,372) 10,372 (10,372)

Discount securities 3,962 (40) 40 (40) 40

Total 474,126 7,705 (7,705) 7,705 (7,705)

Other market price risk

Other market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by 

factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in 

the market.

All of the Fund’s financial instruments are carried at net market value with changes recognised in the Statements of Changes in 

Net	Assets	or	Operating	Statement.	Accordingly,	all	changes	in	market	conditions	affecting	net	market	value	will	be	recognised	

in	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	Net	Assets	or	Operating	Statement.	Investments	of	the	Fund	(other	than	cash	held	for	liquidity	

purposes and investment properties) comprise listed equities, unlisted equities, bonds, foreign exchange contracts, options 

and futures, direct properties and other investments. The Fund’s exposure to other market price risk is therefore limited to the 

market price movement of these investments. The Board has determined that these investments are appropriate for the Fund 

and are in accordance with the Fund’s investment strategy in respect of asset class allocation. The Fund’s exposure at year-end 

to other market price risk is detailed below. 
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In accordance with agreed investment mandates, some of the Fund’s external investment managers have invested in a variety 

of financial instruments, including derivatives which could expose the Fund’s investments to a variety of other market price 

risk. For investments in listed Australian equities, other market price risk arising on these investments is mitigated by the due 

diligence and research undertaken by the investment manager prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of the Fund. 

Further the Board monitors the value of all equity investments on a weekly basis through appropriate reporting from the 

investment managers.

Other market price risk is mitigated by constructing a diversified portfolio of instruments which are traded on various 

markets. All investment managers are subject to due diligence prior to being appointed with the recommendation for their 

appointment and removal made by the IAAC to the Board for final approval.  

The Board monitors the Fund’s investment value on a weekly basis and receives monthly reports from all investment managers 

which	detail	performance	against	relevant	benchmarks	and	objectives.		Each	quarter	JANA	provides	the	Board	with	a	

consolidated report on the performance of all the Fund’s investment managers against relative benchmarks and objectives 

including advice regarding the management of the Fund’s investment portfolio in accordance with the current investment 

strategy.

Sensitivity analysis – other market price risk

In	consultation	with	JANA,	the	Board	has	made	a	judgement	that	the	following	movements	in	other	market	price	risk	are	

reasonably possible for the 2008 / 2009 reporting period:

Market risk

Volatility 

Factor Rationale

Australian equities 15%

Average absolute annual returns on the Standard 

& Poor’s (S&P)/Australian Securities Exchange 

(ASX) 300 Accumulation Index

International equities 15%

Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) 

World Index ex Australia

Direct property 12%

Average absolute annual returns of the Mercer 

Australia Unlisted Property Index

Infrastructure 12%

Average absolute returns of long-running 

infrastructure mandates

Long / Short equities 15%

Average absolute annual returns of the Hedge 

Fund Research Indices (HFRI) Equity Hedge Index

Absolute return 8%

Average absolute annual returns of the HFRI 

Funds of Funds Composite Index
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The increase / decrease in the market price against the investments of the Fund at 30 June 2008 would have increased / 

decreased the change for the year in net assets available to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and 

net assets available to pay benefits by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 

interest rates and foreign currency, remains constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007 and is not 

guaranteed.

Volatility Carrying 

Amount

Impact on profit and loss

Impact on 

net assets available to pay 

benefits

% - + - +

30 June 2008 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australian equities 15% 1,705,692 (255,854) 255,854 (255,854) 255,854

International equities 15% 527,738 (79,161) 79,161 (79,161) 79,161

Direct property 12% 565,742 (67,889) 67,889 (67,889) 67,889

Infrastructure 12% 99,800 (11,976) 11,976 (11,976) 11,976

Long / Short equities 15% 3,643 (546) 546 (546) 546

Absolute return 8% 51,782 (4,143) 4,143 (4,143) 4,143

Total 2,954,397 (419,569) 419,569 (419,569) 419,569

30 June 2007

Australian equities 15% 1,900,750 (285,113) 285,113 (285,113) 285,113

International equities 15% 646,024 (96,904) 96,904 (96,904) 96,904

Direct property 12% 462,853 (55,542) 55,542 (55,542) 55,542

Infrastructure 12% 0 0 0 0 0

Long / Short equities 15% 1,453 (218) 218 (218) 218

Absolute return 8% 0 0 0 0 0

Total 3,011,080 (437,777) 437,777 (437,777) 437,777

 The following table summarises the aggregate notional principal of the futures and options contracts at 30 June 2008 and 2007.

Type of contract 2008 2007

A$’000 A$’000

Buy

Australian share price index futures 7,530 8,160

International share price index futures 481 1,334

Australian fixed interest futures - 9,640

Forward currency contracts 183,222 165,185

Total Buys 191,233 184,319

Sell

Forward currency contracts - 34,695

Total Sells - 34,695
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing 

to discharge an obligation. The Fund’s financial instruments being directly exposed to credit risk include cash and cash 

equivalents, mortgage receivables and other receivables.

The Board’s Instrument of Delegation and Operating Guidelines in respect to mortgage receivables is in place and the exposure 

to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Direct Investments Unit. The Instrument of Delegation and Operating 

Guidelines provides the appropriate guidelines as to:

•	 	The	approval	of	mortgage	loans	and	construction	finance	loans;

•	 Reporting	to	the	IAAC;	and

•	 Actions	taken	on	a	mortgagor’s	file.

The Fund does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments 

entered into by the Fund.

No	financial	assets	are	considered	past	due	as	all	payments	are	considered	recoverable	when	contractually	due.	

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised 

financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the 

statements of net assets/financial position and notes to the financial statements. The carrying amount of those financial assets 

exposed to credit risk are as follows:

2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 207,045 262,705

Mortgage receivables 164,110 139,840

Other receivables 94,530 55,350

Investments receivables 13,146 894

478,831 458,789

As previously noted, substantially all of the cash held by the Fund is held with Tascorp, Westpac and Perennial.  All funds 

invested with Tascorp are guaranteed by the sovereign State of Tasmania.  Bankruptcy or insolvency by Perennial may cause 

the Fund’s rights with respect to the cash held by Perennial to be delayed or limited.  The Fund monitors its credit risk by 

monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the cash manager through research conducted and advice given by 

JANA.

The Board appoints specialist fund managers to manage the assets and risk associated with the funds allocated to that 

manager.  For investments in listed equities and fixed interest investments, credit risk arising on these investments is mitigated 

by	the	due	diligence	and	research	undertaken	by	JANA	prior	to	the	Board’s	appointment	of	the	respective	fund	manager.		In	

addition, each fund manager uses their specialist skills and research to evaluate the credit risk prior to purchasing or selling 

equities on behalf of the Fund.  The investment strategy of the Fund restricts the level of equity investments which are not 

listed on a stock exchange.

Further,	JANA	provides	a	quarterly	update	to	the	IAAC	on	the	investment	performance	and	operational	issues	of	each	fund	

manager, which includes credit risk related areas.
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Credit risk associated with contributions receivable and other receivables is considered low as there is usually a short settlement 

period due to the receivables relating to timing differences in respect of the receipt of contributions from the employer 

sponsor. The employer sponsor comprises the Tasmanian State Government owned agencies. The Board monitors the ageing 

of the contributions and receivables outstanding on a regular basis.

Unsettled investment sales are transactions with investment managers that are awaiting settlement. The credit risk relating to 

unsettled transactions is considered not significant due to the short settlement period involved and the high credit quality of 

the brokers used.

Approximately 57% (2007: 64%) of the Fund’s investments are held by the Fund’s custodian JP Morgan Worldwide Securities 

Services. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the custodian may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to securities held by the custodian 

to	be	delayed	or	limited.	Management	monitors	its	risk	through	research	and	advice	from	the	JANA	regarding	the	credit	quality	

and financial positions of the custodian.

Impairment losses

The ageing of the Fund’s mortgage receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

2008 2008 2007 2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not	past	due 162,700 - 139,840 -

Past due 0-30 days - - - -

Past due 31-120 days - - - -

Past due 121 days to one year 1,410 - - -

More than one year - - - -

164,110 - 139,840 -

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Board’s approach 

to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that there exists immediate cash resources available to meet projected 

liabilities as well as having sufficient liquid assets to meet requirements in excess of projections without incurring unacceptable 

losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.

The Fund’s liquidity requirements are managed on a daily basis by the Board by reference to a projected cash flow report.

The Fund’s financial instruments include investments in unlisted investments, which are not traded in an organised public 

market and which generally may be illiquid. As a result, the Fund may not be able to liquidate quickly some of its investments 

in these instruments at an amount close to the fair value in order to meet liquidity requirements.  The amount of these 

investments, which is typically represented by certain asset classes, is monitored to comply with the asset allocation stipulated 

in the Board’s investment strategy. As the Fund’s investment strategy is determined with consideration to liquidity issues and 

the Board monitor the Fund’s compliance to the investment strategy, liquidity risk is considered minimal.

The Fund’s listed securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are listed on recognised stock exchanges.

The Fund’s overall liquidity risks are monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of 

netting arrangements:
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Non-derivative financial liabilities Less than 1 

month 1-3 months

Greater than 3 

months Total

30 June 2008 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables 6,115 83,198 - 89,313

Contributions and pensions payable 669 - - 669

Contributions in advance - - 13,589 13,589

Vested benefits - - 6,876 6,876

Total 6,784 83,198 20,465 110,447

30 June 2007

Other payables 20,943 52,031 - 72,974

Contributions and pensions payable 2,920 - - 2,920

Contributions in advance - - 12,086 12,086

Vested benefits - - 6,496 6,496

Total 23,863 52,031 18,582 94,476

Derivative financial liabilities

Less than 1 

month 1-6 mths Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Buy

Futures - 8,011 8,011

Forward currency contracts 758 221,401 222,159

Total buys 758 229,412 230,170

Sell

Forward currency contracts 1,740 37,198 38,938

Total sells 1,740 37,198 38,938

Vested benefits have been included in the greater than three months column, as this is the amount that members could call 

upon as at year-end. This is the earliest date on which the fund can be required to pay member vested benefits, however 

members may not necessarily call upon amounts vested to them during this time.

Estimation of fair values

The Fund’s financial assets and liabilities included in the statements of net assets or statements of financial position are carried 

at net market value which the Board believes approximates net fair value.

The major methods and assumptions used in determining net market value of financial instruments were disclosed in the 

significant accounting policies section of each fund’s financial statements.

At 30 June 2008, the carrying amounts of investments which fair values were determined directly, in full or in part, by reference 

to	published	price	quotations	amounted	to	$808,865,717	(2007:	$867,775,542).

The net fair value of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market price at balance date adjusted for transaction 

costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value. 

No	financial	asset	and	financial	liabilities	are	readily	traded	on	organised	markets	in	standardised	form	other	than	listed	

investments.

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the statements of 

net assets or statements of financial position and in the notes to the financial statements.
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APPENDIX D

INVESTMENT MANAGERS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

The investments of the Fund are managed by the following investment managers:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

452 Capital Pty Ltd 168,476 210,336

Alliance Bernstein Investment Management Ltd 144,139 173,189

AMP Capital Investors Ltd 286,054 238,205

BIAM Australia Pty Ltd - 131,582

Capital International Inc 201,575 206,366

Industry Funds Management Ltd 6,588 7,274

Eliazbeth Plaza 7,672 7,850

First Tasmania Investments Ltd 969 1,352

Gresham Property Funds Management Ltd 2,920 3,286

Hastings Funds Management Ltd 173,122 147,801

Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co 67,493 72,443

Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Ltd 222,508 189,570

Maple-Brown Abbott Ltd 267,700 339,248

Currency Overlay (Internally Managed Hedge) 1,476 12,143

Perennial Investment Partners Ltd 172,894 219,705

PIMCO Australia Ltd 96,136 127,664

Portfolio Partners Ltd - 70,623

State Street Global Advisors Australia Ltd 374,355 470,674

Super Loans Trust 5,869 5,677

Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation 155,177 199,422

Warakirri Asset Management Pty Ltd 120,588 144,336

Macquarie Goodman Wholesale Fund 33,995 22,536

Bridgewater Associates Inc. 61,568 50,536

GMO Australia Ltd. 30,640 27,423

Barclays Global Investors Aust. Ltd. 36,965 34,628

Wellington 64,289 61,157

Baillie Gifford 61,441 62,811

Goldman Sachs Global Fund 57,312 70,332

Pzena Investment Management 57,370 -

TGC Holdings 99,800 -

Triplepoint 51,782 -

Macquarie RVG 60,886 -

Brandywine Global 72,990

Internally Managed Property & Mortgages 213,171 177,412

3,377,920 3,485,581
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APPENDIX E
Individual agency balance sheet results as at 30 June 2008

These figures have been prepared for the individual agencies in setting their accounting provision for superannuation liabilities 

under the RBF in accordance with AASB119 “Employee Benefits” as at 30 June 2008, using a net of tax discount rate of 6.5%.

Defined 

benefit 

obligation

Contributions 

tax liability

Total defined 

benefit 

obligation

RBF 

Contributory 

Scheme assets

Deficit/ 

(Surplus)

Aurora Energy Pty Ltd 72,916,309 8,376,328 81,292,636 22,944,767 58,347,869

Cradle Coast Water 1,215,316 149,633 1,364,950 322,634 1,042,315

Esk Water 2,344,712 294,398 2,639,110 588,389 2,050,712

Forestry Tasmania 119,810,270 14,282,552 134,092,823 34,603,340 99,489,483

Hobart Regional Water Authority 4,947,833 625,981 5,573,813 1,213,353 4,360,460

Housing Tasmania 13,629,796 2,284,653 15,914,449 - 15,914,449

Hydro-Electric Corporation 342,670,789 42,956,687 385,627,476 86,399,548 299,227,928

Metro Tasmania Pty Ltd 21,440,710 2,612,504 24,053,214 5,855,017 18,198,197

Motor Accidents Insurance Board 2,582,515 344,279 2,926,794 528,611 2,398,183

Port Arthur Historic Site  

Management Authority 5,581,054 702,280 6,283,334 1,391,385 4,891,949

Public Trustee 10,077,962 1,239,422 11,317,384 2,683,813 8,633,571

Retirement Benefits Fund Board 16,441,646 1,863,188 18,304,834 5,326,228 12,978,606

Rivers & Water Supply Commission 379,231 46,584 425,815 101,319 324,496

Southern Regional Cemetery Trust 2,263,488 280,350 2,543,838 590,973 1,952,865

Transend	Network	Pty	Ltd 28,992,367 3,316,909 32,309,276 9,204,334 23,104,942

TT Line Company Pty Ltd 4,814,308 579,066 5,393,374 1,359,714 4,033,659

University of Tasmania 12,078,206 1,265,480 13,343,686 4,528,595 8,815,091

TOTE Tasmania 2,541,438 356,716 2,898,155 413,339 2,484,815

Total (1) 664,727,950 81,577,010 746,304,961 178,055,359 568,249,590

(1) Small differences in totals may arise due to rounding.
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Thirty-seventh Annual Report of the Retirement Benefits 
Fund Board for the year ended 30 June 2008

November 2008

Hon Michael Aird MLC  

Treasurer  

Parliament House  

HOBART 7000

Dear Treasurer

Pursuant to Regulation 19 of the regulations made under the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 (the Act), the Retirement Benefits Fund 

Board (the Board) is pleased to submit its report on the exercise of the RBF Board’s powers and functions under the Act for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2008.

The Annual Report incorporates a copy of the financial statements prepared by the RBF Board for the relevant period.

Yours sincerely

D F Egan 

PRESIDENT



R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S  F U N D  B O A R D
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Click 

super@rbf.com.au 

www.rbf.com.au

Call 
1800 622 631 

Fax: (3) 6233 3357

Post 

Retirement Benefits Fund Board 

GPO Box 446 

Hobart Tas 7001

The privacy of your personal information is important to RBF. We understand the need for privacy. RBF will hold your personal information 

securely and use it only for the purposes described in the RBF Privacy Statement. Your personal information may be transferred between  

RBF and RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd. Certain personal information which you provide to RBF may be provided to your employing agency.  

RBF will not, however, provide your benefit entitlement information to your employer.

Service providers to the Board may also have access to personal information held by the Board. The privacy of members is protected  

by confidentiality and privacy clauses contained in the agreements with such service providers. The RBF Privacy Statement is available  

on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.

Every care has been taken with the information provided in this document. However, the RBF Board reserves the right to correct any errors  

or omissions.

If there is a discrepancy between the information contained in this document and the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed,  

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed, Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed or  

the governing legislation, the Trust Deeds and the legislation will be the final authority. The information contained in this document  

is not intended as investment advice and the RBF Board recommends that readers seek professional advice before making any  

investment decision.

Compliance Report: The Tasmanian Government is a signatory to a Heads of Government Agreement between the Commonwealth  

and all the States which provides exemption for certain public sector schemes from the provisions of the Superannuation Industry 

(Supervision) legislation (SIS). However, the exempt schemes have agreed to comply with the spirit and intent of SIS.

This report was designed and printed in Tasmania on recycled paper.
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